

Hydrogeological processes and Geological Settings over Europe controlling dissolved geogenic and anthropogenic elements in groundwater of relevance to human health and the status of dependent ecosystems - HOVER

Authors and affiliation:

Hans Peter Broers (TNO) Mariëlle van Vliet (TNO) Eline Malcuit (BRGM) Nicolas Surdyk (BRGM) Matthew Ascott (BGS) Ozren Larva (HGI) Henry Debattista (MTI) Annette Rosenbom (GEUS) Klaus Hinsby (GEUS) Laerke Thorling (GEUS) Katie Tedd (GSI) Christos Christophi (GSD) Janco Urbanc (GeoZS) Inga Retike (LEGMC)

E-mail of lead author: hans-peter.broers@tno.nl

Version: no. final

This report is part of a project that has received funding by the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under grant agreement number 731166.



Deliverable Data			
Deliverable number	D5.2		
Dissemination level	Pubic		
Deliverable name	Evaluating groundwater monitoring data		
Work package	WP5 Nitrate and pesticides transport from soil to groundwater receptors		
Lead WP/Deliverable beneficiary	ead WP/Deliverable beneficiary TNO		
Deliverable status			
Submitted (Author(s))	23/01/2020	Hans Peter Broers	
Verified (WP leader)	24/01/2020	Matthew Ascott	
Approved (Coordinator)	25/01/2020	Laurence Gourcy	

Deliverable 5.2

Evaluating groundwater monitoring data









SUMMARY

This report describes the groundwater monitoring data that is available in the pilot areas of the methodological demonstration project HOVER WP5. For each pilot site, we present a chapter with a description of the monitoring network available, the design of the network, the completion and types of the wells, and complement this with the methods foreseen to process the data of nitrate and pesticides transport that will be used to deliver results for the pilot areas in deliverables D5.3 and D5.4. The methods that are foreseen deal with the overall topic of the *time lags involved in the transport* of nitrate and pesticides and the *attenuating processes during the transport*. As such, methods will address issues such as the determination of flow velocities and vertical age gradients in the groundwater that determine lag times and the indicators about the denitrification potential and/or depth ranges of denitrification in the subsurface.

The report contains a brief synthesis chapter which covers the similarities and disharmonies between the monitoring and interpretation approaches followed in monitoring of nitrate and pesticides, summarizing the information that is currently available on the transport times and time lags and attenuation processes in the pilot areas.





TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	EXEC	ECUTIVE SUMMARY					
2	INTRO	DDUCTION	8				
3	CASE	STUDY BRABANT/LIMBURG (NETHERLANDS)	9				
	3.1	Description of Monitoring network	9				
	3.2	Information about travel times in the saturated and unsaturated zones	10				
		3.2.1 Age dating	10				
	3.3	Information about attenuating processes in the subsurface	11				
		3.3.1 Redox mapping of groundwater	11				
		3.3.2 Gases in groundwater	14				
	3.4	Combined analysis of transport and attenuating processes in the pilot area	15				
		3.4.1 Concentration-age plots	15				
		3.4.2 Infiltration year analysis	16				
		3.4.3 Trend analysis of youngest 15-year groundwater	17				
		3.4.4 Pesticide forensics based on groundwater age	18				
	3.5	References	20				
4	CASE	STUDY DRAVA AQUIFER (SLOVENIA/CROATIA)	22				
	4.1	Description of Monitoring network	22				
	4.2	Information about travel times in the saturated and unsaturated zones	23				
	4.3	Information about attenuating processes in the subsurface	25				
	4.4	Combined analysis of transport and attenuating processes in the pilot area	26				
	4.5	Testing approaches to harmonized, processed data for supraregional evaluations.	28				
	4.6	References	29				
5	CASE	STUDY DENMARK	30				
	5.1	Description of Monitoring network	30				
	5.2	Information about travel times in the saturated and unsaturated zones	40				
		5.2.1 The national nitrogen model	40				
		5.2.2 GRUMO	40				
		5.2.3 PLAP	41				
	5.3	Information about attenuating processes in the subsurface	42				
		5.3.1 Denitrification mapping	42				
	5.4	Temporal variations in variations in the depth and thickness of the redox zones	44				
		5.4.1 The Redox Well at Albæk in North Jutland - DGU nr. 18.310	46				
		5.4.2 The Redox Well at Kasted north-west of Århus - DGU nr. 78.796	48				
		5.4.3 The Redox Well at Grindsted in Mid-Jutland - DGU nr. 114.1736	49				
		5.4.4 The Redox well at Vejby in North Zealand - DGU nr. 186.854	50				
		5.4.5 The Redox Well at Sibirien on Falster - DGU nr. 238.900	51				
	5.5	Combined analysis of transport and attenuating processes in the pilot area	52				
	5.6	Testing approaches to harmonized, processed data for supraregional evaluations .	53				
	5.7	References	53				
6	CASE	STUDY UK	57				
	6.1	Description of Monitoring network	57				
		6.1.1 National scale groundwater quality monitoring data	57				
		6.1.2 Porewater profiles	57				
	6.2	Information about travel times in the saturated and unsaturated zones	58				
	6.3	Information about attenuating processes in the subsurface	59				





		6.3.1 Evidence for denitrification in the unsaturated zone	59
		6.3.2 Saturated zone denitrification mapping	60
	6.4	Combined analysis of transport and attenuating processes in the pilot area	62
	6.5	Testing approaches to harmonized, processed data for supraregional evaluations .	63
	6.6	References	63
7	CASE	TUDY FRANCE	65
	7.1	Description of monitoring network	65
		7.1.1 ADES: French National Data Base on Groundwater Public Service on W	ater
		Information	65
		7.1.2 Recent BRGM studies at national scale about nitrate and pesticide press	ure-
		impact	67
		7.1.3 Complementary local studies to national monitoring networks	68
	7.2	Information about travel times in the unsaturated and saturated zones	68
		7.2.1 Unsaturated zone experiments	68
		7.2.2 Transfer times estimation in soil, unsaturated and saturated zones	71
	7.3	Information about attenuating processes in the subsurface	76
		7.3.1 Denitrification mapping	76
	7.4	Combined analysis of transport and attenuating processes in the pilot area	78
	7.5	Testing approaches to harmonized, processed data for supraregional evaluations .	79
	7.6	References	80
8	CASE	TUDY IRELAND	82
	8.1	Description of Monitoring network	82
	8.2	Information about travel times in the saturated and unsaturated zones	83
		8.2.1 Age dating	83
		8.2.2 Travel time estimation	83
	8.3	Information about attenuating processes in the subsurface	83
		8.3.1 Denitrification potential in unconsolidated deposits	83
		8.3.2 Denitrification potential in the bedrock	84
		8.3.3 Pollution Impact potential mapping	86
	8.4	Combined analysis of transport and attenuating processes in the pilot area	87
	8.5	References	88
9	CASE	TUDY MALTA	90
	9.1	Description of Monitoring network	90
	9.2	Information about travel times in the saturated and unsaturated zones	90
	9.3	Information about attenuating processes in the subsurface	91
	9.4	Combined analysis of transport and attenuating processes in the pilot area	91
	9.5	Testing approaches to harmonized, processed data for supraregional evaluations .	91
	9.6	References	92
10	CASE		03
10	10 1	Description of Monitoring network	93
	10.2	Information about travel times in the saturated and unsaturated zones	
	10.3	Information about attenuating processes in the subsurface	96
	10.4	Combined analysis of transport and attenuating processes in the pilot area	
	10.5	References	
	0.405		100
11		IUDY LAIVIA	100
	11.1	Uescription of Monitoring network	101
		11.1.1 INITIALE MONITORING IN LATVIA	102
		ידריד אות מה ווחחוונסוווג ובצמונצ יייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייי	TUZ





	11.2	Information about travel times in the saturated and unsaturated zones	
	11.3	Information about attenuating processes in the subsurface	105
	11.4	Testing approaches to harmonized, processed data for supraregional evalua	tions .105
	11.5	References	
12	AGGRI	EGATION AND OUTLOOK	
	12.1	Introduction	
	12.2	Definitions and applications of transfer times and time lags	
	12.3	Definitions and characterization of attenuation and denitrification	113
	12.4	Outlook	114
	12.5	References	115





1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The present document is deliverable D5.2 "Evaluating groundwater monitoring data" of the HOVER project "Hydrogeological processes and Geological Settings over Europe controlling dissolved geogenic and anthropogenic elements in groundwater of relevance to human health and the status of dependent ecosystems".

Work package 5 of the HOVER project aims to assess nitrate and pesticides travel times in saturated and unsaturated zones and, where possible, attenuation patterns for a number of relevant European settings for evaluating the efficiency of programme of measures. Under Task 5.2, we will make an inventory of existing monitoring networks and corresponding groundwater quality data in order to retrieve processed information of the transport of nitrate and pesticides that will ultimately be presented in the deliverables D5.3 and D5.4.





2 INTRODUCTION

One of the aims of Work Package 5 of HOVER project is to assess nitrate (N) and pesticides (PST) travel times and, where possible, attenuation patterns for a number of relevant European settings for evaluating regulatory timescales for achieving good status and/or trend reversal for nitrate. Under Task 5.2, we will make an inventory of existing monitoring networks and groundwater quality data in order to eventually retrieve processed information of the transport of nitrate and pesticides.

Within the HOVER project, processed data is defined to be " compilations of raw data that are available in national databases into thematic maps or summarizing statistics on the scale of aquifers, countries or federal states, or even pan-European products". HOVER will develop methodologies creating the design for these compilations, delivering templates to participating surveys to harmonize the common data products. HOVER is not planning to collect the raw data from national databases, but merely compiles those data into reports and common data products. These reports and common data products will be made accessible through EGDI. Raw data will still be available within the national databases, to which links may be provided for part of the data and for some case studies, enabling the demonstration of future possible extensions and further developments of EGDI.

Writing this D5.2 deliverable, we work towards the compilation of data that describe the transport of nitrate and pesticides in a harmonized way, integrating data that were collected within the pilot areas within the countries of the participating surveys. In the chapters 3 to 11, we describe the monitoring networks and data sets within the pilot areas, evaluating different approaches and methods that are used to assess travel times and attenuation processes in these pilot areas. This could include the use of tracer age dating, but could also imply a modelling approach, depending on the choices made within the different countries participating. Making an overview of the different approaches followed over Europe for estimation of transfer times and attenation patterns is a crucial first step that achieves mutual understanding, and helps to create an overview of similarities and differences that are inherently present given the varied hydrogeological setup observed over Europe. Chapter 12 gives an overview of this comparison and gives first ideas about harmonisation at the larger European scale. The data will ultimately be presented in D5.3 that cover the modelling of transport and D5.4 that covers attenuating processes in the pilot areas.

Case Study	Region	Nitrate	Pesticides
Netherlands	Noord-Brabant and Limburg age dated waters and gas compositions	Х	Х
Slovenia/Croatia	Transboundary Drava aquifer, unsaturated zone 18O/2H/3H recharge estimates and lysimeter data	Х	
Slovenia	Lysimeter data	Х	
Denmark	National denitrification map, groundwater age dating and pesticide permission monitoring including both the variably-saturated zone and the groundwater zone		X
UK	Unsaturated zone profiles, denitrification mapping	Х	
France	National scale transfer times nitrate, denitrification mapping		
Ireland	National assessment of unsaturated and saturated zone data	Х	
Malta	Nitrate time series at water supply wells	Х	
Cyprus	National scale nitrate and denitrification potential	Х	
Latvia	National scale nitrate monitoring	Х	

The following case studies are presented in the subsequent chapters of this deliverable:





3 CASE STUDY BRABANT/LIMBURG (NETHERLANDS)

3.1 Description of Monitoring network

The monitoring network that forms the basis for this study is the combined groundwater quality monitoring network of the provinces of Noord-Brabant and Limburg which is used for compliance and surveillance monitoring for the EU WFD. The Netherlands is characterized by shallow water tables and unconsolidated deltaic deposits; the altitudes in the pilot area ranges between -5 and 3 above mean sea level. The South part of the Netherlands is one of the largest producers of agricultural products worldwide, and is characterized by intensive livestock farming that yields high agricultural pressure on groundwater since the 1970's. The Dutch government introduced strict regulations of the application of manure and fertilizer since 1985 when the Dutch Manure Law was enacted. The EU Nitrates Directive of 2000 further strengthened the Dutch law, and action programs for reducing nitrate leaching to groundwater have been in place since. At the peak of the applications of nitrogen in 1985, nitrate concentrations in shallow groundwater easily reached 500 mg/l, but a clear trend reversal was demonstrated for dry agricultural areas on sand (Visser et al. 2007). Still, concerns grow over pesticide leaching and the new threats imposed by emerging contaminants such as antibiotics (Kivits et al. 2018).

Starting in 1984 dedicated monitoring networks were setup to monitor the quality of groundwater. The National Monitoring Network (LMG) consists of about 100 observation wells in the pilot region. From 1992 onward, this network was complemented by another 120 wells of the Provincial Monitoring Networks (Broers 2002, Broers & van der Grift 2004). Together these networks are now incorporated in the Monitoring Network for the WFD in the Sand-Meuse region, which is the data that will be used for this pilot study. All mentioned networks consist of dedicated multi-level observation wells with standardized well completions and standard monitoring depths of 10, 15 and 25 m below surface level. The multi-level wells have screen lengths of 1 or 2 meters and a diameter of 2-inch that allows for sampling with submersible Grundfos pumps. The wells have all been sampled for ${}^{3}H/{}^{3}He$ during campaigns in 2001, 2008/2009 and recently in 2017/2018. Until 2009 only wells under agricultural lands and sandy soils were age dated, while in 2017/2018 this dataset was complemented including wells in wetter sandy areas, in areas with clayey soils and in urban areas and nature reserves (Kivits et al, 2019). Using ${}^{3}H/{}^{3}He$ age dating, information is obtained about saturated zone travel times and groundwater ages, which enables the data produced to be used for forensics of past land use inputs.



Figure 3.1 Monitoring wells available in the Dutch case study





3.2 Information about travel times in the saturated and unsaturated zones

3.2.1 Age dating

Information about travel times in the saturated and unsaturated zones is derived from age dating using ³H/³He (Visser et al. 2007, Visser et al. 2019). Unsaturated zone travel times are typically short due to the shallow depths of the water tables in the region. Age-depth profiles are available for different types of land use and are used to facilitate trend detection and assessment of chemical status for these land uses. The design of the WFD monitoring network in the Meuse region distinguished specific combinations of land use and hydrological situations, which were called "homogeneous area types" (e.g. Broers 2004, Broers & van der Grift, 2004). These combinations include: "farmlands on dry sandy soils", "farmlands on wet sandy soils", "farmlands on clay soils", "nature reserves", "urban areas" and "discharge areas in the sandy region". The age dating results of a recent study helped to identity areas in which Meuse water recharges groundwater, and the wells that show signals of Meuse water recharge have been distinguished separately since (Kivits et al. 2019). Using the age dating results, age-depth relation was visualized for each of those area types (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2 Age-depth profiles for different land use types in the pilot area. Grey lines connect shallower and deeper monitoring screens, visualizing the age-dept relation for the individual screens. The orange line suggests the median age-depth relation for the area type as a whole

The age-depth relation for farmlands on dry sandy soils was established first (Visser et al. 2007, 2009). The average age-depth relation corresponds with recharge velocities in the order of 1 m per year in the upper parts of the saturated groundwater. The dashed line indicates estimate of the age-depth relation based on Vogel's model (Vogel 1967, Raats 1981) for a porosity of 0.35 and recharge rates of 250 and 320 mm yr⁻¹, respectively. The new age dating programs of 2017/2018 enable new interpretations for the other area types as well. Clearly, the overall age-depth pattern for farmlands on wet sandy soils is less steep and indicates much smaller overall vertical velocities as a result of shallow drainage of groundwater and associated mixing of water (Broers 2004). Contrary, the measurements under nature reserves show age-depth profiles that are comparable to farmlands at dry sandy soils but indicating a somewhat smaller groundwater recharge rate, presumably induced by extra evapotranspiration of forests. The steepest age-depth gradient was found for the recharging





Meuse water, which is logical because the downward flux of this water is not limited by the precipitation surplus, but dependent on the established surface water level regimes.

For many objectives, the age dating results are aggregated to age groups, which are summarized in Table 3.1. Samples that have a discrete apparent age form ³H/³He dating are labeled as "discrete age", whereas samples that suggest mixing of modern and pre-modern waters have been distinguished separately, just as water which such low ³H concentrations that they can be attributed to recharge before 1950. A special group with very old water was detected based on elevated ⁴He concentrations.

Area type	Discrete age	Mix modern - pre-1950	Mix mostly pre-1950	Pre-1950	Mix with old /old
Dry farmlands	59%	23%	6%	4%	2%
Wet farmlands	34%	20%	10%	27%	6%
Nature reserves	83%	13%		4%	
Urban	67%	17%			8%
Discharge	13%	13%	20%	47%	
Meuse river	100%				

 Table 3.1: Proportion of the deeper screens (20-25 bsl) of wells that agree with the 5 age groups

The table shows that modern water with a discrete age has arrived at most of the deeper screens under dry farmlands, nature resources, urban areas and in areas where Meuse river water has recharged. Much less deep penetration of modern water is reported for wet farmlands and groundwater discharge areas in the sandy region, which is attributed to upward flow of older water and mixing between younger and older water in areas with converging flows (see Broers 2004). Knowledge of the age structure was of great help in identifying time lags and relating the application history of pesticides and nutrients to the occurrence in the monitoring wells (see section 3.4).

3.3 Information about attenuating processes in the subsurface

Using the setup with dedicated multi-level monitoring wells, the monitoring results yield information of data at a specific depth level, or to derive information about different chemical parameters as a function of depth. In order to obtain information about attenuating processes, we typically relied on a classification tree for redox characterization (section 3.3.1), but we recently complemented the dataset with information about gas composition which we will use to refine our classification (section 3.3.2).

3.3.1 Redox mapping of groundwater

Figure 3.3 shows the redox decision tree used to identify the redox level of groundwater samples. The classification is based on Graf Pannetier et al (2000) who created it for the Dutch National Monitoring network (LMG), but with some recent changes in order to make it more generally useful for multiple dataset. The following data has been taken into account nitrate, chloride, iron, manganese, sulphate, oxygen and methane. Nitrate concentration is the first criterion used to access the redox level whereby a distinction is made between groundwater with a nitrate concentration higher or lower than 2 mg / l. If nitrate >2 mg/l, groundwater can either be classified as Mix, Mn-reduced, oxic or suboxic. Groundwater in the class 'Mix' contains iron and nitrate. Mn-reduced groundwater contains manganese, for which a threshold of 0,5 mg/l is used to distinguish between oxic and suboxic water





and Mn-reduced water. The division between oxic and sub-oxic water is then made using a threshold of 2 mg/l O₂. For groundwater with nitrate concentrations lower than 2 mg/l, a distinction is then made between fresh and brackish groundwater (threshold Cl = 200 mg/l), because sulphate concentrations are naturally higher in brackish and salt groundwater. Sulphate, iron, manganese and methane are the following parameters used to identify the redox level in groundwater. 'Sulfur-reduced' groundwater contains less than 5 mg/l sulphate and less than 1 mg/l methane. If methane is higher, groundwater is classified as 'Methanogenic'. If groundwater contains sulphate, groundwater can be classified as 'sulfur-reduced/methanogenic', 'Fe-reduced' or 'Mn-reduced'. The distinction between 'Sulfurreduced/methanogenic' and 'Fe-reduced' is made on the basis of methane concentration.

This classification scheme is implemented in the current Dutch database that will be used within GeoERA RESOURCE WP3 to map redox in the groundwater viewer for the transboundary Roer Valley aquifer. For HOVER, we will use it to identify depth and locations where denitrification is happening.







Figure 3.3 Redox classification tree. Diversion to left = "yes", diversion to right = "no".





3.3.2 Gases in groundwater

Information about redox processes is additionally gained from chemical characterization using macroparameters and the measurement of gases such as N₂, CH₄, H₂S etc., which help to deduce the redox transitions in the subsurface which indicate transformation processes affecting the fate of nitrate and possibly pesticides. Concentration of gases have been obtained during the 2017/2018 age dating campaign, using IsoFlasks sampling bags. H₂S was measured in the field using a field photospectrometer.



Figure 3.4 Map of CH₄ concentrations in monitoring screens at 10 and 25 m depth

Up to now the collected gas data have not been interpreted for classifying groundwater according to redox status. This interpretation will be reported as part of Deliverable 5.4 of HOVER, as one of the tools for deriving information about attenuating processes, such as denitrification and pesticide degradation.





3.4 Combined analysis of transport and attenuating processes in the pilot area

Groundwater composition at a specific monitoring point is typically determined by three main factors: 1. the history of leaching of solutes and contaminants for the soil zone towards the groundwater, 2. the transport time towards the monitoring screen and 3. reactive processes that alter the chemical composition by processes such as precipitation, dissolution, sorption, radioactive decay and microbial degradation. The effects of the factors are often difficult to unravel, especially when either the leaching history or the travel times are unknown. Therefore, the age dating was a crucial step to clarify at least one of these factors, ultimately also helping to unravel the chemical processes (Visser et al. 2009). Using the monitoring network to be used in HOVER, we aim to further refine our methods to unravel these 3 factors and to study whether we can define approaches that would work in other GeoERA pilots under HOVER. In the following, we introduce four approaches that we will further elaborate under WP3 and WP4 of HOVER.

3.4.1 Concentration-age plots

Knowing the relations between depth and age as described under section 3.2, we can replace the depth axis of concentration-depth plots (Broers & van der Grift, 2004) into concentration-age plots (see Figure 3.5 for one example). Typically, a large ranges of apparent groundwater ages is found at a specific monitoring depth, resembling heterogeneity in flow paths and groundwater recharge rates. Visser et al. (2009) give a conceptual overview of the interpretation options after age dating for this same area type, using the infiltration year approach as is further illustrated and elaborated under section 3.4.2. We tested whether conversing the depth scale into a groundwater age scale is a sound alternative way to unravel the hydrogeochemical processes in Figure 3.5.



Figure 3.5 Concentration age plots for farmlands under dry agricultural soils

Figure 3.5 is merely representative for groundwater nitrate patterns in the south of the Netherlands. Nitrate is often found in high concentrations in groundwater that is aged less than 15 to 20 years.





However, typically a significant proportion of the wells with water ages in this range does not contain nitrate concentrations above detection limits. In groundwater older than 20 years, nitrate is virtually absent as is also suggested by the blue LOWESS smooth in Figure 3.5. We can infer the attenuating processes for nitrate by also plotting the reaction products that result from denitrification (N₂) and or denitrification coupled with pyrite oxidation (Zhang et al. 2009, 2012: N₂, Fe and SO₄). Here, N₂-excess is defined as N_2 in excess of N_2 in water that is equilibrated with the atmosphere, which we estimate from measured Total Dissolved Gas content or direct measurement of the gas composition. In case all nitrogen remained in solution then the N-total (defined as $NO_3 + N_2$ -excess) gives a good representation of the nitrogen leached to groundwater. The Total-N graph of Figure 3.5 strongly suggests that nitrogen inputs were present in water aged up to 40 years, which means that all nitrate leached 20 to 40 years ago has been lost through denitrification. This is in accordance with increases of the reaction products Fe, SO₄ and N_2 in water aged between 15 and 40 years. Given that these reaction products already show substantial concentrations in water aged between 8 and 15, the process of denitrification starts already in relatively young water. We relate the large differences between the individual monitoring screens to differences in leaching concentrations, but mainly to differences in subsurface reactivity. Especially the depth of encountering reactive organic matter or iron sulfides in the subsurface is a key factor that defines the age at which nitrate in the water will start to denitrify.

With the knowledge obtained from these graphs for all area types in the pilot monitoring network, we hope to contribute to establish a common method to define the depth of complete denitrification and the depth range of ongoing denitrification in the subsequent deliverables for HOVER WP5.

3.4.2 Infiltration year analysis

Age dating of the water of small screen multi-level monitoring wells helps to apply the "Infiltration Year" or "Recharge Year" approach as was proposed by Bohlke 2002, Visser et al. 2007 and Hansen et al. 2010. The infiltration year approach estimates the infiltration year by subtracting the apparent age of the sample form the year of sampling itself. Plotting all measured concentrations against infiltration year is an efficient way to relate the measured concentration to the application history of nutrients and pesticides. The method works very well for solutes that behave conservatively in groundwater but needs attention for solutes that undergo degradation or sorption or precipitation reactions (see Visser et al. 2009 for a conceptual analysis). Figure 3.6 gives examples of the use of the infiltration year approach for area types in the Dutch pilot monitoring network of the Meuse-Sand region. In the Figure, all the data of the individual monitoring screens is left out, and the overall shape is kept which is detected using a LOWESS smooth (Visser et al. 2012, 2013). The left graph of Figure 3.6 shows the patterns that is found for farmlands with dry and wet soils, respectively for the indicator OXIV which summarizes the sum of nitrate and sulfate in meq/l (oxidation capacity, see Postma et al. 1991, Visser et al. 2007). In the Netherlands, OXIV is an efficient indicator for agricultural contamination of groundwater as it includes the reaction product sulfate which is formed by the reaction of denitrification coupled with pyrite oxidation. The shape of the curves nicely reflects the effects of reducing the N applications after the 1985 Manure Law which clearly led to overall decreasing concentrations in water that recharged since 1985. For comparison, Figure 3.6b shows the recharge year plots for farmlands and nature reserves, respectively, which give conclusive evidence that the pattern under farmlands is related to N applications on land, and not to atmospheric deposition alone.



Figure 3.6. Infiltration year plots for OXIV for farmlands on wet and dry soils (left) and farmlands and nature reserves (right). The LOWESS smooth gives the local median of all data in the area type. The area between the dashed bands cover all data between the 25- and 75-percentiles.

Although the infiltration year plots nicely reflect the overall shape of the increase and decrease of the leaching of agricultural solutes in groundwater, it is not well constrained at the right side of the curves. This is because, typically, only a small number of wells have very young water and there is no constraint to the curve for the present or future. Therefore, the current trend in the youngest recharging water is not very well constrained. Within GeoERA HOVER, we therefore developed a method to combine the infiltration year approach with trend analysis for water ages less than 15 years. This is reported in section 3.4.3.

3.4.3 Trend analysis of youngest 15-year groundwater

For trend analysis of water aged less than 15 years, we applied the method that was first described by Broers and van der Grift (2004). This stepwise approach first estimates the trend in an individual monitoring screen, testing it using the Mann-Kendall trend test and deriving the Kendall-Theil robust line and Sen Slope (Helsel & Hirsch 2002). In the second step these individual Sen slopes are aggregated to find the aggregated median trend slope for a set of wells, testing the significance non-parametrically following Helsel and Hirsch (2002). Figure 3.7 illustrates this approach. In this GeoERA case, we defined the set of slopes to be tested to be all the monitoring screens that contain water aged less than 15 years. Figure 3.7, right side, show all the individual trend slopes that are visualized on the left side as a function of groundwater age. Upward slopes plot in red, downward slopes plot in green. For the sulfate example of Figure 3.7, the average trend slope of all water aged less than 15 year is indicated with the blue bullet.

The slope that was defined through this new approach was then visualized in the Infiltration Year plot as an arrow that describes the overall trend for the measured solute. The arrow is much better constrained than the LOWESS smooth slope of the Infiltration Year plot and helps to evaluate effects of recent land use changes or action programs to reduce inputs of solutes to groundwater. As these trends cover the monitoring period 1997-2007 for which the monitoring data was evaluated the arrow was positioned in that time range of the infiltration year plot. For solutes that behave conservatively, as sulfate in Figure 3.8, the arrow confirms the pattern that is visible in the infiltration year plot, giving additional information about the significance of the pattern. For solutes that are known not to behave





conservatively (Visser et al. 2009), the arrows help to identify virtual trends that are not significant. An example of this latter is the graph for Potassium in Figure 3.8, where the infiltration year approach may suggest increasing concentrations, which are definitely not occurring as is confirmed by testing the 15-year youngest groundwater. The trend that was suggested for potassium is due to the retarded transport of potassium; the transport speed of potassium is clearly decoupled from the transport speed of water as it was characterized by the groundwater age.



Figure 3.7 Aggregating trends using information about saturated zone travel times



Figure 3.8 Example trend arrow graphs for sulphate (a) and potassium (b) for farmlands at dry sandy soils

3.4.4 Pesticide forensics based on groundwater age

Most of the work we performed in the Netherlands using the age dating results and transit time approaches were focused on nutrients and macro-chemistry of the water. For GeoERA HOVER, we intend to extend this work to pesticides, using the measured groundwater ages as a forensic tool,





evaluating pesticides patterns with age and relating it to the period when the specific pesticides were permitted. Therefore, we again calculated the ${}^{3}H/{}^{3}He$ recharge year ('infiltration year') by subtracting the ${}^{3}H/{}^{3}He$ apparent age from the sample date and then group by infiltration year classes.

Organic contaminants typically occur in much lower concentration ranges and datasets of these substances are typically characterized by a large number of non-detects. This makes the general Infiltration Year approach and LOWESS smoothing less useful for signaling patterns of pesticides concentrations with age. For GeoERA HOVER we tested whether an approach using jitter plots may work better, relating pesticide concentrations to classes of infiltration years, and applying a log scale for the concentrations. The advantage of jitter plots is that non-detects can be plotted at the concentration level of the detection limit itself, but pesticides "hits" can still be recognized. We applied a boxplot as a background, which gives an immediate overview of the frequency distribution, indicating which concentrations should be regarded as outliers in the distribution.

Figure 3.9 shows on x-axis the infiltration year classes and on the y-axis the concentration of nitrate, oxidation capacity, bentazon and carbamazepine. Nitrate and OXC were used as a reference, to show how the method would compare with the Infiltration Year approach that we have been applying routinely. The oxidation capacity (OXC) is defined as the weighted sum of molar concentrations of NO3 and SO4 as is our best performing indicator for overall agricultural contamination of groundwater. OXC behaves conservatively during the process of nitrate reduction by pyrite oxidation assuming that no denitrification by organic matter occurs below the groundwater table (Visser et al, 2007).

For nitrate and OXC the jitter plots resemble the Infiltration Year plots, showing that the OXC concentration are elevated since the 1960's and highest median concentrations between 1980 and 1990. This is in line with the known application history of N in Dutch farming (see section 3.4.2). Nitrate is only present in the infiltration year classes 1990-2000, 2000-2010 and 2010-2020. The absence of nitrate in water older than 1990 is completely determined by the process of denitrification (see section 3.4.1).

We used the "broad screening" dataset of the province of Noord-Brabant to evaluate the concentration of a number of pesticides for HOVER WP5. The part of the dataset that is age dated was used for our analysis, which corresponds with the monitoring network described under section 3.1.

Bentazon is a pesticide (herbicide) and has been permitted under Dutch regulations since the end of the 80's. The bentazon jitter plot (see Figure 3.9, bottom left) shows concentrations below detection limit for infiltration year classes older than 1980. Note that different sampling campaigns in 2012, 2016 and 2019 yielded different detection limits, which is directly imminent form this type of Figure which helps the interpretation of the data. Detections for bentazon occur only in water that has recharged after 1980. All concentrations of bentazon in water aged before 1980 are below detection limits as should be expected from the application history. The median concentration of bentazon correspond to detection limits, which makes the jitter plot approach better suitable for this type of contaminants, The graph suggests that most bentazon was leached between 2000 and 2010 (highest outliers) or 1990-2000 (highest median) but we cannot rule out that part of the bentazon that has recharged before 1990 or 2000 has been degraded in the subsurface. Overall, the pattern of bentazon is compatible with that of nitrate, and bentazon is clearly quite mobile in the Brabant subsurface.

Carbamazepine (figure 3.9, bottom right)) is an anticonvulsant medication and only detected in the youngest infiltration year class '2010-2020'. For carbamazepine there are only a few detects in groundwater, all are in the infiltration year class 2010-2020. This could mean that carbamazepine was





only used recently, which is not probable, or would degrade in the subsurface. A first screening clarified that all hits of carbamazepine occur in water that is recharged from Meuse water (see section 3.2.1), which suggest it is not common in water leaching from farmlands.



Figure 3.9 Jitter and boxplots of nitrate (mg/l), oxidation capacity (OXC, meq/l), bentazon (ug/l, log scale) and carbamazepine concentrations (ug/l, log scale) per infiltration year class. Red dashed lines are detection limits. Note that different detection limits for bentazon apply to different sampling campaigns.

3.5 References

Böhlke J-K (2002) Groundwater recharge and agricultural contamination. Hydrogeol J 10:153–179. Broers, H. P. (2002). Strategies for regional groundwater quality monitoring. Netherlands

Geographical Studies no. 306 (Doctoral dissertation, Ph. D. Thesis University of Utrecht, the Netherlands).





- Broers, H.P. & B. van der Grift (2004) Regional monitoring of temporal changes in groundwater quality. Journal of Hydrology 296:192-220
- Broers, H.P. (2004) The spatial distribution of groundwater age for different geohydrological situations in The Netherlands: implications for groundwater quality monitoring at the regional scale. Journal of Hydrology 299: 84-
- Hansen, B., Thorling, L., Dalgaard, T., & Erlandsen, M. (2010). Trend reversal of nitrate in Danish groundwater-A reflection of agricultural practices and nitrogen surpluses since 1950. Environmental science & technology, 45(1), 228-234.
- Graf Pannetier, E., H.P. Broers, P. Venema, G. van Beusekom (2000). A new process-based hydrogeochemical classification of groundwater, application to the Netherlands national monitoring system, TNO-report NITG 00-143-B, TNO.
- Helsel, D. R., & Hirsch, R. M. (1992). Statistical methods in water resources (Vol. 49). Elsevier.
- Kivits, T., Broers, H.P., Beeltje, H., van Vliet, M., Griffioen, J. (2018) Presence and fate of veterinary antibiotics in age-dated groundwater in areas with intensive livestock farming. Environmental Pollution, 241: 988-998.
- Kivits, T. H.P. Broers, Mariëlle van Vliet (2019). Dateren grondwater van het Provinciaal Meetnet Grondwaterkwaliteit Noord-Brabant. Inzicht in de toestand en trends van 12 indicatoren van de grondwaterkwaliteit. Rapport TNO 2019 R11094, TNO, Utrecht.
- Raats, P. A. C. (1981). Residence times of water and solutes within and below the root zone. In Developments in Agricultural Engineering (Vol. 2, pp. 63-82). Elsevier.
- Velde Y. van der, G.H. de Rooij, J.C. Rozemeijer, F.C. van Geer and H.P. Broers (2010) Nitrate response of a lowland catchment: on the relation between stream concentration and travel time distribution dynamics. Water Resources Research (46)11: W11534
- Visser, A. H.P. Broers, R. Heerdink and M.F.P. Bierkens (2009) Trends in pollutant concentrations in relation to time of recharge and reactive transport at the groundwater body scale. Journal of Hydrology, 369:427-439.
- Visser, A., H.P. Broers, & M.F.P. Bierkens (2007) Demonstrating trend reversal in groundwater quality in relation to time of recharge determined by 3H/3He dating. Environmental Pollution 148(3): 797-
- Vogel, J. C. (1967). Investigation of groundwater flow with radiocarbon. In Isotopes in hydrology. Proceedings of a symposium.
- Zhang, Y.C., Prommer, H., Slomp, C.P., H.P. Broers, B. van der Grift, Passier, H.F., Greskowiak J., Boettcher M.E. and van Cappellen, Ph. (2013). Model based analysis of the biogeochemical and isotope dynamics in a nitrate-polluted pyritic aquifer. Environmental Science and Technology 47:10415-10422.
- Zhang Y, et al. (2012) Isotopic and microbiological signatures of pyrite-driven denitrification in a sandy aquifer. Chem Geol 301:123–132.
- Zhang Y, Slomp CP, Broers HP, Passier HF, Van Cappellen P (2009) Denitrification coupled to pyrite oxidation and changes in groundwater quality in a shallow sandy aquifer. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 73:6716–6726.





4 CASE STUDY DRAVA AQUIFER (SLOVENIA/CROATIA)

4.1 Description of Monitoring network

Slovenia

In Slovenia, groundwater quantitative and chemical monitoring is performed by the National Environmental Agency (ARSO). There are 176 observation points included in the groundwater monitoring network, 123 at alluvial aquifers and 53 at karst aquifers.



Figure 4.1: Slovenian national groundwater monitoring network

At the Slovenian part of the Drava aquifer case study, there are 13 national groundwater monitoring points (Fig. 4.2.)



Figure 4.2: National groundwater monitoring points at the Slovenian part of the Drava aquifer case study

Croatia

The national surveillance monitoring network that forms the basis for this research is developed for groundwater quality compliance monitoring in accordance with EU WFD requirements. The monitoring is performed, and all data is stored in databases managed by Croatian Waters, which is a legal entity for water management in Croatia.





The pilot area at Croatian side covers four groundwater bodies: "Varaždinsko područje", "Međimurje", "Novo Virje" and "Legrad-Slatina" (Fig 4.3). The are 26 observation wells in total within the monitoring network and all are completed in saturated zone, i.e. there is no date on travel times nor attenuation processes in unsaturated zone. There is one well at each location with one or several screens. The age dating is not performed in the scope of the monitoring. However, there is data on groundwater mean residence time (MRT) acquired within several research projects carried out in Croatian geological survey.



Figure 4.3: Location map

4.2 Information about travel times in the saturated and unsaturated zones

Slovenia

Vertical flow velocity in the aquifer's unsaturated zone was studied in a field laboratory – lysimeter in Selniška dobrava. Based on the tracer test, the fastest and dominant flow velocities were calculated. On the basis of the tracing experiment results, estimations of the mean flow velocity and vertical dispersion were made by the analytical best-fit method (Fig. 4.4). One dimensional convection-dispersion-model with standardising values for single porosity was used.











Figure 4.4: Results of the tracing experiment in aquifer's unsaturated zone





Based on the results of the tracing experiment some properties of the coarse gravel unsaturated zone at the location of the lysimeter were described. Results generally show that the water discharge in the drain system as well as the dispersion coefficient for deuterium increase with depth. The estimation of the mean flow velocity of the matrix flow is between 0.014-0.017 m/d. If it is assumed that the ground water level is 27 m deep, it could be concluded that the mean residence time through the unsaturated zone in Selniška Dobrava coarse gravel aquifer is 4.4-5.4 years. For groundwater protection and for measures performed for the purpose of this protection, the first arrival of the tracer through the unsaturated zone is important. If it is accepted that the pollutant behaves like a conservative tracer, and with the estimation of the fastest flow velocity in lysimeter in the range of 0.1-0.07 m/d, a pollutant can reach groundwater in 9-12 months. Based on the dominant flow velocity of 0.03 m/d the percolation time is 2.5 years.

Even if the aquifer of Selniška Dobrava is treated as homogeneous, there are some differences in the results between single observation points which show distinctions in the local unsaturated zone structure. The heterogeneous matrix in micro scale causes the differences in water flow. Results (profiles δ^2 H values, breakthrough curves of both tracers, calculations of different flow velocity parameters and recovery curves of deuterium) show that more preferential flows occur on the north side of the lysimeter observation wall. It can be concluded, that in the unsaturated zone, especially in the high permeable coarse gravel aquifer, the local structure of the unsaturated zone has great influence on the water flow properties.

In the saturated zone of the Slovenian part of the Drava aquifer, groundwater age was estimated using tritium isotopes. There is no regular monitoring of groundwater tritium activities, thus only occasional tritium data is available. For the alluvial aquifer the tritium activities were quite comparable with recent tritium activities in precipitation, therefore it is assumed that groundwater is relatively young, less than five years.

Croatia

The groundwater age dated observation wells are shown in Fig 4.3. The data acquisition has not been performed on regular basis, but within the scope of several research projects carried out from 2004 until present days.

Since there is one observation well at each location, screened over one or several intervals along the aquifer depth, it is only possible to infer the MRT of groundwater within the tapped aquifer without the insight into vertical differentiation of groundwater age.

The radioactive isotopes used for groundwater age dating in saturated zone of aquifer at the pilot site include 3H/He, Sr, noble gases - He, Ne, Ar, Kr and Xe and industrial gases CFCs, SF₆. In addition, there is also dataset containing information on stable isotope composition 2 H/ 18 O in groundwater (Fig 4.3).

4.3 Information about attenuating processes in the subsurface

Slovenia

The groundwater dataset for the Drava aquifer in Slovenia contains information about redox processes in the saturated zone of the aquifer. Data is available for T, pH, EC, OXI, TOC, NH₄⁺, NO₃⁻, SO₄²⁻, Cl⁻, SiO₂, Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, Na⁺, K⁺, Fe, Mn, HCO₃⁻. Results point to only one water type, i.e. the carbonate water type (Koroša, 2019). Based on the values of redox indicators, it can be concluded that oxic conditions prevail at the pilot area. Denitrification in unconfined saturated aquifers is mostly insignificant.





In the Drava aquifer, research about crop rotations and their impact on groundwater was also carried out (Glavan et al., 2015). They used extensive monitoring and the Soil and Water Assessment Tool (SWAT) to investigate the influence of different combinations of soil types and crop management on environmental processes (nitrogen (N) leaching and plant growth) at three study sites (Ptuj, Maribor and Dobrovce) in Slovenia.

In the scope of the project "Farming opportunities in water protection areas" the research of nitrate contents and their ¹⁵N isotopic signature was conducted. Results can be found in Urbanc et al. (2014).

Croatia

Groundwater quality datasets contain the following information on redox processes in the saturated zone of aquifer: concentration of Fe, Mn, SO₄, NH₄ and gases such as dissolved oxygen and H₂S. Based on the values of redox indictors, it was concluded that oxic conditions prevail at the pilot area, which further leads to the conclusion that denitrification in unconfined saturated aquifers is mostly insignificant. Only small parts of the aquifer are characterized by anoxic or mixed oxic/anoxic conditions, which usually coincides with fine grained layers rich in organic matter. In such circumstance's groundwater contains relatively high concentrations of Fe, Mn, NH₄ and low amount of

4.4 Combined analysis of transport and attenuating processes in the pilot area

Slovenia

dissolved oxygen.

Study of water and nitrate pollution transport in the unsaturated zone was carried out in a field laboratory – lysimeter in Selniška dobrava (Fig. 4.5). Water and nitrate transport were estimated by a combined tracing experiment with deuterated water and $Ca(NO_3)_2$. Deuterium was used as a conservative tracer of water movement, and $Ca(NO_3)_2$ was used as a nitrate tracer in a high-permeable coarse gravel unsaturated zone. One of the aims of this research (Koroša & Mali, 2015) was to specify parameters of nitrate transport in a coarse gravel unsaturated zone which will be used to model nitrate transport in other aquifers with similar hydrogeological characteristics, such as for example the Drava aquifer, which was declared as a water body at risk due to the presence of nitrate.







Figure 4.5: Area of lysimeter location and lysimeter cross-section







The mean flow velocities based on nitrate concentration breakthrough curves were estimated by the analytical best-fit method (Fig. 4.6). For JV-2, JV-3, JV-5, JV-6, JV-9, and JV-10 the Multi-Peak-Modus model was used. Up to the depth of 1.08 m (JV-2, JV-3) the mean flow velocities are estimated at 0.003-0.019 m/d, on average 0.011 m/d. In JV-4 the mean flow velocity is 0.016 m/s. From sampling points JV-5 to JV-8 the mean flow velocities range between 0.008-0.12 m/d, on average 0.010 m/d. The highest mean flow velocities were calculated in the lower part of the lysimeter at JV-9 and JV-10. Concentrations range between 0.014-0.197 m/d. Not considering the highest estimated mean flow velocities at JV-9 and JV-10, the average mean flow velocity is estimated at 0.013 m/d. We anticipate that these unrealistically high concentrations of first peak occurred due to high background concentrations (Table 4.1).

		11/_2	11/-3	11/_4	11/-5	11/-6	11/-7	11/-8	11/_0	11/-10
		JV-2	57-5	JV-4	37-3	57-0	50-7	57-0	50-9	37-10
Distance	m	0.82	1.08	1.58	2.04	2.41	2.95	3.4	3.93	4.39
Fastest f.	m/d	-	-	0.19	0.255	0.301	0.369	0.425	0.491	0.549
Dom. f.	m/d	0.02	0.026	0.036	0.032	0.009	0.009	0.015	0.028	0.023
Mean f1	m/d	0.019	0.019	0.016	0.01	0.011	0.008	0.012	0.117	0.197
Mean f2	m/d	0.003	0.004	-	0.01	0.009	-	-	0.03	0.015
Mean f3	m/d	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.014	
Dispersion-1	m2/s	0.003	0.003	0.024	0.016	0.003	0,000	0.006	0.019	0.051
Dispersion-2	m2/s	0.000	0.000	-	0.016	0.000	-	-	0.005	0.001
Dispersion-3	m2/s	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.001	-

Table 4.1: Fastest, dominant (dom.) and mean flow velocities (m/s) of nitrate

The thickness of the unsaturated zone at the lysimeter location reaches 27.5 m. If it is assumed that the ground water level is 27.5 and the average first speed of nitrate is 0.369 m/d, then the first contamination can reach the water in 74 days. Based on the average dominant flow velocity (0.022 m/d) the percolation time is 3.42 years. When the estimated mean flow velocity is 0.013 m/d, the time of pollution arrival is estimated at 5.80 years.

Croatia

In the Croatian part of the pilot area there is no information on transport and attenuation processes in unsaturated zone of the aquifer. This information will be obtained from the research performed in the Slovenian part of the pilot, which includes analysis of data from lysimeter installed in the similar hydrogeological setting.

4.5 Testing approaches to harmonized, processed data for supraregional evaluations

The approach that will be applied in the pilot site includes development of groundwater flow model for saturated zone of the aquifer in order to assess the time lags and effects of attenuation processes (primarily dilution and hydrodynamic dispersion) along the path to receptors such as groundwater sources, watercourses, groundwater dependent ecosystems, etc. The model will be calibrated by historic groundwater level data and results from age indicators described in 4.2. The idea is to make use of national datasets on fertilizers and results obtained from lysimeter in Slovenia in order to define NO_3 input function for 3D numerical model of solute transport.





4.6 References

- Glavan, M., Pintar, M., urbanc, J. 2015. Spatial variation of crop rotations and their impacts on provisioning ecosystem services on the river Drava alluvial plain. Sustainability of water quality and ecology. vol. 5: 31-48.
- Koroša, A. 2019. Origin and transport of organic pollutants in intergranular aquifers. Ph. D. Thesis. University of Ljubljana, Faculty of Civil and Geodetic Engineering: f. 207.
- Mali, N. & Koroša, A. 2015. Assessment of nitrate transport in the unsaturated (coarse gravel) zone by means of tracing experiment (Selniška dobrava, Slovenia). Geologija, 58/2: 183-194.
- Urbanc, J., Krivic, J., Mali, N., Ferjan Stanič, T., Koroša, A., Šram, D., Mezga, K., Bizjak, M., Medić, M.,
 Bole, Z., Lojen, S., Pintar, M., Udovč, A., Glavan, M., Kacjan-Maršić, N., Jamšek, A., Valentar,
 V., Zadravec, D., Pušenjak, M. & Klemenčič Kosi, S. 2014. Možnosti kmetovanja na
 vodovarstvenih območjih : zaključno poročilo projekta. Ljubljana: Geološki zavod Slovenije,
 UL Biotehniška fakulteta, Institut Jožef Stefan, Maribor: Kmetijsko gozdarski zavod: 10-30 f.





5 CASE STUDY DENMARK

5.1 Description of Monitoring network

In Denmark, practically all the drinking water originates directly from the groundwater. Since Denmark is an agricultural country where fertilizers and pesticides have been extensively used in agriculture since the 1950s, it is essential to build up knowledge that can be used to assess whether nutrients, pesticides and their degradation products leach to the groundwater in unacceptable concentrations and to what extend they migrate to water abstraction wells, dependent terrestrial or associated aquatic ecosystems. The national groundwater monitoring GRUMO (https://www.geus.dk/vandressourcer/overvaagningsprogrammer/grundvandsovervaagning/) along with other related monitoring programs as The agricultural catchment monitoring program LOOP (https://www.geus.dk/vandressourcer/overvaagningsprogrammer/landovervaagning-loop/) included in NOVANA (https://mst.dk/natur-vand/overvaagning-af-vand-og-natur/) was initiated in 1988 to monitor the quality of the groundwater in the catchments of waterworks. With an increasing number of findings of pesticide and / or their degradation products in the groundwater and a lack of knowledge as to whether this was due to agriculture's use of approved pesticides, the Danish Pesticide Leaching Assessment Program (PLAP; http://pesticidvarsling.dk/om_os_uk/uk-forside.html) was granted funding in 1998 by the Danish Parliament, which has provided funding until 2021. In 1999, PLAP was established by GEUS and Aarhus University linking to the Danish EPA.

The monitoring design of the two NOVANA networks (GRUMO and LOOP) and PLAP are described in the following:

The National Water and Nature Monitoring Program, NOVANA

The nationwide groundwater monitoring system, GRUMO, is part of the National Monitoring Program for Aquatic Environment and Nature (NOVANA). The Agricultural catchment Monitoring (LOOP) has also a groundwater component, as groundwater in the upper 5 m in monitored. NOVANA encompasses monitoring of all parts of the aquatic environment as well as nature and air (Dansih Environmental Protection Agency, NERI & GEUS, 2017).

The groundwater monitoring program, GRUMO

The current purpose of groundwater monitoring is described in the program description for NOVANA in the period 2017-21, (Danish Environmental Protection Agency, DCE and GEUS, 2017):

- To Provide data describing the general chemical state and trends, including long-term changes in groundwater (Surveillance monitoring)
- To provide data describing the status and trends of the presence of environmentally hazardous pollutants in groundwater (Surveillance monitoring)
- To provide data describing the chemical status of groundwater bodies considered to be 'at risk', including whether there is a long-term man-made tendency to increase the concentration of any of the pollutants (operational monitoring).
- To provide data documenting the effectiveness of national aquatic environment plans, river basin management plans, nitrate action programs and other management actions (operational monitoring).
- To contribute with data that can support the annual update of the requirements for the quality control of the water works well, (the national act on control of abstraction wells) as to illustrate whether there is reason to believe that in the groundwater and thus the drinking water there are substances that have not been investigated so far and which may pose a potential health hazard.





- To provide data describing the state and trends of changes in groundwater levels (quantitative monitoring)
- To provide data that describe how water abstraction and surface water flows affect groundwater levels for groundwater bodies, that are at risk of failure to meet the Water Framework Directive's goals of good quantitative status, (quantitative monitoring)
- To contribute to the data basis for the development of models for use in, inter alia, the watershed plans.

The National Water and Nature Monitoring Program, NOVANA, of which the groundwater monitoring program, GRUMO, is part, was originally a national aquatic environment monitoring program and was launched as part of the first Aquatic Environment Plan in 1987. The implementation of which took place from 1988. The first program had two main purposes: firstly, to monitor the effectiveness of the aquatic environment plan and the general agricultural regulations in relation to the nutrient load (the phosphorus and nitrate load) of the aquatic environment, and secondly to ensure the supply of good quality drinking water to the population (Danish Environmental Protection Agency, 1988). Note this was before the WFD and Nitrates Directive.

The Groundwater monitoring network was originally designed to provide a picture of the groundwater's condition and development in a number of selected catchments, the GRUMO areas. It was estimated that these areas would be representative for the groundwater of the country. The GRUMO program has since been updated - and adapted continuously - on the basis of greater knowledge and due to the varying administrative needs, including the fulfillment of the reporting obligations under EU directives particularly the WFD and the Nitrates Directive.

Table 5.1 provides an overview of the different program periods since the start of the monitoring and provides references to the program descriptions over time.

Period	Program name (Danish)	No of years	Remarks	Reference
1988-1992	Vandmiljøplanens overvågningsprogram	5	Establishment of GRUMO areas	EPA, 1988 og 1989
1993-1997	Vandmiljøplanens overvågningsprogram	5		EPA, 1993
1998-2003	NOVA-2003	6		EPA, 2000
2004-2009	NOVANA	6	Administrative reform of DK &	NERI, 2004
(2007-2009)		(3)	Mid-term review	NERI, 2007 a,b
2010	NOVANA	1	Extension 1 year	NERI 2010
2011-2015	NOVANA 2011-2015	5		EPA, NERI & GEUS, 2011
2016	NOVANA	1	Extension 1 year	EPA & NERI, 2016
2017-2021	NOVANA 2017-2021	5		EPA, NERI & GEUS, 2017

Cable 5.1 History of the National Monitoring Program of Water and Nature, NOVANA. EPA is short for
The Danish environmental Protection Agency, NERI for The National Environmental
Research Institute. (Thorling et al., 2019)

Figure 5.1 shows the total network of monitoring wells used for groundwater monitoring during the period 1989-2017. The wells are divided into the original GRUMO wells (located in the old groundwater monitoring areas), wells in the distributed network (established in the period 2007-2017 for reasons of the Water Framework Directive and the Groundwater Directive) and wells in the six agricultural catchments (LOOP, Fig. 5.4), which are monitored for the Danish derogation from the Nitrate Directive.







Figure 5.1 GRUMO. The total network for groundwater monitoring in Denmark for the period 1989-2018. The map shows monitoring points in the original 73 groundwater monitoring areas ('GRUMO-indtag' 1989-2006) and monitoring points in monitoring wells in the distributed station network '(GRUMO-indtag' 2007-2018). Included is also the LOOP monitoring of the six agricultural catchments, one of which was later closed in Central Jutland. (Thorling et al., 2019)

Figure 5.2 shows the geographical distribution of the depth to the top of the screens in GRUMO monitoring network, which were still included in the program in 2017. Data are sorted with decreasing depths drawn last. Monitoring points established down to approx. 40 meters are more or less evenly distributed over Denmark, while the deeper monitoring points show significant regional differences. Thus, on Bornholm, the vast majority of monitoring points are within the upper 20 meters, while the vast majority of deep boreholes (80-372 m b.s.) are found in Jutland with the largest occurrence in southern Jutland.







Figure 5.2 GRUMO. Depth to top (m b.s.) of 1,411 monitoring points with known depth in the Monitoring network of the Danish groundwater monitoring 2018-2021. (Thorling et al., 2019)

Figure 5.3 shows the depth distribution to the top of the screens for all GRUMO monitoring points and waterworks wells in 2018. Figure 5.3 shows that 50-60% of GRUMO monitoring points are established within the upper 20 m while just 10% are established deeper than 50 m b.s. In the waterworks wells, the screens are placed somewhat deeper. Here, 50% of the waterworks boreholes have the top of the screen located at a depth greater than 40 m b.s. and 10% at depths greater than 80 m b.s.







Figure 5.3 The figure on the left shows the fraction for depth to top of screen (m b.s.) calculated at 5 m intervals (%) for active waterworks wells (VV, grey) and GRUMO monitoring points (blueish). The figure on the right shows the accumulated distribution. (Thorling et al., 2019)

The agricultural catchment monitoring program, LOOP

The LOOP monitoring program monitors the quality of water collected from the unsaturated zone, tile drains and shallow groundwater (approx. 3-5 meters depth) in six agricultural catchments in sandy and clayey areas across Denmark primarily focusing on the leaching of nutrients (N and P) to groundwater (Fig. 5.4). The LOOP program plays an important role in the monitoring for the Danish derogation from the Nitrate Directive (Grant et. al 2011).







Figure 5.4 Schematic illustration of subsurface monitoring points in the Danish "LOOP" monitoring program. Besides the illustrated monitoring points, tile drains exist at about 1 m depth in clayey subsoils for areal monitoring (Hinsby and Jørgensen, 2009).

The Pesticide Leaching Assessment Program, PLAP

With an increasing number of findings of pesticide and / or their degradation products in the groundwater and a lack of knowledge as to whether this was due to agriculture's use of approved pesticides, the Danish Pesticide Leaching Assessment Program (PLAP; http://pesticidvarsling.dk/om_os_uk/uk-forside.html) was granted funding in 1998 by the Danish Parliament, which has provided funding until 2021. In 1999, PLAP was established by GEUS and Aarhus University linking to the Danish EPA.

PLAP is an early-warning monitoring program that, includes five to six fields (Fig. 5.5) used for arable farming, has the following purposes:

- To evaluate whether regular use of approved pesticides in maximum permitted dosages, under real Danish soil conditions, can result in leaching of the pesticides and/or their degradation products to the groundwater at concentrations above the limit value of 0.1 µg L⁻¹. The test period for a substance is typically 2 years after application. An assessment of the direct relationship between the specific pesticide applied to the experimental field and detections in groundwater is obtained by analyzing water samples from 1 meter depth (obtained via tile drains and suction cells) as well as from horizontal well screens directly beneath the field and vertical well screens installed both downstream and upstream of the experimental field. The survey results are reported annually PLAP report in English and in a special edition with accompanying independent Danish summaries. The annual PLAP reports focus on the last two years of monitoring results; but also includes results published in previous years' PLAP reports.
- Be able to improve and disseminate the scientific basis for optimization of the pesticides approval and regulation procedures of pesticides based on data on crops, cultivation practices, climate, drainage, soil water balance estimated applying the dual permeability model MACRO-model (a FOCUS-model applied in regulation of pesticides) and on high quality monitoring results on concentrations of pesticides and / or their degradation products plus inorganic compounds like nitrate-N in water collected from well screens, tile drain systems and suction cups. A basis that can contribute to optimization of the analysis program for the





nationwide groundwater monitoring (GRUMO and the Waterworks Well Control) and of the European regulation of pesticides as well as the development and commissioning of new analytical methods.

The six agricultural fields (Fig. 5.5) have been selected to represent Danish conditions in geology and climate. The presence of a pesticide in groundwater can thus be linked to a specific use of pesticides in an area in Denmark - a link that is used directly in the regulation of pesticides in agriculture in Denmark and at European level. The number of test fields has varied between five and six fields over the years. For the period 2019-2021, the experimental fields are made up of five active experimental fields (currently Jyndevad, Silstrup, Estrup, Faardrup and Lund) and one experimental field on standby (currently Tylstrup). The characteristics of the individual fields are given in Table 5.2 for:

- the five fields established in 1999 two sandy (Tylstrup and Jyndevad) and three consisting of clay till/loam (Silstrup, Estrup and Faardrup) as described in Lindhardt et al. (2001)
- a clay till/loam field established in Lund in 2016-2017 as described in a yet to be published report (Haarder et al., 2019)



Figure 5.5 Annual net precipitation across Denmark and the geographical location of the six PLAP fields: Tylstrup (sandy), Jyndevad (sandy), Silstrup (clay till), Estrup (clay till) and Faardrup (clay till) included in the monitoring programme since 1999 and the new PLAP field Lund (clay till) included in PLAP from July 2017. It can be seen that the span in net precipitation observed in Denmark is well represented by the PLAP fields.




PLAP-field	Tylstrup	Jyndevad	Silstrup	Estrup	Faardrup	Lund
Location	Brønderslev	Tinglev	Thisted	Askov	Slagelse	Lund
Precipitation ¹⁾ (mm y ⁻¹)	668	858	866	862	558	
Pot. evapotransp. ¹⁾ (mm y ⁻¹)	552	555	564	543	585	
Width (m) x Length (m)	70 x 166	135 x 180	91 x 185	105 x 120	150 x 160	100 x 300
Area (ha)	1.2	2.4	1.7	1.3	2.3	2.8
Tile drain Depths to tile drain (m) Monitoring initiated	No May 1999	No Sep 1999	Yes 1.1 Apr 2000	Yes 1.1 Apr 2000	Yes 1.2 Sep 1999	Yes 1.1 July 2017
Geological characteristics						
– Deposited by	Saltwater	Meltwater	Glacier	Glacier /meltwater	Glacier	Glacier
– Sediment type	Fine sand	Coarse sand	Clayey Till	Clayey till	Clayey till	Clayey till
– DGU symbol	YS	TS	ML	ML	ML	ML
 Depth to the calcareous matrix (m) Depth to the reduced matrix (m) 	6 >12	5–9 10–12	1.3 5	1–4 ²⁾ >5 ²⁾	1.5 4.2	1.5 3.8
– Max. fracture depth ³⁾ (m)	-	-	4	>6.5	8	>6
 Fracture intensity 3–4 m depth (fractures m⁻¹) 	-	-	<1	11	4	<1
– Ks in C horizon (m s ⁻¹)	2.0·10 ⁻⁵	1.3.10-4	3.4·10 ⁻⁶	8.0·10 ⁻⁸	7.2·10 ⁻⁶	5.8·10 ⁻⁶
Topsoil characteristics						
 DK classification 	JB2	JB1	JB7	JB5/6	JB5/6	JB5/6
- Classification	Loamy sand	Sand	Sandy clay Ioam / sand Ioam	Sandy yloam	Sandy Ioam	Sandy Ioam
– Clay content (%)	6	5	18–26	10–20	14–15	10-25
– Silt content (%)	13	4	27	20–27	25	30-35
– Sand content (%)	78	88	8	50–65	57	30-50
– pH	4–4.5	5.6-6.2	6.7–7	6.5–7.8	6.4–6.6	7.4-9.1
– TOC (%)	2.0	1.8	2.2	1.7–7.3	1.4	0-1.3

Table 5.2 Characteristics of the six PLAP fields included in the PLAP-monitoring for the period 1999-2018 (modified from Lindhardt et al., 2001).

¹) Yearly normal based on a time series for the period 1961–90. The data refer to precipitation measured 1.5 m above ground surface. ²⁾ Large variation within the field.

³⁾ Maximum fracture depth refers to the maximum fracture depth found in excavations and wells.

Each field consists of a cultivated area (1.2 - 2.8 ha) surrounded by a grass buffer zone from which all installations are established. The installations (Fig. 5.6) can be divided into two groups - those for sampling and those for monitoring/estimating the water balance of the field.







Figure 5.6 Overview of the PLAP-field-design. The innermost white area indicates the cultivated land, while the grey area indicates the surrounding buffer zone. The positions of the various installations are indicated, as is the direction of groundwater flow (by an arrow). Pesticide monitoring is conducted weekly from the drainage at the clay till/loamy fields (during periods of continuous drainage), monthly from the suction cups at the sandy fields, and monthly and half-yearly from selected vertical and horizontal monitoring screens.

Sampling installations include:

- The clay till/loamy fields (Silstrup, Estrup, Faardrup and Lund)
 - 4 suction cells installed at depths of 1 and 2 m at S1 and S2 (total of 16) downstream and below the cultivated area. The water samples are not used for pesticide-related analysis, as the suction used to collect the sample may change the pH of the sample and thus the nature of the sample.





- a tile drain system from 1930-1950, located only below the cultivated area at a depth of 1.1-1.2 m. The drainage system "culminates" in a drainage well in which a Voverflow is established to measure the drainage flow. With this knowledge, flow proportional drainage samples are collected weekly if there is water flowing in the tile drain system.
- Vertical monitoring wells filtered at four depths from which groundwater samples are collected monthly or half yearly from the top two groundwater filled screens. In the fields, an upstream well and 7-8 downstream well have been established - all in the buffer zone, whereby it is possible to take into account any potential. groundwater contribution from upstream fields in relation to detections.
- Horizontal monitoring wells located at 2 m (3 filter sections) and 3.5 m (3 filter sections) depth below the cultivated area from which samples are collected monthly. For the well installed at a depth of 2 m, samples are not collected if the groundwater level measured in the nearest vertical well is installed deeper than 1.7 m. The samples collected from the well sections are normally polled due to VAP's financial framework; but the possibility of analyzing on water from the individual sections exists.
- The sandy fields (Tylstrup and Jyndevad)
 - 4 suction cells located at depths of 1 and 2 m at S1 and S2 (total of 16) downstream and below the cultivated area. The water samples from 2 m depth in Jyndevad are not used, as the groundwater level may be located at this depth.
 - Vertical / vertical monitoring wells filtered at four depths from which groundwater samples are collected monthly or half yearly from the top two groundwater filled sections.
 - Horizontal monitoring wells installed at 2 m (3 filter sections) and 3.5 m (5 filter sections) depth from which samples are collected monthly. For the well located at a depth of 2 m, samples are not collected if the groundwater level measured in the nearest vertical well is located deeper than 1.7 m. The samples collected from the well sections are normally polled due to VAP's financial framework; but the possibility of analyzing on water from the individual sections exists.

Installations for monitoring / estimating the water balance of the field include:

- Precipitation in the field / climate station within 3-4 km (precipitation, evaporation and air temperature)
- TDR for measuring the soil water content at different depths in the upper 2 m
- Temperature sensors for measuring the earth's temperature at various depths in the upper 2 m
- Sensors and V-assault in drainage wells for measuring drainage from the clay till/loamy fields.

Additional:

- crops are registered (BBCH stages, agricultural practices, including registration of all sprays, also need sprays that are not included in the VAP monitoring, and from 2015 which seed dressing are added in the fields.
- the depth of the groundwater level below the field is recorded.
- MACRO modeling (version 5.2; Larsbo et al., 2005) is performed by the five fields established in 1999 to check the water balance data obtained. Such a model is not currently set up for the new VAP mark Lund.
- Concentrations of selected inorganic compounds like nitrate-N are monitored for all samples collected.





5.2 Information about travel times in the saturated and unsaturated zones

5.2.1 The national nitrogen model

Travel times for groundwater, nitrogen, pesticides and other pollutants to water abstraction wells and streams can be estimated by the national Danish nitrogen model and/or the national Danish water resources model / the DK-model (Troldborg et al., 2008, Højberg et al., 2015, Vervloet et al. 2018). In addition, the Danish nitrogen model and the DK-model may be used for estimation of nutrient loadings to groundwater associated aquatic ecosystems, eutrophication risks and derivation of groundwater threshold values (Hinsby et al., 2012, Kronvang et al., 2018, Nilsson et al. 2019).

5.2.2 GRUMO

Interpreting the causes of changes in the quality of the groundwater requires knowledge of the travel time ("age") of the individual monitoring point. Knowledge of the travel time of the water makes it possible to assess whether the development of the quality of the groundwater shows temporal coincidences with changes in land use or action programs, including aquatic environment plans (Hansen et al., 2012).

Information on travel times to monitoring points of the GRUMO program can be obtained from national Danish nitrogen model similar to the other receptors mentioned above. However, to get more reliable results, the simulated travel times (or alternatively calibrate the flow models) should be corroborated by tracer estimated groundwater age distributions (Jakobsen et al., 2019).

Dating the groundwater in the individual monitoring points is among other things a prerequisite for being able to document an effect on the groundwater nitrate content of altered agricultural practices and nitrate leaching (Hansen et al., 2012). At the same time, dating of the groundwater can be used to demonstrate how the expansion of the monitoring with new boreholes and multiple monitoring points affects the age distribution of the monitored water. The assessment of the effectiveness of pesticide action plans is a more difficult task, since pesticides interact with the sediments through degradation and sorption in a much more complex pattern than nitrate.

5.2.2.1 Groundwater age/ residence time

In Denmark the use of tracers to inform on travel times have been part of the monitoring program since 1990, where the coarse method of ³H dating was applied for all monitoring points with sufficient yields. This made it possible to subdivide the monitoring points into those who had modern water after approx. 1950 and those with 'prebomb' age. From 1992 CFC dating was introduced, but that was abandoned after 2005, when the content CFCs in the atmosphere had dropped due to the Montreal protocol, and research had documented degradation of all CFC tracers in anoxic groundwater. Thus, new methods had to be introduced, and ³H/³He was considered as the best choice and has been used since 2010. ³H/³He is both more expensive and challenging when it comes to sampling than CFC. Therefore, it has not yet been applied to all monitoring points.

The use of multiple tracers is generally recommended in order to identify the mixing of different water types and possible estimation of groundwater age distributions, but these are only applied in a few research projects.

Figure 5.7 shows the groundwater residence time as a function of depth for 932 dated monitoring points, corresponding to > 75% of the monitoring network. Ages are derived from both CFC (in the oxic zone) and ${}^{3}H/{}^{3}He$. It can be seen from the figure that in the upper 40 m groundwater has very different





residence time, and that in the upper 20 m there is no simple connection between depth and age. However, it should be noted that the average age and median age increase with increasing depth as the proportion of young water decreases with depth. The reason for the image seen in Figure 5.8 is differences in groundwater recharge, hydraulic barriers and other variations in hydrogeological flow conditions. In outflow/seepage areas with upward gradient, even very old groundwater can be found close to the terrain. Therefore, the best straight line also does not go through the age 0 years at depth 0 m b.s. In Denmark thus no age depth relation is established, as on the contrary, such a relation would be considered rough and erroneousness, see also figures below flow the multiscreen wells.

When working with these data, it must be kept in mind that the age is only a reflection of the actual age-distribution in each monitoring point, where the relative short screens in the monitoring wells reduce the age span in cases where hydrogeological mixing play a minor role.



Figure 5.7 Groundwater age/residence times (apparent CFC or 3H/3He tracer ages) of groundwater sampled at different depths of 932 monitoring points assuming piston flow. The best straight line through all points is shown to illustrate the challenges. (Thorling et al., 2019)

The most comprehensive and detailed data sets and study on groundwater age distributions in nitrate contaminated wells in Denmark are available from the Rabis Creek site (Postma et al., 1991, Engesgaard et al., 1996, 2004, Hinsby et al., 2007, Jessen et al., 2017). The Rabis Creek site is sampled as part of the GRUMO program.

5.2.3 PLAP

The travel time of different pesticides and their degradation product at the PLAP fields varies a lot with climate, crop and soil conditions. It is, hence, too complex to estimate the travel times of compounds. In Rosenbom *et al.* (2015), three types of leaching scenarios are today not fully understood: i) long-





term leaching of degradation products of pesticides applied on potato crops cultivated in sand, ii) leaching of strongly sorbing pesticides after autumn application on clay till/loam, and iii) leaching of various pesticides and their degradation products following early summer application on clay till/loam. Rapid preferential transport through macropores in the clay till/loam bypassing the retardation of the plow layer seem to dominate the leaching of pesticides, their degradation products and e.g. nitrate-N at these fields, making the clay till fields more prone to leaching of compounds than sandy soils.

5.2.3.1 Age dating

As noted in the PLAP-report Rosenbom et al., 2017 Appendix 9 groundwater in PLAP is too young to be given an age and as noted in Gimsing *et al.* (2019) the commonly accepted definition "the (highly) idealised groundwater age is the time difference that a water parcel needs to travel from the groundwater surface to the position where the sample is taken" does not account for mixing of different ages and the complexity in transport pathways in time and space (Suckow, 2014), why no evaluation in PLAP is including this type of "age"-data.

5.3 Information about attenuating processes in the subsurface

5.3.1 Denitrification mapping

In Denmark the National groundwater mapping has taken place since late 1990s until 2015. The main purpose of this mapping effort was to map vulnerability towards nitrate in drinking-water areas. The Danish Environmental Protection Agency is responsible for the mapping, and after delineation of nitrate vulnerable abstraction areas, the municipalities are responsible for action plans in these areas. More than 2.7 bio. DKK has been used on this task. (Danish EPA, homepage)

An important part of this mapping is identification of the redox-interface and assessment of the stability of the extent of nitrate in the aquifers.

The national guidance documents for the geochemical mapping for the national groundwater mapping program operates with 4 water types (Hansen and Thorling, 2018) (figure 5.8).

- Oxygen-rich groundwater: $O_2 > 1 \text{ mg/L}$ and Fe $\leq 0.1 \text{ mg/L}$ and Mn $\leq 0.1 \text{ mg/L}$ (water type A).
- Anoxic nitrate reducing zone: NO₃> 1 mg /L and O₂ \leq 1 mg /L, (water type B).
- Reduced groundwater: $NO_3 \le 1 \text{ mg/L}$, $O_2 \le 1 \text{ mg/L}$ and $SO_4 > 20 \text{ mg/L}$, (water type C).
- Strongly reduced groundwater: NO₃ \leq 1 mg/L, O₂ \leq 1 mg /L and SO4 \leq 20 mg/L, (water type D).







Figure 5.8 Algorithm for assigning redox water type used in Denmark, from Guidance on mapping of groundwater chemistry (Hansen & Thorling 2018).

Water type A is found in the water samples from the fully oxidized layers were nitrate is present and no denitrification takes place. Water type B is met in layers where nitrate reduction takes place, in anoxic groundwater. Water types C and D are met after the nitrate reduction processes are completed, and less than 1 mg/l nitrate is left in the groundwater and iron and sulfate reduction are the dominating processes.

In relation to this, GEUS has produced a national map for the depth to the *first upper redox interface*. The map is a 100 m grid, compiled for display in scale 1:400.000, figure 5.9 and can be downloaded from GEUS' Webshop. The map is used for a wide variety of groundwater planning and management issues as task in connection with the WFD. (EU, 2000). Due to geological heterogeneity, consecutive redox interfaces may be found in typical Danish geological settings (Kim et al, 2019).

The map illustrates depth to the redox interface in meters below ground. The interface marks the transition from oxidised to reduced conditions in the subsurface. Based on approx. 13.000 observations of colour changes in sediment cores, a model has been developed describing relations between explanatory variables and depth to the redox interface. The machine learning method "random forest" has been used to develop the model. The map shows the best estimate of the location of the interface in a 100 m grid resolution. The applied method additional provides an estimate of the uncertainty. The method is described further in (Koch et al., 2019)







Figure 5.9 Danish National map for the depth to the uppermost redox interface (Koch et al, 2019).

5.4 Temporal variations in variations in the depth and thickness of the redox zones

Objectives and relevance

In order to improve the description and understanding of variations over time of the vertical distribution of the redox zones and their interfaces, and thus of the distribution of nitrate in particular in the groundwater aquifers, groundwater is monitored in 5 special multiscreen redox wells, each with 15 to 23 short (10 cm) screens as monitoring points. Changes in the penetration depth of nitrate and oxygen are of great importance to the environmental state of associated surface water systems, since the greater the extent of the nitrate-containing layers, the greater the risk that the associated surface water systems receive groundwater with nitrate. At the same time, the extent of the oxidized layers has a significant impact on how much of the drinking water resource is affected by nitrate.

The nitrate reducing zone's ability to reduce nitrate depends on the geochemical properties of the geological layers. When the nitrate reducing zone (with water type B, see below) has a great extension of several meters, it is an indication that the nitrate reduction processes are slow in that aquifer and that the content of reactive nitrate reducing agents is low. The reduction capacity of the aquifers, and not least the rate of turnover of nitrate, is of great importance for the drinking water supply. In areas of low reaction rate and / or low reduction capacity, there is a high risk of nitrate breakthrough. Thus, increasing nitrate concentrations may occur in water works wells when nitrate reduction is too slow relative to the altered flow conditions in the reservoir caused by the water abstraction.

A better understanding of the temporal variations in the spatial distribution of the redox zones may also support the interpretation of time series for especially nitrate, sulfate and other redox-sensitive





parameters established in the monitoring program, thus supporting one of the primary objectives of the monitoring, namely to assess the effects of national environmental measures in for the objectives set.

Data basis

During the period 1999-2018 data for a number of redox-sensitive substances have been collected from the redox wells: oxygen, nitrate, nitrite, iron, manganese, sulfate, chloride as well as pH, conductivity and redox potential. The figures 5.10 to 5.15 show the geological strata series together with monitoring data from all monitoring points in the boreholes. Until 2011, the wells were sampled one to several times each year. Since then, sampling has become less frequent.

Data processing

The redox zones shown in the figures are due to the high data quality based on a slightly adjusted version of the criteria in figure 5.8:

- Oxygen-rich groundwater: $O_2 > 1 \text{ mg/L}$ and Fe $\leq 0.1 \text{ mg/L}$ and Mn $\leq 0.1 \text{ mg/L}$ (water type A).
- Anoxic nitrate reducing zone: $NO_3 > 1 mg/L$ and $O_2 \le 1 mg/L$, (water type B).
- Reduced groundwater: $NO_3 \le 1 \text{ mg/L}$, $O_2 \le 1 \text{ mg/L}$ and $SO_4 > 20 \text{ mg/L}$, (water type C).
- Strongly reduced groundwater: $NO_3 \le 1 \text{ mg/L}$, $O_2 \le 1 \text{ mg/L}$ and $SO_4 \le 20 \text{ mg/L}$, (water type D).

Oxygen is a crucial parameter for the water type determination. Therefore a manual interpretation of the redox water type takes place for water samples where, for example, oxygen analyzes are lacking. The interpretation is based on the sample's other content of redox-sensitive parameters with special emphasis on the content of nitrite, manganese, iron, sulfate and nitrate (Hansen and Thorling, 2018).

The age of the groundwater

The age of the groundwater in the individual monitoring points is shown in Table 5.3. Note there is no simple linear increase of age with depth.





Table 5.3. Redox wells at Albæk, Kasted, Grindsted, Vejby and Siberia. Groundwater age in monitoring point determined by the CFC method. Note that the lower screen number is no. 1. (Thorling et al., 2019)

ID.	Albæk	Kasted	Grindsted	Vejby	Sibirien
DGU nr.	18.310	78.796	114.1736.	186.854	238.900
Monitoring point no	Age (years)				
23			6		
22			8		
21			10		
20		20	8		
19		20	5		
18		27	10		
17		36	14		34
16		36	22	<5	33
15	21	44	21		24
14	17	45	19		28
13	17	51	19	13	31
12	18	48	25		25
11	18	50	27	17	23
10	22	50	28	40	11
9	17	40	29	56	36
8	24	40	31	55	39
7	26	40	31		37
6	31	49	35	55	44
5	32	52	33	57	45
4	39	60	40		45
3	45	61	38	50	44
2	43	61	33	57	47
1	47	61	55	36	48

5.4.1 The Redox Well at Albæk in North Jutland - DGU nr. 18.310

Figure 5.10 shows an overview of the water types in the redox well at Albæk with monitoring points in the interval 34-41 m u.t. In 2018, all monitoring points contained oxygenated and nitrate-containing groundwater (water type A). In 2018, the nitrate concentration in all monitoring points was between 14 and 33 mg/l (see Figure 5.15). The entire aquifer, which consists of fine to medium grain sand, is currently expected to be nitrate-containing.

The oxygen-rich environment means that denitrification is not expected, and the nitrate content of the groundwater remains unchanged as it flows from the soil surface down into the groundwater reservoir.







Figure 5.10 Albæk in Northern Jutland, DGU No. 18310, with redox zones for the period 1999-2018. Groundwater table is approx. 15 m b.s. The geological profile is shown at the far right of the figure. (Thorling et al., 2019)





5.4.2 The Redox Well at Kasted north-west of Århus - DGU nr. 78.796

Figure 5.11 shows especially the redox well at Kasted, where the redox zones have remained relatively stable, with no major changes from 1999 to 2018. The groundwater level is at approx. 9 m b.s. The top approx. 15 meters of the aquifer is nitrate- and oxygen-containing water type A, followed by an approx. 10 m of oxygen-free and nitrate-containing zone, with water type B and including slightly reduced groundwater, water type C. Thus, a significant part of the groundwater reservoir is nitrate-containing. In 2018, the concentration of nitrate in the oxygen-containing zone was 40-62 mg/l, and the content decreased to 7-27 mg/l in the upper part of the anoxic zone, after which the nitrate content increased to 48-54 mg/l in the lower part of the anoxic zone, Figure 5.15. In the oxygen-containing zone, the oxygen content in 2018 was between 5 and 9 mg/l. Relatively high concentrations of sulphate in the nitrate-reducing oxygen-free zone (120 mg/l) indicate that the reduction of nitrate here occurs, among other things by pyrite. The concentration of sulfate in the oxygen-containing zone in 2018 was between 21-81 mg/l. Aarhus Water has a well site approx. 500 m downstream of this well.

Inc	itag m u.t.		m u.t.
0	DGUnr. 78.796 Muld ••• Ilt-zone Sand ••• Anoxisk nitratreducerende zone Silt ••• Svagt reduceret zone Ler ••• Stærkt reduceret zone Grus og grus Grus og sand Grus		
10			10
		• • •	
			14 -2 00
		•••	16
		•••	18 - 0
			00
20			20
			22 -
			0.0
	as a	••	24 0
		•••	26 - 0
			0
			28 -
			00
30	*** ***********************************		30 0
	65 0 65 0 65 0 65 0 6 0		0.0
		•••	32
		• • •	34 ->
			24
			30
		• • •	38 5
40			40 07
40			0
			42 - 0
	and an an a analogo and and and and and and and and a set of a set		44 - 0 0 0
			000
			46 20
			-
50			_
	1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017	2018	

Figure 5.11 Kasted northwest of Aarhus, DGU No. 78,796, with redox zones for the period 1999-2018. Groundwater table is approx. 9 m b.s. The geological profile is shown at the far right of the figure. (Thorling et al., 2019)





5.4.3 The Redox Well at Grindsted in Mid-Jutland - DGU nr. 114.1736

Figure 5.12 gives an overview of the water types in the redox well at Grindsted with monitoring points in the interval 13-39 m b.s. It is evident that the spatial distribution of the redox zones in the well at Grindsted has varied somewhat in the period 1999-2010. During the period 2012-2018, the distribution of the different redox zones has been more stable, with the largest changes in water types A and B in 20-23 m b.s. The upper, oxygen and nitrate-containing zone, water type A, is estimated to extend from 3 m b.s. down to approx. 23 m b.s. and constitute the top 20 m of the groundwater reservoir. After this, approx. 3 m oxygen-free nitrate-containing zone, water type B, which is followed by a 10 m slightly reduced zone without oxygen and nitrate, water type C. In the deepest monitoring point 29.5 m b.s. occasionally, strongly reduced groundwater, water type D.

In 2018, the concentration of nitrate in the majority of the oxygenated groundwater reservoir was between 45 and 55 mg/l. In 2018, the concentration of sulfate was fairly constant down through the groundwater reservoir, by 35-45 mg/l.

Ind	lag m u.t.	n u.t.
0	DGUnr. 114.1736	0.4 -
		2
	Muid	
	Sand	4 -
	Glimmerler	
	Stærkt reduceret zone Brunkul	6 -
		8 -
10		10_
10		
		12 -
	• : • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
		14 -
		16 -
		18 - DS
20		20-
		22 -
		24 -
		26 -
		20
		28 -
30		30-
		32
		34 -
	•••• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
		36 -
	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	38 -
	•• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
40		40
		-
		-
		-
	*	-
50	G E U S	_

50 | 1999 | 2000 | 2001 | 2002 | 2003 | 2004 | 2005 | 2006 | 2007 | 2008 | 2009 | 2010 | 2011 | 2012 | 2013 | 2014 | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 | 2018 |

Figure 5.12 Grindsted in Central Jutland, DGU No. 114.1736 with redox zones for the period 1999-2018. The groundwater table is located in approx. 2 m b.s. The geological profile is shown at the far right of the figure. (Thorling et al., 2019)





5.4.4 The Redox well at Vejby in North Zealand - DGU nr. 186.854

Figure 5.13 shows that in 2018 oxygen-free and nitrate-containing groundwater, water type B occurs in the upper 3 meters of the groundwater reservoir, down to approx. 14 m b.s. at Vejby. The nitrate content during this period was 3-20 mg/l, see Figure 5.16. In the deeper monitoring points, the water type has been unchanged, slightly reduced, water type C, since 2006, with the only exception being the monitoring point at 29.5 m b.s. That for a period has been strongly reduced. The concentration of sulfate is 10-40 mg/l in the nitrate-containing zone and rises to 50-60 mg/l in the deeper monitoring points, where the concentration of sulfate is below 40 mg/l.

The groundwater table in 2018 was located for approx. 11 m b.s. and simultaneous measurements in 16.4, 21.5 and 29.5 m b.s. suggest that there is no good hydraulic contact between the layers.



50 | 1999 | 2000 | 2001 | 2002 | 2003 | 2004 | 2005 | 2006 | 2007 | 2008 | 2009 | 2010 | 2011 | 2012 | 2013 | 2014 | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 | 2018

Figure 5.13 Vejby in North Zealand, DGU 186.854, with redox zones for the period 2006-2018. The groundwater level is located in approx. 11 m b.s. The geological profile is shown at the far right of the figure. (Thorling et al., 2019)





5.4.5 The Redox Well at Sibirien on Falster - DGU nr. 238.900

Figure 5.14 shows that there is nitrate down to approx. 21 m b.s. in the redox well at Siberia on Falster. In the top two oxygenated monitoring points, water type A, from 10-12 m b.s. nitrate concentrations of 82-190 mg/l and 2-6 mg/l of oxygen were measured in 2018. In the interval, 13-17 m b.s. there are alternating oxygenated and anoxic redox conditions throughout the years and the concentration of nitrate decreases to 23-58 mg/l, while the oxygen concentration is typically <3 mg/l. In 2018, the concentration of nitrate at 25 m b.s. increased significantly from < 5 mg/l to 110 mg/l, see Figure 5.15. This monitoring point was at the beginning of the monitoring period anoxic, water type B, in 1999-2003, after which it was slightly reducing, water type C, until 2012, when it again became anoxic. In 2018, the concentration of sulfate in 10-21 m b.s. ranged between 28 and 59 mg/l. The concentration of sulfate in deeper groundwater was up to 150 mg/l, except for the deepest monitoring point established in chalk, where the concentration was only about 30 mg/l.

In	itag m u.t.			n	n u.t.
0	DGUnr. 238.900				0.4 -
	• • • Ilt-zone	Muld			2 - ML
	Anoxisk nitratreducerende zone	Ler			
	• • • Svagt reduceret zone	Grus			4-000
	Starkt reduceret zone	Sand			
		Sten			6
		Kalk			8 -
					DS
10					10—
			•••	• • •	12 -
		•••	•••	•••	
	0 000 00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0				1000000000
					18 - ^{MS}
20					
					22 -
					24 -
					DS
					26 -
			• • •	• • •	28
					20
30					30-000
	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••				000
					34 - Be
		•••	• • •		24 2 0 0
		••••	•••	•••	57 000
					36 - 0 0 0
					들들들
					38 = = =
40					
40					40ML
					42
					EEE
	GEUS				44 ===
					40
					-

50 | 1999 | 2000 | 2001 | 2002 | 2003 | 2004 | 2005 | 2006 | 2007 | 2008 | 2009 | 2010 | 2011 | 2012 | 2013 | 2014 | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 | 2018 |

Figure 5.14 Sibirien on Falster, DGU no. 238.900, with redox zones for the period 1999-2018. The groundwater level is 9 m b.s. The geological profile is shown at the far right of the figure. (Thorling et al., 2019)





Nitrate trends in the period 2000-2008

Figure 5.15 shows how the annual average nitrate concentration has varied throughout the various redox wells during the period 2000-2018, divided into 6 year intervals.





5.5 Combined analysis of transport and attenuating processes in the pilot area

Pesticides like MCPA being more or less completely degraded in the plough layer (Rosenbom et al., 2014) are ideal given their low risk of leaching to the groundwater. Having compounds being sorbed





and/or degraded in the upper microbiological and organic rich zone (primarily the plough layer) are crucial for the reduction of the mass leaching through the variably-saturated zone. Such fate processes have normally a higher impact in sandy soil than fractured clay till soils, since the percolating water flow through a larger volume of soil. Having the preferential flow and transport making solutes/compounds move fast through the variably-saturated in discontinuities minimize the impact of these fate processes making the clay till/loamy fields much more prone to leaching of pesticides, their degradation product and inorganic compounds like nitrate-N (Ernstsen *et al.*, 2015).

5.6 Testing approaches to harmonized, processed data for supraregional evaluations

The PLAP-monitoring results have revealed for the Danish climate and soil conditions that the leaching of pesticides, their degradation products and inorganic compounds like nitrate-N is very complex and controlled by discontinuities/macropores/biopores/wormholes/fractures at the clay till/loamy fields. To be able to assess the leaching of different compounds in the future it will be imperative to have monitoring data like the PLAP-data from other EU-countries being an eye-opener in regard to leaching of compounds – by obtaining such high-quality data, shortcomings in our current understanding is delineated making it possible to address them in future research.

5.7 References

- Blicher-Mathiesen, G., Holm, H., Houlborg, T., Rolighed, J., Andersen, H.E., Carstensen, M.V., Jensen,
 P.G., Wienke, J., Hansen, B., Thorling, L. 2019. Landovervågningsoplande 2018. NOVANA.
 Aarhus Universitet, DCE Nationalt Center for Miljø og Energi, Videnskabelig rapport fra DCE
 Nationalt Center for Miljø og Energi nr. SR352.
- Dalgaard, T., Hansen, B., Hasler, B., Hertel, O., Hutchings, N., Jacobsen, B.H., Jensen, L.S., Kronvang, B., Olesen J.E., Schjørring, J.K., Kristensen, I.S., Graversgaard, M., Termansen, M., Vejre, H., 2014.
 Policies for agricultural nitrogen management - trends, challenges and prospects for improved efficiency in Denmark. Environmental Research Letters, Environ. Res. Lett. 9 (2014) 115002 (16pp). http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/9/11/115002. (11.01.2019)
- Danish Environmental Protection Agency, 1988. Sammenstilling af det totale overvågningsprogram i henhold til vandmiljøplanen, okt. 1988.
- Danish Environmental Protection Agency, 1989. Vandmiljøplanens overvågningsprogram. Miljøprojekt nr. 115, Miljøstyrelsen.
- Danish Environmental Protection Agency, 1993. Vandmiljøplanens overvågningsprogram 1993-1997. Redegørelse fra Miljøstyrelsen nr.2/1993, Miljøstyrelsen.
- Danish Environmental Protection Agency, 2000. NOVA-2003. Redegørelse nr. 1, 2000, Miljøstyrelsen.
- Danish Environmental Protection Agency, NERI, GEUS, 2011. Det Nationale Overvågningsprogram for Vand og Natur. NOVANA 2011-15. Programbeskrivelse. http://naturstyrelsen.dk/media/nst/Attachments/NOVANA 2delrapport.pdf
- Danish Environmental Protection Agency, NERI, 2016. NOVANA 2016, Programbeskrivelse. <u>http://mst.dk/service/publikationer/publikationsarkiv/2016/maj/novana-det-nationale-program-for-overvaagning-af-vandmiljoe-og-natur-2016-programbeskrivelse/</u>
- Danish Environmental Protection Agency, DCE, GEUS, 2017. NOVANA. Det nationale overvågningsprogram for vandmiljø og natur 2017-21. Programbeskrivelse. September 2017. https://mst.dk/media/141463/novana-2017-21-programbeskrivelse.pdf
- Engesgaard, P.; Højberg, A.L.; Hinsby, K., Laier, T., Jensen, K.H, Larsen, F, Busenberg, E., Plummer, L.N.. 2004. Transport of CFCs in the unsaturated zone, Rabis Creek, Denmark. Vadose Zone Journal, 3, 1249-1261





- Engesgaard, P., Jensen, K. H., Molson, J., Frind, E. O., Olsen, H., 1996. Large-Scale Dispersion in a Sandy Aquifer: Simulation of Subsurface Transport of Environmental Tritium, Water Resour. Res., 32(11), 3253–3266, doi:10.1029/96WR02398.
- Ernstsen, V., Platen, F.v., 2014. Opdatering af det nationale redoxkort fra 2006- til brug for den Nationale Kvælstofmodel 2015. GEUS rapport 2014/20.
- Ernstsen, V., Olsen, P., Rosenbom, A.E., 2015. Long-term monitoring of nitrate transport to drainage from three agricultural clayey till fields. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences 19, 3475-3488. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-19-3475-2015.
- EU, 2000, The Water Framework Directive. 2000/60/EU, Oct. 23rd 2000
- Grant R., Thorling, L. and Hossy, H., 2011: Developments in monitoring the effectiveness of the EU Nitrates Directive Action Programmes. Approach by Denmark. pp 167-190. Article in Developments in monitoring the effectiveness of the EU Nitrates Directive Action Programmes. Results of the second MonNO3 workshop, 10-11 June 2009. RIVM Report 680717019/2011. 391 pp.
- Gimsing, A.L., Jutta Agert, Nicole Baran, Arnaud Boivin, Federico Ferrari, Richard Gibson, Lisa Hammond, Florian Hegler, Russell L. Jones, Wolfram König, Jenny Kreuger, Ton van der Linden, Dirk Liss, Ludovic Loiseau, Andy Massey, Benedict Miles, Laurent Monrozies, Andy Newcombe, Anton Poot, Graham L. Reeves, Stefan Reichenberger, Annette E. Rosenbom, Horst Staudenmaier, Robin Sur, Andreas Schwen, Michael Stemmer, Wiebke Tüting, Uta Ulrich, 2019. Conducting groundwater monitoring studies in Europe for pesticide active substances and their metabolites in the context of Regulation (EC) 1107/2009 J. Consum. Prot. Food Saf. 14 (Suppl. 1): 1. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00003-019-01211-x
- Hansen, B., Thorling, L., Dalgaard, T., Erlandsen, M., 2011. Trend Reversal of Nitrate in Danish Groundwater – a Reflection of Agricultural Practices and Nitrogen Surpluses since 1950. Environmental Science and Technology, 45(1): 228-234.
- Hansen, B., Dalgaard, T., Thorling, L., Sørensen, B., Erlandsen, M., 2012. Regional analysis of groundwater nitrate concentrations and trends in Denmark in regard to agricultural influence. Biogeosciences Vol. 9, 5321-5346, 2012.
- Hansen, B., Thorling, L., Schullehner, J., Termansen, M., Dalgaard, T., 2017. Groundwater nitrate response to sustainable nitrogen management. Scientific Reports, 7, 8566. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-017-07147-2.
- Hansen, B., Thorling, L., 2018. Kemisk grundvandskortlægning. GEO-VEJLEDNING 2018/2. Særudgivelsen fra GEUS. <u>http://www.geovejledning.dk/2018 2/</u> (11-01-2019).
- Hansen, B., Thorling, L., Kim, H., Blicher-Mathiesen, G., 2019. Long-term nitrate response in shallow groundwater to agricultural N regulations in Denmark. Journal of Environmental Management 240, 66-74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2019.03.075.
- Haarder, E.B., Albers, C., Olsen, P., Jacobsen, P.R., Iversen, B., Rosenbom, A.E., 2019. The Danish Pesticide Leaching Assessment Programme: Site characterization and monitoring design of the Lund field. Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland, Copenhagen, Denmark.
- Hinsby, K., Jørgensen, L.F., 2009. Groundwater monitoring in Denmark and the Odense Pilot River Basin in relation to EU legislation. In: Ph. Quevauviller et al. (eds) Groundwater Monitoring, Wiley.
- Hinsby, K., Markager, S., Kronvang, B., Windolf, J., Sonnenborg, T.O., Thorling, L., 2012, Threshold values and management options for nutrients in a catchment of a temperate estuary with poor ecological status. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences, v. 16, pp 2663-2683. DOI: 10.5194/hess-16-2663-2012
- Hinsby, K., Højberg, A.L., Engesgaard, P., Jensen, K.H., Larsen, F., Busenberg, E., Plummer, L.N., 2007.
 Transport and degradation of chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs) in the pyritic Rabis Creek aquifer, Denmark. Water Resources Research.





- Jakobsen, R., Hinsby, K, Aamand, J., van der Keur, P., Kidmose, J, Purtschert, R., Jurgens, B., Sültenfuss, J., Albers, C.N., 2020. History and Sources of Co-Occurring Pesticides in an Abstraction Well Unraveled by Age Distributions of Depth-Specific Groundwater Samples. Env. Sci. Techn., 54, 158-165.
- Jessen, S., D. Postma, L. Thorling, S. Müller, J. Leskelä, P. Engesgaard ,2017. Decadal variations in groundwater quality: A legacy from nitrate leaching and denitrification by pyrite in a sandy aquifer, Water Resour. Res., 53, doi:10.1002/2016WR018995.
- Kim, H, Høyer, A-S., Jakobsen, R., Thorling, L., Aamand, J., Maurya, P., Christiansen, A., Hansen, B., 2019, 3D characterization of the subsurface redox architecture in complex geological settings. Science of the total Environment, 693, 133583.
- Koch, J., Stisen, S., Refsgaard, J.C., Ernstsen, V., Jakobsen, P.R., Højberg, A.L., 2019. Modelling depth of the redox interface at high resolution at national scale using Random Forest and residual Gaussian simulation. Water Resour. Res., <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2018WR023939</u>
- Larsbo, M., 2005. An improved dual-permeability model of solute transport in structured soils. Uppsala: Sveriges lantbruksuniv., Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae, 1652-6880; 2005:51. ISBN 91-576-6950-3.
- Lindhardt, B., Abildtrup, C., Vosgerau, H., Olsen, P., Torp, S., Iversen, B.V., Jørgensen, J.O., Plauborg, F., Rasmussen, P. and Gravesen, P. (2001): The Danish Pesticide Leaching Assessment Programme: Site characterization and monitoring design, Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland.
- NERI, 2004. NOVANA, Det nationale program for overvågning af vandmiljøet og naturen. Programbeskrivelse. Faglig rapport fra DMU nr. 495.
- NERI, 2007a. NOVANA det Nationale Program for Overvågning af Vandmiljøet og Naturen. Programbeskrivelse del 1, 2 og 3. Faglig rapport fra Danmarks Miljøundersøgelser nr. 495 og 508.
- NERI, 2007b. Det nationale program for overvågning af vandmiljøet og naturen. Programbeskrivelse 2007-2009. Faglig rapport fra DMU nr. 615, 2007.
- NERI, 2010. Program NOVANA 2010. Opdatering af faglig rapport nr. 615 fra DMU Programbeskrivelse for NOVANA del 2. NOTAT, 31. maj 2010.
- Nilsson, B., Kronvang, B. van't Veen, S., Troldborg, L., Thorling L., Boutrup, S., Larsen, M.M., Rasmussen, J., Hinsby, K, Kazmierczak, J., 2019. Vurdering af grundvandets kemiske påvirkning af vandløb og kystvande. GEUS report 2019/2.
- Postma, D., Boesen, C., Kristiansen, H., Larsen, F., 1991. Nitrate Reduction in An Unconfined Sandy Aquifer - Water Chemistry, Reduction Processes, and Geochemical Modelling. Water Resour. Res. 1991, 27 (8), 2027–2045.
- Rosenbom, A.E., Olsen, P., Plauborg, F., Grant, R., Juhler, R.K., Brüsch, W., Kjær, J., 2015. Pesticide leaching through sandy and loamy fields - Long-term lessons learnt from the Danish Pesticide Leaching Assessment Programme. Environmental Pollution 201: 75-90.
- Rosenbom, A.E., Haarder, E.B., Badawi, N., Gudmundsson, L., v. Platten-Hallermund, F., Hansen, C.H., Nielsen, C.B., Plauborg, F. and Olsen, P., 2017: The Danish Pesticide Leaching Assessment Programme: Monitoring results May 1999-June 2016. Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland. Copenhagen.
- Rosenbom, A.E., Binning, P.J., Aamand, J., Dechesne, A., Smets, B.F., Johnsen, A.R., 2014, <u>Does</u> <u>microbial cm-scale heterogeneity impact pesticide degradation in and leaching from loamy</u> <u>agricultural soils?</u>, Science of the Total Environment, vol. 472, pp. 90-98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.11.009.
- Schullehner, J., Hansen, B., 2014. Nitrate exposure from drinking water in Denmark over the last 35 years. Environmental Research Letters 9 095001 doi:10.1088/1748-9326/9/9/095001 (11-1-19).





- Suckow, A., 2014. The age of groundwater-definitions, models, and why we do not need this term. Appl. Geochem. 50: 222–230.
- Thorling, L., Hansen, B., Johnsen, A.R., Larsen, C.L., Larsen, F., B., Mielby, S., Troldborg, L., 2016. Grundvand. Status og udvikling 1989 – 2015. Technical report, GEUS 2015. www.geus.dk/media/16356/g-o-2015.pdf
- Thorling, L., Ditlefsen, D., Ernstsen, V., Hansen, B., Johnsen, A.R., Troldborg, L., 2019. Grundvand. Status og udvikling 1989 – 2018. Technical report, GEUS 2019. <u>https://www.geus.dk/media/22654/grundvand1989-2018-endelig.pdf</u>
- Troldborg, L., Refsgaard, J.C., Jensen, K.H., Engesgaard, P., Hinsby, K., 2008. Use of environmental tracers in hydrological modeling of complex aquifers. J. Hydrol. Engineering ASCE, 1037-1048.
- Vervloet, L.S.C., Binning, P.J., Borgesen, C.D., Hojberg, A.L., 2018. Delay in catchment nitrogen load to streams following restrictions on fertilizer application, SCI. TOTAL ENV. 627: 1154-1166, DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.01.255.

Links:

Groundwater monitoring homepage http://www.geus.dk/vandressourcer/overvaagningsprogrammer/grundvandsovervaagning

National redoxinterface map:

https://data.geus.dk/geusmap/?lang=da&mapname=denmark#baslay=baseMapDa&optlay=&extent

<u>11628.551440329175,5934760.653254077,1126628.5514403293,6515239.346745923&layers=redox</u> <u>dybde 100m grid</u>





6 CASE STUDY UK

6.1 Description of Monitoring network

6.1.1 National scale groundwater quality monitoring data

In the UK there exists a large body of saturated groundwater quality data at the national scale held by the Environment Agency in England. A subset of this is reported online as the Environment Agency's OpenWIMS data (<u>https://environment.data.gov.uk/water-quality/view/landing</u>) Data are derived from observation boreholes and public water supply wells and consist of a wide range of denitrification indicator species (N-species, trace metals, O and S species, DOC and pH). This data has been used for trend and compliance analysis and reported extensively elsewhere (see, for example, Stuart et al. (2007)). In this case study, we report the use of this data to assess attenuation processes (see section 6.3), as well as the use of porewater profiles to assess unsaturated zone time lags herein.

6.1.2 Porewater profiles

In the past 40 years, extensive research has been undertaken into the transport and fate of nitrate in the unsaturated zone in the UK. A key component of this research has been the sequential coring of boreholes through the unsaturated zone at different sites to derive repeated concentration-depth porewater profiles for nitrate, tritium and other species. The profiles have been used to evaluate both travel times for nitrate and the extent of any denitrification in the unsaturated zone.

Boreholes were cored for specific research projects in the UK associated with nitrate pollution of groundwater (e.g. commissioned projects for water companies, university research, LOCAR, WRc investigations), and whilst this is likely to have resulted in some sampling bias, the major aquifers of the UK (Chalk, Permo-Triassic sandstones and Middle Jurassic (including Lincolnshire) Limestone) have all been investigated. BGS has collated the resulting profile data into national level databases as reported by Moreau et al. (2004) and further developed by Stuart (2005). Analysis of these profiles have significantly improved our understanding of contaminant fate and transport through the unsaturated zone across different hydrogeological settings.

Figure 6.1 shows the spatial distribution of nitrate porewater profiles in England in relation to the most important aquifers in the UK. In total the BGS porewater profile database holds 52,260 individual records of quality data, derived from 102 unique sites. The database has 389 nitrate profiles and 60 tritium profiles (Stuart, 2005). As well as sites in the Chalk, Permo-Triassic sandstones and Lincolnshire Limestone, profiles also exist for overlying Quaternary deposits (principally glaciofluvial deposits in East Anglia and silty loess sands in Jersey) and the Oxford Clay.

The porewater profiles held in the database have been used extensively for the development and validation of models of national and local scale models of nitrate transport and storage in the unsaturated zone (Ascott et al., 2016; Stuart et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2012). The rest of this chapter outlines the data further, and application of this data to models will be detailed in HOVER WP5 Deliverable 5.3.







Figure 6.1 Locations of profile sites and major aquifers. Reproduced after Stuart et al. (2016).

6.2 Information about travel times in the saturated and unsaturated zones

Sequential nitrate and tritium concentration-depth profiles for the same site have been used to estimate travel times in the unsaturated zone. This is illustrated in *Figure 6.2* for a site in the Chalk, where the main peak has migrated from about 3 m depth to about 5 m over 2.5 years, a rate of downwards movement of about 0.8 m per year.

Table 6.1 shows the range of unsaturated zone velocities for the Chalk, Permo-Triassic sandstones and Lincolnshire Limestone aquifers derived using this approach, as well as effective rainfall and matrix porosity for each lithology. Estimations of unsaturated zone velocity using a simple piston flow model with effective rainfall and matrix porosity are reasonably close to measured values, with similar measured values also reported in Belgium (Brouyère et al., 2004) and France (Chen et al., 2019). Unsaturated zone velocities (c. 1 m/year in vertical direction) are several orders of magnitude lower than saturated zone velocities in horizontal direction, however it should be noted that this does not take into account bypass flow in the unsaturated zone.





It should be noted that in this research no estimations of saturated zone travel times have been made. However, saturated zone travel times have been estimated using regional groundwater models and particle tracking across the UK by the Environment Agency in the derivation source protection zones for public water supplies. For further information the reader is referred to Environment Agency (2014).



Figure 6.2 a) Typical early nitrate profiles for the Chalk and subsequent sequential reprofiling (from Foster et al., 1986) and b) Sequential porewater profiles for tritium (from Geake and Foster, 1989). Reproduced after Stuart et al. (2016).

Table 6.1 Rates of unsaturated water movement for selected major aquifers (measured ranges from Chilton and Foster (1991), mean porosity values from Bloomfield et al. (1995) and Allen et al. (1997), mean unsaturated zone velocity values calculated. Modified after Stuart et al. (2016).

	Porosity (%)		Effective rainfall (mm year-1)		Unsaturated zone velocity (m year-1)	
	Range	Mean	Range	Mean	Range	Mean
White Chalk	25-45	33.1	150-350	250	0.3-1.4	0.76
Grey Chalk		27.9		250		0.90
Lincolnshire Limestone	10-25	18	150-250	200	0.6-2.5	1.11
Permo-Triassic Sandstone	15-35	26	200-350	275	0.6-2.3	1.06

6.3 Information about attenuating processes in the subsurface

6.3.1 Evidence for denitrification in the unsaturated zone

In addition to estimation of unsaturated zone travel times, porewater profiles have also been used to determine the extent of denitrification in the unsaturated zone. Applied to sites in the Chalk and Permo-Triassic sandstones, Kinniburgh et al. (1994) used profile data to derive a nitrate mass balance





for the unsaturated zone. This was combined with measurements of gaseous and dissolved denitrification indicators to determine extent of denitrification. It was concluded that denitrification below the soil zone in the unsaturated zone is insignificant in relation to the nitrate fluxes passing through the unsaturated zone, and that all the nitrate will eventually reach the saturated zone. No evidence for autotrophic denitrification as a result of pyrite oxidation was found.

Other field studies have suggested that just 1-2% of the nitrate load to the unsaturated zone is denitrified (Rivett et al., 2008), and that there is also limited evidence for denitrification in unconfined saturated aquifers. As such low nitrate concentrations may be due to dilution, lack of pollution or to slow transport of plumes.

6.3.2 Saturated zone denitrification mapping

Stuart et al. (2018) used Environment Agency groundwater quality data in conjunction with mapping of the extent of aquifers below confining strata to derive maps of denitrification potential in groundwater at the national scale in England. The method used by Stuart et al. (2018) will also be detailed in deliverable 5.4 of HOVER, but this is briefly outlined here for the purposes of making preliminary comparisons between pilot areas in chapter 12.

The overarching approach developed by Stuart et al. (2018) is detailed in *Figure 6.3*. In the UK there are 2 principal settings where denitrification in groundwater can occur: (1) where bedrock aquifers are confined by other bedrock formations, and (2) where bedrock aquifers are overlain by low permeability quaternary (superficial) deposits. The approach aims to identify the potential for denitrification to occur within each of these two settings for different aquifers. This is achieved by use of a semi-quantitative scoring system for each aquifer and setting based on concentrations of indicator species to derive a "redox" score and monitoring point coverage to derive a "confidence" score. This is then supplemented by scoring of individual monitoring points in each setting to assist users in interrogating the maps.



Figure 6.3 Schematic of the approach to mapping denitrification potential at the national scale developed by Stuart et al. (2018).

The first step was to map the distribution of aquifers where confined by other bedrock formations ("subcrop") or overlain by low permeability superficial deposits. Groundwater quality data were then extracted from the Environment Agency database, selecting only data from sites that report which aquifer the boreholes sample (some sites do not report the aquifer, depth of sample or confinement). For each site, the temporal mean of each determinant was taken, and then each site was then assigned one of two settings based on the location of the borehole: (1) outcrop overlain by low permeability superficial deposits or (2) confined by bedrock. Based on the available determinants in the Environment Agency database and the approach of McMahon and Chapelle (2008), a bespoke set of indicator species and concentrations were developed as criteria for low redox conditions which would favour denitrification. For each aquifer and setting above, a redox score was assigned based on how observed concentrations in boreholes compare to these criteria. The area covered by monitoring





points was calculated for each aquifer and setting to assign "confidence" score. The redox score and the confidence score were then combined to derive a final denitrification potential score. Denitrification potential scores were also derived for individual points and overlain on the aquifers. This helps users interrogate the maps as they show the extent of monitoring coverage for each aquifer and category. Concentrations of four indicator species (TON, NH₄, dissolved Fe and Mn) relative to the criteria used for the aquifer-level mapping were used.

Table 6.2 shows the results of the denitrification potential mapping for selected aquifers at the aquiferlevel. There is widespread potential for denitrification in groundwater across England, particularly in the Chalk where confined by bedrock or low permeability superficial deposits. However, it should be noted that the extent of denitrification is likely to be variable within individual aquifers. Figure 6.4 shows the final map product for the Chalk of England showing both the aquifer-level mapping and the overlying individual monitoring points. Individual monitoring points with high and medium denitrification potential map well to areas of the Chalk where confined by bedrock or overlain by low-permeability superficial deposits.

Table 6.2 Summary of evidence for denitrification potential in selected bedrock aquifers. Derived fromStuart et al. (2018)

	Denitrification potential in subcrop bedrock			Denitrification potential in outcrop overlain by low permeability superficial deposits					
Aquifer group	Low redox in confined zone supported by monitoring data	Confiden ce from coverage	Potent ial	Low redox below superficials supported by monitoring data	Confidence from coverage	Potent ial			
Chalk	Yes	High	High	Yes	High	High			
Upper Greensand	Yes	High	High	No	Medium	Low			
Lower Greensand	Yes	High	High	No	Medium	Low			
Corallian	Yes	High	High	No	Low	NC			
Oolite	Yes	High	High	No	Medium	Low			
Zechstein (Mag Lmst)	No	Medium	Low	Yes	High	High			
Carbonifer ous	Yes	High	High	Yes	Medium	High			
Dinantian (Lower Carb)	No	Low	NC	Yes	Low	NC			







Figure 6.4 Denitrification potential map for the Chalk of England. Reproduced after Stuart et al. (2018).

6.4 Combined analysis of transport and attenuating processes in the pilot area

The sequential coring of boreholes at the same site and measurement of porewater concentrations has significantly improved our understanding of nitrate transport and attenuating processes in the





unsaturated zone. Repeated nitrate and tritium profiles have shown that unsaturated zone velocities are c. 1 m/year in the Chalk, Permo-Triassic sandstones and Lincolnshire Limestone aquifers. These broadly agree with simple estimates of unsaturated zone velocities derived using effective rainfall, matrix porosity and a piston flow model. Estimation of a nitrate mass balance based on the profiles in conjunction with measurement of denitrification indicator species has shown that denitrification in the unsaturated zone (both heterotrophic and autotrophic) is likely to be insignificant, with just 1-2% of the nitrate load from the base of soil zone removed. The profile data collated in this research has been used extensively in the development and validation of models of nitrate storage and transport in the unsaturated zone, which will be detailed in D5.3. Groundwater quality monitoring data held by the Environment Agency in England has been used to develop national scale maps of denitrification potential in groundwater, which will be detailed further in D5.4.

6.5 Testing approaches to harmonized, processed data for supraregional evaluations

In this chapter, data used to characterize unsaturated zone travel times and denitrification in the saturated zone in UK have been reported. Chapter 12 provides an aggregation and overview of the different approaches taken in the HOVER WP5 pilots. Here we put the UK pilot in context, and briefly consider how the approaches could be used in harmonised supra-regional evaluations.

Both the UK and France have similar monitoring of unsaturated zone profiles to derive travel times. Going forward, it may be possible to evaluate unsaturated zone travel times across a number of pilot areas. Moreover, in countries where the unsaturated zone is less significant (e.g. Netherlands, Denmark), it may be possible to compare shallow saturated zone vertical velocities with UK/France unsaturated zone velocities. Combining the UK and France unsaturated zone velocity estimates in this deliverable with conceptual models of the unsaturated zone reported in D5.1 and the global modelling of nitrate transport by Ascott et al. (2017), it may be possible to present European maps of where nitrate in the unsaturated zone is likely to be significant.

The methodology used in the UK for mapping denitrification potential uses national scale datasets for groundwater quality. In these databases, the borehole depth, screen depth, extent of confinement and sometimes the aquifer is not known. It would therefore be challenging to adopt and approach similar to that applied in the Netherlands where a denitrification depth has been derived. The UK method is conceptually similar to classification-tree approaches such as that used in France, particularly the scoring and overlaying of individual monitoring points. It may be possible to adopt such an approach across a number of pilot areas.

6.6 References

- Allen, D.J., Brewerton, L.J., Coleby, L.M., Gibbs, B.R., Lewis, M.A., MacDonald, A.M., Wagstaff, S.J.,
 Williams, A.T., 1997. The physical properties of major aquifers in England and Wales, British
 Geological Survey Technical Report WD/97/34, Environment Agency R&D Publication 8.
- Ascott, M.J., Wang, L., Stuart, M.E., Ward, R.S., Hart, A., 2016. Quantification of nitrate storage in the vadose (unsaturated) zone: a missing component of terrestrial N budgets. Hydrol. Processes, 30(12): 1903-1915. DOI:10.1002/hyp.10748
- Bloomfield, J., Brewerton, L., Allen, D., 1995. Regional trends in matrix porosity and dry density of the Chalk of England. Quarterly Journal of Engineering Geology and Hydrogeology, 28(Supplement 2): S131-S142.





- Brouyère, S., Dassargues, A., Hallet, V., 2004. Migration of contaminants through the unsaturated zone overlying the Hesbaye chalky aquifer in Belgium: a field investigation. J. Contam. Hydrol., 72(1): 135-164. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconhyd.2003.10.009</u>
- Chen, N., Valdes, D., Marlin, C., Blanchoud, H., Guerin, R., Rouelle, M., Ribstein, P., 2019. Water, nitrate and atrazine transfer through the unsaturated zone of the Chalk aquifer in northern France. Sci. Total Environ., 652: 927-938. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.10.286</u>
- Chilton P.J., Foster S.S.D. (1991) Control of Ground-Water Nitrate Pollution in Britain by Land-Use Change. In: Bogárdi I., Kuzelka R.D., Ennenga W.G. (eds) Nitrate Contamination. NATO ASI Series (Series G: Ecological Sciences), vol 30. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg
- Foster, S.S.D., Bridge, L.R., Geake, A.K., Lawrence, A.R., Parker, J.M., 1986. The groundwater nitrate problem: a summary of research on the impact of agricultural land-use practices on groundwater quality between 1976 and 1985. 86/2, British Geological Survey.
- Geake, A.K., Foster, S.S.D., 1989. Sequential isotope and solute profiling in the unsaturated zone of British Chalk. Hydrol. Sci. J., 34(1): 79-95.
- Kinniburgh, D.G., Gale, I.N., Gooddy, D.C., Darling W.G., Marks R.J., Gibbs B.R., Coleby L.M, Bird M.J., West J.M, 1994. Denitrification in the unsaturated zones of the British Chalk and Sherwood Sandstone aquifers, British Geological Survey, Keyworth, UK.
- Moreau, M.F., Gallagher, A.J., Stuart, M.E., 2004. Databasing of nitrate pore-water profiles and timeseries data, British Geological Survey, Keyworth, UK.
- Rivett, M.O., Buss, S.R., Morgan, P., Smith, J.W., Bemment, C.D., 2008. Nitrate attenuation in groundwater: a review of biogeochemical controlling processes. Water Res., 42(16): 4215-4232.
- Stuart, M.E., 2005. Development of nitrate profiles database, British Geological Survey, Keyworth.
- Stuart, M.E., Ward, R.S., Ascott, M.J., Hart, A., 2016. Regulatory practice and transport modelling for nitrate pollution in groundwater, British Geological Survey, Keyworth, UK.
- Wang, L., Stuart, M.E., Bloomfield, J.P., Butcher, A.S., Gooddy, D.C., McKenzie, A.A., Lewis, M.A., Williams, A.T., 2012. Prediction of the arrival of peak nitrate concentrations at the water table at the regional scale in Great Britain. Hydrol. Processes, 26(2): 226-239. DOI:10.1002/hyp.8164





7 CASE STUDY FRANCE

7.1 Description of monitoring network

Monitoring of water quality

French waters have been under increasing scrutiny since the 1970s, and the European Water Framework Directive (WFD) of 23 October 2000 marked a turning point in the monitoring strategy. It requires in particular the establishment of monitoring programs of the state of the waters in all Member States.

In France, monitoring programs (of water status - watercourses, water bodies, transitional waters, coastal waters, groundwater) have been implemented in each watershed since 2007.

The technical coordination of the development of data production methods was entrusted to the ONEMA (French National Agency for Water and Aquatic Environments) and since 2016 to the AFB (French Agency for Biodiversity).

The establishment of monitoring programs has led to the establishment of a monitoring control network, to obtain a picture of the general state of the waters. The network is composed of 1940 stations on groundwater, spread over the entire French territory and represent the different types of water bodies. In groundwater, quantitative and chemical data are collected. Additionally, operational controls specifically track groundwater bodies that may not meet environmental objectives. They include 1608 stations on groundwater (including 702 stations from the monitoring network).

For groundwater, the assessment of the state of the water is based on the quantitative status and the chemical status. The good state is reached by a body of groundwater when its quantitative status and its chemical status are at least "good".

7.1.1 ADES: French National Data Base on Groundwater Public Service on Water Information

The French National Database for quantitative and qualitative data on groundwater resources has an open access web portal (Web access: <u>www.ades.eaufrance.fr</u>).

The ADES project is coordinated by the French National Geological Survey (BRGM) together with the main French major stakeholders (Ministries in charge of the Environment and Health) and the French National Agency for Water and Aquatic Environments, and since 2016 to the AFB (French Agency for Biodiversity).

ADES provides public access to water quality and groundwater levels collected, mapped results, metadata, and series of information updates. As a one-stop access point to relevant information, it is an essential tool for optimal management of groundwater resources, to enhance understanding of groundwater evolution and contribute solutions for local, national pressing societal and European requirements.

Groundwater monitoring networks

Data are collected from representative monitoring stations from over 70 000 stations scattered all over the country. These stations measure key components of groundwater quality (qualitometers), or groundwater level (piezometers). Some stations can insure both measurements.

Many partners take part in supplying ADES data base: ministry in charge of health (data on raw water groundwater quality, within the sanitation control program); regional services of the ministry in charge of Environment; water agencies and water offices in overseas regions; water suppliers; territorial collectivises; private companies (within under the regulations of Installations Classified for the Protection of the Environment and polluted sites); French National Geological Survey (BRGM) with the regional services.

In ADES, two networks gather nitrate and pesticides data:

- National network for qualitative monitoring of groundwater;





- National monitoring network of the Nitrates Directive for groundwater.

National network for qualitative monitoring of groundwater (RNESQ)

The Water Framework Directive has defined two types of quality control on groundwater bodies:

- the "surveillance control network" (RCS) is comparable to a patrimony knowledge network (monitoring of all groundwater bodies),

- the "operational control network" (RCO), designed to monitor the impacts and policies implemented on groundwater bodies that may not achieve the "good status".

The frequency of measurements corresponds to samples taken at least twice a year in the case of unconfined aquifers and once a year in confined aquifers. It measures the classical physicochemical parameters (pH, temperature, conductivity, nitrates, chlorides, sulphates ...) and analyses the organic micropollutants (pesticides, PAHs, ...) and minerals (metallic trace elements, ...) on raw water (untreated).

The results of the analyses performed as part of the groundwater quality measurement network are available on the ADES website.

National monitoring network of the Nitrates Directive for groundwater (RNESOUNO3)

The monitoring of nitrate concentrations in French groundwater is carried out under the Nitrates Directive, Directive n ° 91/676 / EEC of 12 December 1991 to delimit vulnerable zones and to evaluate the implementation of the action programs. The points are selected for each campaign by the DREAL in collaboration with the Water Agencies. The points are part of existing networks, mainly in the WFD networks (monitoring networks and operational control networks) but also in the national monitoring network for sanitary control on raw water used for the production of drinking water and in local networks of local authorities.



Figure 7.1 Illustration of the National monitoring network of the Nitrates Directive for groundwater (RNESOUNO3) in metropolitan territory and Corsica (screenshot taken from the ADES website)





The 2 networks summarized in a few numbers:

- Quality network: approximately 2600 water points;
- Nitrate network: approximately 3000 water points;
- The 2 networks together: approximately 3900 water points.

Of the 3900 water points, 1230 (32 %) are less than 20 mbs deep, the others are deeper. This distribution is consistent with the heterogeneity of aquifers. The average depth of the boreholes (50 mbs) is not a relevant indicator for French case study. The French aquifers have very variable depths, and this influences the borehole depths. Some boreholes are a few meters deep while others are more than one kilometre deep.

The technical sections of the boreholes, and therefore the position of the screens (their top, bottom, length) are not inputted into our national databases.

French aquifers are not necessarily captured in their entirety, it depends on the date of drilling, the habits and customs of drillers and owners and especially the geological and hydrogeological contexts. Considering the 2 combined networks, 2744 water points (70 %) are used by water production plants and only 174 water points (5 %) are used just for monitoring water quality. The other uses are mainly divided between agricultural (5 %), collective (4 %), industrial (2 %) and domestic (2 %) uses.

7.1.2 Recent BRGM studies at national scale about nitrate and pesticide pressure-impact

For the territory of metropolitan France, two recent studies exist at French national level to assess and characterize the pressure-impact of nitrate and pesticide use:

- For nitrate: Gourcy et al, 2017 (BRGM/RP-67428-FR);
- For pesticide: Auterives and Baran, 2017 (BRGM/RP-67453-FR).

This work was difficult to achieve as there is no geological and hydrogeological and agro-pedo-climatic homogeneity at the French metropolitan territory. As an illustration of this heterogeneity, below is the map of simplified hydrogeological formations at the French metropolitan territory. The map (Figure 7.2) represent the first aquifers that can be affected by nitrate and / or pesticide pressures.

These types of studies also exist for the French overseas departments (Guadeloupe, Martinique, La Réunion, Mayotte).







Figure 7.2 Main types of aquifer and no-aquifer formations identified as concerned by the nitrate and/or pesticides problematic in metropolitan France and Corsica.

7.1.3 Complementary local studies to national monitoring networks

There exist in France a large amount of local studies, notably for groundwater resources (springs, boreholes) used to supply drinking water to the population in order to better characterize and know the underground resources, often using multidisciplinary approaches, for springs or boreholes with concentrations close to or above the limit value of 50 mg/L in nitrate, in order to set up relevant catchment protection areas, to implement agri-environmental measures. We can also mention action plans against diffuse pollution at the scale of the watershed. Nevertheless, there is no synthesis of all these local studies and all the quality data resulting from a specific and localized study that does not belong to a monitoring network, are not necessarily available in the database ADES.

7.2 Information about travel times in the unsaturated and saturated zones

7.2.1 Unsaturated zone experiments

Several types of experiments have been performed in the unsaturated zone. These experiments are usually based on surveys to establish soil nitrogen profiles at different depths. Soil profiles linking nitrate concentration, water content, tritium activities and sometimes some major elements or traces were performed. Experiment sites are located in sedimentary formations, generally in the basin of Paris; the map below shows their location (figure 7.3).







Figure 7.3 Location of the experimental study sites in French metropolitan territory where transfer speeds through the unsaturated zone were calculated by the BGRM.

Below is an example of a survey made in Northern of France in 2013. Soil profiles show that concentrations fluctuate in response to agricultural practices varying over the years and also in response to rainfalls. For the study plots, nitrate inputs to soil are less important today than in the past. However, they remain higher than those observed in the plot without fertilization used as a reference (follow period, Figure 7.4). Thanks to the data provided by farmers, values of nitrogen fertilization have been used to calculate the surpluses and deficits of fertilization, year by year and culture by culture on the plot. This work shows the impact of the fertilization on soil nitrate concentration over several years.







Figure 7.4 Geological log, water content and nitrogen concentration profiles in chalk of basin of Paris (from Surdyk et al., 2014, BRGM/RP-63714-FR).

The example of Brevilles (Figure 7.5) can also illustrate this work, it is extracted from Gutierrez and Baran, 2009. "The Brévilles spring is the main spring of a small aquifer of 12 km² in extension located 70 km west of Paris. The water table is mainly located in a sandy layer ("Cuise sands" – Upper Ypresian) overlying an impervious clay layer of 10 m thickness and overlain by heterogeneous marine clastic limestone of Lutetian age, becoming marly at the top of the formation. Bartonian sand and silicified limestone (millstones) occur in the highest places. Superimposed on the solid rocks are more recent loamy drift deposits of colluvium in shallow valleys, table-land loam covering part of the high ground, and stoneless drift soil covering the sand and clay around the site. Determining the impact of the unsaturated zone in the retardation and buffering of water flow is based on measurements made on cuttings recovered from the drilling. The samples collected during drilling were used for making watercontent profiles. The deepest unsaturated zones were found at two piezometers (Pz2 and Pz3). Their water-content profile clearly showed a decrease of water-content variability with depth. Data covering the monitoring of pesticide transfer in soil, the physico-chemical characteristics of soils, profiles of water contents, tritium activities, and nitrate concentrations measured on rock samples collected by drilling, were compared in order to describe the transfer time in soil and within several meters of unsaturated zone. The profiles of water content, tritium activity and nitrate concentration are presented in the illustration below. These two parameters, tritium activity and nitrate concentration, allow a rough estimation of the transfer velocity at around 0.5 m/year for tritium (position of the peak at Pz3) and of about 1 m/year when considering a start of fertilizer applications in the 1960s or the fastest tritium peak at Pz2. Thus, the nitrate and tritium profiles provide evidence that nitrate is stored in the unsaturated zone and that some of it migrates with variable, but still slow, velocities."







Figure 7.5 Water content, nitrate concentration and tritium activities versus depth along the unsaturated zone of Pz2 and Pz3 (from Gutierrez and Baran, 2009).

This type of experimentation on different types of geological formations with different climatic contexts leads to a knowledge of transfer speeds mainly for sedimentary formations (limestone, chalk, sands, etc.). To know the travel time, the transfer speed must be multiplied by the thickness of the unsaturated zone. This data can be obtained from the BRGM who has the piezometric maps and can calculate the unsaturated zone thickness using the digital terrain model.

7.2.2 Transfer times estimation in soil, unsaturated and saturated zones

On the French metropolitan territory and Corsica, the national report about the pressure-Impact of nitrate concentration is Gourcy et al., 2017 (BRGM/RP-67428-FR). The methodology applied to determine the transfer times is as follows.

One of the most important and delicate factors to estimate for groundwater is the pollutant transfer time through in soil, unsaturated and saturated zones. It can be estimated that nitrate transfer times in soil are low compared to transfer times in the unsaturated zone (ZNS) remainder and within the aquifers. The transfer times in unsaturated zones and in saturated zones are more or less important depending on the hydrogeological context and positioning of the measurement points within the basins (boreholes, springs, etc.). In this report, the time lag between pressure and impact has been addressed by two complementary methods; the estimation of the transfer times in the unsaturated zone and the apparent groundwater ages for the saturated zone, particularly in the fluvio-glacial zones.





7.2.2.1 Transfer time in the unsaturated zone

Several methods can be used for this estimate of the time of arrival at the saturated zone of nitrate aquifers from soils. Two methods have been selected and tested in France (Gourcy et al., 2017).

1st Method: Calculation of average residence time

This calculation of average residence time was initially developed for plant protection products. The method described by Rao et al. (1985) is based on the "piston" model, taking into account a real recharge coupled with delaying factors. These results are compared to field measurements, they are presented in the table 7.1 below.

 Table 7.1 Table of transfer speeds in unsaturated zone for some lithological contexts derived from field data or calculations according to RAO et al., 1985

Lithology	Transfer speed (m/year) – field measurements	Transfer speed (m/year) – calculations
Limestone	1.5	0.8
Chalk	0.45 to 1.25	1.31
Sands	3	0.83
Sandstone	1.8	0.885
Regolith / granite	2.5	0.375

2nd Method: Transfer time in the unsaturated zone from literature

Estimates of nitrate transfer times in the unsaturated zone may come from literature data, from analyses of nitrate concentration profiles obtained for the unsaturated zone or from validated modelling according to aquifer lithology and climate. A summary of the data collected in the literature for the French regions is presented in the table below.

Table 7.2 Table of estimation data of nitrate transfer speeds (in m/year) in unsaturated zone accordingto lithological contexts and French regions from the literature (according to Gourcy et al.,2017; BRGM/RP-67428-FR)

			Lith	ology Altered			
French regions	Chalk	Lœss	Silts	area of granites / arenites	and glaciofluvial	Flint clay	Bibliographic references
Artois - Picardie	0.54 - 1.45		0.4 - 0.5				Surdyk et al., 2014 and 2016 ; Serhal et al., 2006 ; Serhal, 2006 ; Caous et al., 1984 ; Bernard et al., 2005.
Somme	0.5 - 0.7						Normald et al., 1999.
Alsace		0.2 - 0.3					Baran et al., 2007
Champagne -Ardenne	0.27 – 0.7						Kerbaul et al., 1979 ; Chabart and Baran, 2005 ; Landreau and Morisot, 1983 ; Balif and Muller, 1983 : Seguin, 1986 ; Crampon et al., 1993 : Philipe, 2011.
Nord	1.25						Lacherez-Bastin, 2005
Nord-Pas-de Calais	0.5 - 1.95						Baillon et al., 2001
Bretagne				2 - 3			Limousin, 2006 ; Legout et al., 2006 ; Molenat et al., 2013
Normandie	0.35 - 0.64 to 2.5 (karst)						Arnaud et al., 2009 ; Crampon et al., 1993 ; Jauffret et al., 1984
Rhône-Alpes					4.7 - 6.5		Rousseau et al., 2016
Touraine	0.45					0.75	Landreau and Morisot, 1983.

A map of average nitrate transfer speeds per work unit was developed in Figure 7.6.






Figure 7.6: Average nitrate transfer speeds (m/year) in the unsaturated zone (from Gourcy et al., 2017; BRGM/RP-67428-FR)

By combining the thickness of the unsaturated zone and the of transfer time of nitrate through this same area, a transfer time calculated in years was obtained for 1613 units out of the 3631 covering the whole metropolitan territory and Corsica. The results of this calculation are shown in Figure 7.7. These transfer times only concern the matrix transport and therefore neglects a transfer through crack / fractures which is faster.







Figure 7.7 Nitrate transfer time (years) taking into account only the matrix porosity per unit of work (from Gourcy et al., 2017; BRGM/RP-67428-FR)

7.2.2.2 Geochemical tools used in France to determine average residence times and/or transfer times To characterize the transfer times in the soil and in the unsaturated and saturated zones, the following geochemical tools were used in French BRGM studies to provide a better understanding of the flow of water and solutes in aquifers: concentrations of major dissolved elements, stable isotopes of the water molecule (δ^{2} H and δ^{18} O), tritium activities and dissolved gases (CFC-11, CFC-12, CFC-113 and SF₆. Ar, N_2). These geochemical tools have been used per example in the plain of Ain to determine the average residence time of groundwater (Gourcy et al. 2011, BRGM/RP-59754-FR). These tools have been used also in different geological and hydrogeological contexts, per example the study (Gourcy et al., 2009) taken into account the whole volcanic island of Martinique, in French West Indie, in order to predict groundwater-quality trends in areas where the hydrogeological context is poorly known. The combination of ³H, CFCs and SF₆ for the dating of water is a relevant approach in case of complicated mixing scenarios. This method can provide the requested information in terms of contamination trends and the vulnerability of aquifers. Groundwater transfer in the island is quite slow with apparent ages over 10 years. In similar volcanic and anoxic environment where microbial degradation may strongly affect CFC concentration in groundwater, the use of the ${}^{3}H/{}^{3}He$ tool in addition to already presented methods would improve age-dating estimation. In a poorly known hydrogeological context, the measurement of noble gases (N₂, O₂, Ar) would help better constraining the recharge condition and therefore also improve the apparent age estimation.





7.2.2.3 Transfer time in the saturated zone

The recent study Gourcy et al., 2017 (BRGM/RP-67428-FR) realised on the metropolitan territory and Corsica synthesized the bibliographic references relating to the transfer time in the saturated zone. Within the aquifers, the transfer times between the recharge zone and the aquifer (approached by the boreholes / catchments where the measurements of nitrate concentrations or the springs, natural outlets) can be estimated by modelling or by dating the waters. Summaries of ages estimated by geochemical tools were performed on the Seine-Normandy basin (Lopez et al., 2012), Loire-Bretagne basin (Ayraud et al., 2008; Gutierrez et al., 2011; Molenat et al., 2013) and Rhône-Méditerranée basin (Gourcy et al., 2013). Further information has been obtained from publications or from PhD works (De Ridder, 2012; Aquilina and de Dreuzy, 2011; Jaunat et al., 2012; Delbart, 2013; Delbart et al., 2014; Leray et al., 2014; Briand, 2014; Marcais et al., 2015; Sassine, 2014; Santoni et al., 2016; Sassine et al., 2017).

Thus, it has been possible to collect information on the apparent ages of groundwater for some 800 well-characterized water points (coordinates and indication of the water body). In many cases, for the same body of water (or BDLISA entity), there is a varied range of estimated age depending on whether the points tracked are in the recharge zone, fracture / crack zone, deeper zone of the aquifer or in the outlet (Figure 7.8). For the bedrock aquifers in Bretagne, the average ages considered are those of the recharge zone and the weathered zone, because these are the sectors most sensitive to agricultural pressures.



Figure 7.8: Apparent age ranges available at the water point and body of water (from Gourcy et al., 2017; BRGM/RP-67428-FR)

The apparent ages estimated by geochemical tools were, however, directly used for alluvial and glaciofluvial aquifers. For the other contexts, and when possible, the transfer times through the





unsaturated zone have been taken into account in the calculation of the difference between nitrogen surplus and the arrival of nitrate in the saturated zone.



Figure 7.9 Map of average residence times for the alluvial aquifer (Plain of Ain) estimated using the exponential model from groundwater samples taken in 2008 and 2009 (from Gourcy et al. 2011, BRGM/RP-59754-FR).

7.3 Information about attenuating processes in the subsurface

We distinguish two types of mitigating factors for nitrate: attenuation through denitrification, and dilution or advective mixing. In this part, only the denitrification is presented, because mixing and dilution are already covered by the concepts used for calculating and estimating the apparent ages and average transit times.

7.3.1 Denitrification mapping

7.3.1.1 First approach in a BRGM report on a national scale

In Gourcy et al., 2017 (BRGM/RP-67428-FR), the method applied at the French metropolitan territory and Corsica for pressure-impact analysis of nitrate on groundwater is described. A classification tree method has been used, modified from Hinkle and Tesoriero, 2014. The following data has been taken into account: data extracted from the ADES database; physico-chemical parameters (dissolved oxygen content and redox potential); concentrations in elements sensitive to redox processes (Fe, Mn) and measured regularly in groundwater.







Figure 7.10 Classification tree applied to all the quality measurements in 2015 (modified according to Hinkle and Tesoriero, 2014). The locations of four different types of samples that have indication for denitrification (the green D's) are plotted as D1 to D4 in Figure 7.11

The results indicate 1532 water points likely to denitrify on the French metropolitan territory and Corsica. Their location is indicated by the map presented below. Areas with indications for denitrification include areas dominated by alluvial sands, clays and marls and marly limestones/chalk.



- D3 : concentrations en O2< 2 mg/l ,en Fer < 72 μg/l, Mn > ou = 140 μg/l
- D4 : concentrations en O2< 2 mg/l ,en Fer < 72 μg/l, Mn > ou = 140 μg/l et O2< 1 mg/l

Figure 7.11 Location of points capturing potentially denitrified groundwater (from Gourcy et al., 2017; BRGM/RP-67428-FR). Points with no signs of denitrification are not shown on this map.





7.3.1.2 Local studies of nitrate reduction by agronomists

A lot of agronomic studies exist in France. We can cite for example Paul et al., 2015. They use nitrate contents and their ¹⁵N isotopic signature to unravel denitrification processes. The concentration of chloride and sulphate, the content of mineral fertilizer, confirmed the reduction reaction of nitrate alone. These types of studies are not carried out by the BRGM.

7.4 Combined analysis of transport and attenuating processes in the pilot area

Based on experimental data, some work done to model the nitrate transfer in a context a possible denitrification. This modeling is based on the MARTHE model (Thiery, 2015), coupled with the agronomic model "MONICA" (MOdélisation des transferts de NItrates prenant en compte les Cultures et les pratiques Agricoles); it is described in Picot-Colbeaux et al., 2017 (BRGM/RP-66375-FR). A MARTHE-PHREEQC-RM coupling has also been realized (Thiery, 2015e).

The results of simulations show that the MARTHE-MONICA model can take into account, from the soil surface to the saturated zone, the flows and the transport of nitrate in solution while respecting the water and nitrogen balances of the soil and the subsoil. An example of modelling results is shown in Figure 7.12.



Figure 7.12 Initial state in vertical section of water content (A) and nitrate concentrations (B) in the MARTHE-MONICA model after 40 years (W-E orientation) (from Picot et al., 2017; BRGM/RP-66376-FR).





Because of the difficulty to acquire input data, modeling is rarely the preferred method in cases of strong denitrification when the study area is large (no more than one or two well catchments with one specific problem - area of the study area in km²). Methods based on statistical and geographical treatments are preferred for harmonization and comparison at a European scale.

7.5 Testing approaches to harmonized, processed data for supraregional evaluations

Considering the size of the country and the variety of agro-geological context, no French national approach has already been able to be done. The maximum scale possible is a regional scale, and we have only one example for the Artois-Picardie region. The most important nitrate transfer modelling work currently concerns the North of France only (Buscarlet et al., 2012); the illustration below (figure 7.13) shows the results of simulated nitrate concentrations by comparing them to observed values. Otherwise, if one wants to work at the French national level, a simplified approach is preferable, with a statistical calculation based on the results of the experiments. These approaches developed by the BRGM in a national report about the pressure-impact of nitrate (Gourcy et al, 2017; RP-67428-FR) and pesticides (Auterives and Baran, 2017; RP-67453-FR).



Figure 7.13 Comparison of the simulated and observed nitrate concentration for the month of October 2009, extract from Buscarlet et al., 2012 (BRGM/RP-61250-FR).





7.6 References

- Auterives C., Baran. N., 2017. Méthode appliquée à l'échelle nationale pour l'étude pression-impact des substances phytosanitaires sur les eaux souterraines. Rapport final. BRGM/RP-67453-FR, 97 p. http://infoterre.brgm.fr/rapports//RP-67453-FR.pdf
- Aquilina L., De Dreuzy J.R., 2011. Relationship of present saline fluid with paleomigration of basinal brines at the basement/sediment interface (Southeast basin France), Applied Geochemistry, 26(12), pp. 1933-1945.
- Ayraud V., Aquilina L., Labasque T., Pauwels H., Molenat J., Pierson-Wickmann A.C., Durand V., Bour O., Tarits C., Le Corre P., Fourre E., Merot P., Davy P., 2008. Compartmentalization of physical and chemical properties in hard-rock aquifers deduced from chemical and groundwater age analyses. Applied Geochemistry, 23(9), pp. 2686-2707
- Briand C., 2014. Approche multi-traceurs pour la détermination de l'origine des nitrates dans les eaux souterraines : exemple d'une source karstique dans les Landes. PhD Thesis, Université Pierre et Marie Curie, 262 p.
- Buscarlet E., Surdyk N., Pickaert L., Picot G., 2012. Modélisation de la nappe de la Craie du Nord-Pas de Calais. Modélisation simplifiée du transport des nitrates Etude des tendances par masse d'eau. Rapport BRGM. RP-61250-FR. 89 p.
- Delbart C., 2013. Variabilité spatio-temporelle du fonctionnement d'un aquifère karstique du Dogger : suivis hydrodynamiques et géochimiques multifréquences ; traitement du signal des réponses physiques et géochimiques. PhD Thesis, Université Paris Sud - Paris XI, 234 p.
- Delbart C., Barbecot F., Valdes D., Tognelli A., Fourre E., Purtshert R., Couchoux L., Jean-Baptiste P., 2014. Investigation of young water inflow in karst aquifers using SF6-CFC-H-3/He-Kr-85-Ar-39 and stable isotope components. Applied Geochemistry, 50, pp. 164-176.
- De Ridder J., 2012. Réponse des processus biogéochimiques d'une tourbière soumise à des fluctuations du niveau d'eau. Hydrology. PhD thesis, Université de Rennes 1, 222 p.
- Gourcy L., Baran N, Vittecoq B., 2009. Improving the knowledge of pesticide and nitrate transfer processes using age-dating tools (CFC, SF₆, ³H) in a volcanic island (Martinique, French West Indies). Journal of Contaminant Hydrology 108, (2009), pp. 107–117.
- Gourcy L., Buscarlet E., Baran N., Surdyk N., Thiery D., Levillon F., 2011. Caractérisation de l'inertie des systèmes aquifères vis-à-vis des pollutions diffuses d'origine agricole : application à la plaine de l'Ain. BRGM/RP-59754-FR, 86 p.
- Gourcy L., Lopez B., Baran N., Surdyk N., 2013. Estimation des tendances d'évolution des concentrations en nitrate et pesticides des eaux souterraines sur le bassin Rhône-Méditerranée. Rapport final. BRGM/RP-62461-FR, 261 p.
- Gourcy L., Pinson S., Surdyk N., 2017. Description de la méthode appliquée à l'échelle nationale pour l'analyse pression-impact du nitrate sur les eaux souterraines. Rapport final. BRGM/RP-67428-FR, 106 p. <u>http://infoterre.brgm.fr/rapports//RP-67428-FR.pdf</u>
- Gutierrez A., Baran N., 2009. Long-term transfer of diffuse pollution at catchment scale: Respective roles of soil, and the unsatured and satured zones (Brévilles, France). Journal of Hydrology 369, 2009, pp. 381-391.
- Gutierrez A., Lopez B., Surdyk N., Gourcy L., 2011. Transfert de nitrates à l'échelle du bassin d'alimentation de captages d'eau souterraine du bassin Loire-Bretagne : modélisation et datation. Rapport final. BRGM/RP-60280-FR, 147p.
- Hinkle S.R., Tesoriero A.J., 2014. Nitrogen speciation and trends, and prediction of denitrification extent, in shallow US groundwater. Journal of Hydrology, 509, pp. 343-353.
- Jaunat J., Huneau F., Dupuy. A., Celle-Jeanton H., Vergnaud-Ayraud V., Aquilina L., Labasque T., Le Coustumer P., 2012. Hydrochemical data and groundwater dating to infer differential





flowpaths through weathered profiles of a fractured aquifer. Applied Geochemistry, 27(10), pp. 2053-2067.

- Leray S., de Dreuzy J.R., Bour O., Labasque T., Aquilina L., 2012. Contribution of age data to the characterization of complex aquifer. Journal of Hydrology, 464-465, pp. 54-68.
- Lopez B., Baran N., Bourgine B., Brugeron A., Gourcy L., 2012. Pollution diffuse des aquifères du bassin Seine-Normandie par les nitrates et les produits phytosanitaires : temps de transfert et tendances. Rapport final. BRGM/RP-60402-FR, 326 p.
- Marcais J., De Dreuzy J.R., Ginn T.R., Rousseau-gueutin P., Leray S., 2015. Inferring transit time distributions from atmospheric tracer data: Assessment of the predictive capacities of Lumped Parameter Models on a 3D crystalline aquifer model. Journal of Hydrology, 525, pp. 619-631.
- Molenat J., Gascuel-Odoux C., Aquilina L., Ruiz L., 2013. Use of gaseous tracers (CFCs and SF6) and transit-time distribution spectrum to validate a shallow groundwater transport model. Journal of Hydrology, 480, pp. 1-9.
- Paul A., Moussa I., Payre V., Probst A., Probst J.L., 2015. Flood survey of nitrate behaviour using nitrogen isotope tracing in the critical zone of a French agricultural catchment. C. R. Geoscience 347 (2015), pp. 328-337.
- Picot-Colbeaux G., Devau N., Thiery D., Surdyk N., Parmentier M., Andre L., 2017. Modélisation du transfert des nitrates : transfert réactif et évolution spatio-temporelle dans la zone non saturée. BRGM/RP- 66375-FR, 151 p.
- Picot-Colbeaux G., Surdyk N., Péru H., Devau N., Thiery D., Parmentier M., Crastes de Paulet F., Touselet
 S., 2017. Caractérisation et modélisation des transferts de nitrates sur le bassin versant de
 Caix (60). Rapport final. BRGM/RP-66376-FR, 92 p.
- Rao P.S.C., Hornsby A.G., Jessup R.E., 1985. Indices for ranking the potential for pesticide contamination of groundwater. Soil & Crop Science Society of Florida - Proceedings, 44, pp 1-8.
- Rousseau M., Seguin J.J., Croiset N., Surdyk N., 2016. Modélisation du transfert des nitrates en zone non saturée dans les alluvions fluvio-glaciaires du couloir de Meyzieu (Rhône). Rapport final. BRGM/RP-66254-FR, 54 p.
- Santoni S., Huneau F., Garel E., Vergnaud-Ayraud V., Labasque T., Aquilina L., Jaunat J., Celle-Jeanton H., 2016. Residence time, mineralization processes and groundwater origin within a carbonated coastal aquifer with a thick unsaturated zone. Journal of Hydrology, 540, pp. 50-63.
- Sassine L., 2014. Occurrence des pesticides et des contaminants émergents dans une nappe alluviale. Contraintes apportées par l'origine et le temps de résidence de l'eau. Cas de la nappe de la Vistrenque. PhD Thesis, Université de Nîmes.
- Sassine L., Le Gal La Salle C., Khaska M., Verdoux P., Meffre P., Benfodda Z., Roig B., 2017. Spatial distribution of triazine residues in a shallow alluvial aquifer linked to groundwater residence time. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 24, 8, pp. 6878-6888.
- Surdyk N., Gourcy L., Baran N., Picot G., 2014. Etude du transfert des nitrates dans la zone non saturée et dans les eaux souterraines des aires d'alimentation de captage en Picardie, bassin Seine Normandie. Rapport provisoire. BRGM/RP-63714-FR, 114 p.
- Thiery D., 2015. Code de calcul MARTHE Modélisation 3D des écoulements dans les hydrosystèmes – notice d'utilisation de la version 7.5. BRGM/RP-64554-FR, 306 p.
- Thiery D., 2015e. Modélisation 3D du Transport Réactif avec le code de calcul MARTHE v7.5 couplé aux modules géochimiques de PHREEQC. Rapport BRGM/RP-65010-FR, 167 p.





8 CASE STUDY IRELAND

8.1 Description of Monitoring network

Groundwater quality data in Ireland is collected by a number of different state agencies. Since the 1960s groundwater quality data has been collected by the Geological Survey of Ireland (GSI) and local authorities for specific projects such as the protection of drinking water supplies and investigating the impacts of pollution events.

In the 1990s the Irish Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) set up the national groundwater quality monitoring network. The current groundwater quality monitoring network was updated substantially in 2006 to comply with Water Framework Directive requirements. Currently, the groundwater monitoring network comprises 293 monitoring points, of which 76 are springs (figure 8.1). A standard suite of 40 determinants, including field parameters, nutrients, major ions and certain minor and trace elements are analysed at each monitoring location within the monitoring network three to four times a year. These data are publicly available by request from the Environmental Protection Agency. For further details, the reader is referred to <u>www.epa.ie</u>.

In addition, Teagasc (Ireland's agricultural and food development agency) collect groundwater quality data from research farms and instrumented catchments for research purposes. This data is not publicly available. For further details, the reader is referred to <u>www.teagasc.ie</u>.



Figure 8.1 Location of monitoring points within the Irish EPA's national groundwater quality monitoring network





8.2 Information about travel times in the saturated and unsaturated zones

8.2.1 Age dating

Very limited groundwater age dating has been carried out in Ireland. It is generally assumed that given Ireland's (i) wet climate and (ii) fractured or karstic aquifers that most groundwater in Ireland is modern. Gallagher et al (2000) calculated the ages of groundwater near Belfast in Northern Ireland using ¹⁴C groundwater dating techniques. The majority of their results identified modern water, but two boreholes yielded water with age estimates greater than 10,000 year before present.

8.2.2 Travel time estimation

In Fenton et al, 2009, researchers from Teagasc (Ireland's agricultural and food development agency) and Trinity College Dublin used a number of different techniques to estimate vertical and horizontal nitrate travel times. The aim of the research was to estimate the "lag time" between introducing mitigation measures and first improvements in water quality in different Irish catchments. Vertical travel times were estimated using a combination of depth of infiltration calculations based on effective rainfall and subsoil physical parameters and existing hydrological tracer data. Horizontal travel times were estimated using a combination of Darcian linear velocity calculations and existing tracer migration data. Total travel times to a virtual surface water receptor 500m away, assuming no biogeochemical processes, ranged from months to decades between the contrasting sites. The shortest times occurred under thin soil/subsoil on karst limestone and the longest times through thick low permeability soils/subsoils over poorly productive aquifers.

Fenton et al. (2011) outlines a modeling methodology to provide estimates of nitrate time lags (including unsaturated and saturated travel times) that could be anticipated in common Irish hydrogeological settings. The model does not account for denitrification along the nitrate transport pathway.

Vero et al (2017) presents a framework for determining *unsaturated zone* water quality time lags on grassland and arable catchments in Ireland. The model does not account for denitrification along the nitrate transport pathway. The modeling predicted that (i) trends would be observed at the base of the soil profile months to years after the modeled implementation of WFD measures, and (ii) the full effects may years to decades to be observed.

8.3 Information about attenuating processes in the subsurface

Irish aquifers are deemed to have low attenuation potential due to their fractured or karstified nature. Thus, it is generally assumed that denitrification occurring in surface and subsoil deposits is more significant than denitrification in the bedrock.

8.3.1 Denitrification potential in unconsolidated deposits

Research has been carried out on the denitrification potential of unconsolidated deposits in Ireland. One example is Jahangir et al, 2012, who investigated potential denitrification rates and ratios of N₂O / (N₂O+N₂) in in-tact soil cores collected from A, B and C soils horizons from an intensively grazed grassland plot in SE Ireland. They found subsoils could have a large potential to attenuate nitrate that has leached below the root zone, with the production of more N₂ than N₂O, if available C is not limiting.





8.3.2 Denitrification potential in the bedrock

The Geological Survey of Ireland (GSI) developed a Potentially Denitrifying Bedrock map (GSI, 2011) to allow the Environment Protection Agency (EPA) and other decision makers to better assess the risk of surface water eutrophication from groundwater sources (EPA, 2013) as part of the implementation of the E.U. Water Framework Directive (WFD) (2008/98/EC).

In certain hydrogeological settings in Ireland, denitrification can occur. Denitrification reduces nitrate to nitrogen gas or, where the process is incomplete, the greenhouse gas nitrous oxide may be released. The GSI's Potentially Denitrifying Bedrock map (GSI, 2011) focuses on the denitrification of nitrate which occurs *in the bedrock* making use of electron donors present within the bedrock. This is in contrast to denitrification occurring *in the unconsolidated deposits* and shallow groundwater which has been shown to be significant in some settings in Ireland (e.g. Jahangir et al., 2012).



Figure 8.2 Geological Survey of Ireland's potentially denitrifying bedrock map

The GSI's Potentially Denitrifying Bedrock map (Figure 8.2) identifies bedrock units which are likely to contain electron donors such as organic carbon or metal sulphides (e.g. pyrite) and hence have the potential to reduce nitrate levels through microbially-assisted oxidation of the electron donor substances. The potential for denitrification is qualified through a scoring schema within the map, ranking bedrock units from "definitely containing compounds with the potential to denitrify" (1a) to "almost certainly not containing compounds that have the potential to denitrify" (2b).







Figure 8.3 Box and whisker plot of mean groundwater nitrate concentrations for each potential denitrifying category. See Figure 8.1 for category descriptions.



Figure 8.4 Principal component analysis indicates that soil type and land use have a greater influence on groundwater nitrate concentrations than potential denitrifying category.





A subset of groundwater monitoring data selected to minimize the influence of denitrification which may be occurring in the soils and unconsolidated deposits was analysed to appraise the GSI's Potentially Denitrifying Bedrock map (Tedd et al, 2016). Groundwater from aquifers which contain compounds that have the potential to denitrify (categories 1a and 1b) typically have lower groundwater nitrate concentration with a smaller range than groundwater from aquifers which do not (categories 2a, 2ab and 2b) (Figure 8.3). An analysis of variance (ANOVA) indicates that the difference in mean groundwater nitrate between the two groups is statistically significant (p value=0.023).

Multivariate analysis (principal component analysis) indicates mean groundwater nitrate concentration is associated with soil type (well drained soils), land use (cereal and livestock units) and aquifer type (locally important). In contrast mean ammonium is associated with soil type (poorly drained) and land use (peat) (Figure 8.4). The potential denitrifying bedrock category is a less significant parameter. This indicates that even for the subset of data, selected to minimise the influence of potential denitrification of soils and unconsolidated deposits, factors such as soil type and land use have a greater influence than the presence or otherwise of potentially denitrifying compounds in the bedrock aquifers.

8.3.3 Pollution Impact potential mapping

The Irish Environmental Protection Agency have produced a national suite of nutrient susceptibility maps which identify hydrogeologically susceptible areas. High hydro(geo)logically susceptible areas are areas from which nutrients have a high probability of reaching a water body of interest due to the underlying hydrogeological conditions. That is the areas that have significant pathway linkages from the source of pollution or pressure to surface water or groundwater receptors. Susceptibility maps are generated by linking data on soils, subsoils, groundwater vulnerability and aquifer types with nutrient attenuation and transport factors. These maps are now available for phosphate along the near surface pathway, and for nitrate along the near surface and groundwater pathways. Figure 8.5 shows the national sub surface nitrate susceptibility map.







Figure 8.5 Nitrate susceptibility map

The susceptibility maps are combined with nutrient loadings data provided by the Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine and the Central Statistics Office to produce Pollutant Impact Potential maps. For more information and further maps in the series the reader is referred to <u>www.catchments.ie</u> and Archbold et al, 2016.

8.4 Combined analysis of transport and attenuating processes in the pilot area

A number of site-specific investigations into the transport and attenuation processes of nitrate have been carried out in instrumented catchments in Ireland. Three examples are given here.

Jahangir et al, 2012, found the distribution of hydrogeochemical variables and their connection with the occurrence of nitrate provides better insights into the prediction of the environmental risk associated with nitrogen use within agricultural systems. Their research objective was to evaluate the effect of hydrogeological setting on agriculturally derived groundwater nitrate occurrence. Piezometers (n = 36) were installed at three depths across four contrasting agricultural research sites. Groundwater was sampled monthly for chemistry and dissolved gases, between February 2009 and January 2011. Mean groundwater nitrate ranged 0.7–14.6 mg/l as N, with site and groundwater depth being statistically significant (p < 0.001). Unsaturated zone thickness and saturated hydraulic conductivity were significantly correlated with dissolved oxygen (DO) and redox potential (Eh) across sites. Groundwater nitrate occurrence was significantly negatively related to DOC and methane and positively related with Eh and K_{sat}. Reduction of nitrate started at Eh potentials <150 mV while significant nitrate reduction occurred <100 mV. Indications of heterotrophic and autotrophic denitrification were observed through elevated dissolved organic carbon (DOC) and oxidation of metal bound sulphur, as indicated by sulphate. Land application of waste water created denitrification hot spots due to high DOC losses. Hydrogeological settings significantly influenced groundwater nitrate occurrence and suggested denitrification as the main control.





Orr et al. (2016) investigated the influence of hydrogeological setting on biogeochemical processes, aiming to characterise the dominant processes influencing nitrogen levels in groundwater in two Irish catchments underlain by bedrock aquifers with contrasting (physical and geochemical) hydrogeological properties, but having comparable nutrient loads and thin to no subsoil cover over much of their area. Their research considered the influence of spatial heterogeneity on biogeochemical processes within each catchment, both across the catchment and with depth. This was achieved through monitoring well tracer tests and the analysis of chemical and isotopic signatures of groundwater and surface water. They found that incorporating the knowledge gained concerning biogeochemical processes into water quality catchment management tools can prove fundamental in reducing the risk posed to groundwater and surface water receptors.

McAleer et al (2017) investigated two well drained agricultural catchments (10 km²) in Ireland with contrasting subsurface lithologies (sandstone vs. slate) and land use. Denitrification capacity was assessed by measuring concentration and distribution patterns of nitrogen (N) species, aquifer hydrogeochemistry, stable isotope signatures and aquifer hydraulic properties. A hierarchy of scale whereby physical factors including agronomy, water table elevation and permeability determined the hydrogeochemical signature of the aquifers was observed. This hydrogeochemical signature acted as the dominant control on denitrification reaction progress. High permeability, aerobic conditions and a lack of bacterial energy sources in the slate catchment resulted in low denitrification reaction progress (0–32%), high nitrate and comparatively low N₂O emission factors. In the sandstone catchment denitrification progress ranged from4 to 94% and was highly dependent on permeability, water table elevation, dissolved oxygen concentration solid phase bacterial energy sources. Denitrification of nitrate to N₂ occurred in anaerobic conditions, while at intermediate dissolved oxygen; N₂Owas the dominant reaction product. The denitrification observations across catchments were supported by stable isotope signatures. Stream nitrate occurrence was 32% lower in the sandstone catchment even though Nitrogen loading was substantially higher than the slate catchment.

8.5 References

- Archbold, M., Deakin, J., Bruen, M., Desta, M., Flynn, R., Kelly-Quinn, M., Gill, L., Maher, P., Misstear, B., Mockler, E., O'Brien, R., Orr, A., Packham, I., & Thompson, J. (2016). Contaminant Movement and Attenuation along Pathways from the Land Surface to Aquatic Receptors (Pathways Project), Synthesis Report 2007-WQ-CD-1-S1 STRIVE Report. Environmental Protection Agency. ISBN: 978-1-84095-622-1.
- EPA, 2013. A Risk-Based Methodology to Assist in the Regulation of Domestic Waste Water Treatment Systems. www.epa.ie.
- Owen Fenton, Catherine E. Coxon, Atul H. Haria, Brendan Horan, James Humphreys, Paul Johnson, Paul Murphy, Magdalena Necpalova, Alina Premrov and Karl G. Richards (2009). Variations in travel time for N loading to groundwaters in four case studies in Ireland: Implications for policy makers and regulators Tearmann: Irish journal of agri-environmental research, 7, 129-142, 2009
- Fenton O, Schulte RPO, Jordan P, Lalor STJ, Richards KG (2011) Time lag: a methodology for estimation of vertical and horizontal travel and flushing timescales to nitrate threshold concentrations in Irish aquifers. Environ Sci Policy 14(4):419–431
- D Gallagher, E J McGee, R M Kalin and P I Mitchell, 2000. Performance of models for radiocarbon dating of groundwater: An appraisal using selected Irish aquifers. Radiocarbon, Vol 42, Nr 2, p 235-248.

GSI, 2011. Bedrock units with the potential for denitrification. Unpublished report and map.

Jahangir, M.M.R. et al. 2012. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 147, 13–23.





- McAleer, E., Coxon, C., Richards, K. G., Jahangir, M., Grant, J. & Mellander, P. E. (2017). Groundwater nitrate reduction versus dissolved gas production: A tale of two catchments. Science of the Total Environment, 586, 372-389.
- Orr, A., Nitsche, J., Archbold, M., Deakin, J., Ofterdinger, U. & Flynn, R. (2016) The influence of bedrock hydrogeology on catchment-scale nitrate fate and transport in fractured aquifers, Science of The Total Environment, 569-570, p. 1040-1052.
- Tedd, K., Hunter-Williams, N., Coxon, C., Kelly, C., Carey, S., Doherty, D., Duncan, N., Raymond, S. (2016) Further development and appraisal of the Geological Survey of Ireland's Potentially Denitrifying Bedrock map. In Sofia Delin, Johanna Wetterlind, Helena Aronsson, Lena Engström and Georg Carlsson (Eds) 19th Nitrogen Workshop Efficient use of different sources of nitrogen in agriculture – from theory to practice (pp. 209-210) Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Department of Soil and Environment, Skara.
- Vero SE, Healy MG, Henry T, Creamer RE, Ibrahim TG, Richards KG, Mellander P-E, McDonald NT, Fenton O (2017) A flexible modelling framework to indicate water quality trends and unsaturated zone time lag ranges at catchment scale. Agric Ecosyst Environ 236:234–242





9 CASE STUDY MALTA

9.1 Description of Monitoring network

Regular monitoring data for groundwater in the Malta mean sea level groundwater system (MLSA = Mean Sea-Level Aquifer) dates back to the 1960's when monthly monitoring of all public groundwater abstraction stations started to be undertaken. Such monitoring included assessment of nitrate content – which was considered as representative of anthropogenic contamination mainly resulting from agriculture. The monitoring network was extended in 2005, as part of the implementation process of the EU Water Framework Directive, to include a number of private groundwater sources and hence increase its spatial representativity over the whole groundwater body.

The long-term results of these monitoring networks show an increasing trend in the nitrate concentration of groundwater, although trends have tended to be come not-significant in recent years. Furthermore, nitrate contamination is the single most important issue for the deterioration in status of groundwater in the Maltese islands, with groundwater bodies failing good status conditions because of nitrate levels exceeding the 50 mg/l quality standard established under the EU Groundwater Directive.

The importance of Nitrate as a groundwater contaminant has invariably led to a number of focused studies to assess this contamination. These studies include:

- o BRGM 1991 Assessment of Nitrate trends in the mean-sea level groundwater body
- WSC 1999 Correlation of Nitrate and Chloride content in groundwater
- BGS 2008 Determination of the sources of Nitrate in groundwater through the use of isotope fingerprints.

Furthermore, trends in the Nitrate concentration were also assessed in Malta's 1st and 2nd River Basin Management Plans (Malta Resources Authority, 2011 and Energy and Water Agency, 2016).

The most important study of the above was that undertaken by BGS (2008) which derived the "fingerprint" of nitrate contained in groundwater (based on the ratio of nitrogen and oxygen isotopes in the nitrate ion) and compared these to the "fingerprint" of nitrate contamination sources. This source fingerprinting exercise indicated that the main contribution to Nitrate contamination in groundwater comes from soil nitrate, and hence is attributable to over-fertilisation practices in agriculture. These results were key to support the development of Malta's Nitrates Action Programme (Government of Malta, 2011).

In addition to the above, a new unsaturated zone monitoring network is currently being developed to enable the sampling of percolating groundwater at different depths within the unsaturated zone. This network will enable the assessment of the nitrate content in the annual recharge (hence assessing the effective impact of the Nitrates Action Programme) and the attenuation of nitrate content as groundwater percolates through the unsaturated zone.

9.2 Information about travel times in the saturated and unsaturated zones

Investigations undertaken by Bakalowicz, et al. (2003) and BGS (2008) used environmental tracers such as Tritium, CFCs and SF₆ to assess groundwater dynamics and residence times within the MSLA. Both studies arrived at the conclusion that the average residence time of groundwater in the saturated zone is of the order of 40 years. In particular, both studies failed to detect the tritium peak, indicating that





groundwater recharge to the mean sea-level aquifer occurred before the increase in tritium level due to nuclear weapons testing in the 60s and 70s.

Travel times through the unsaturated zone were expected to reflect the different hydrogeological properties of the different formations making up the stratigraphical sequence of the Maltese islands. In particular, slow travel times are expected in the Blue Clay formation (a marly impervious formation) and the Globigerina Limestone (a consolidated marly limestone overlying the main coralline aquifer formation). Geological investigations of these formations place percolating velocities in these formations as ranging between 0.5m - 3 m/yr. Higher flow velocities are expected in the lowest geological formation, the Lower Coralline Limestone, which being the main aquifer formation has moderate to high intrinsic porosities.

9.3 Information about attenuating processes in the subsurface

The long travel time of groundwater through the unsaturated and saturated zones facilitates the attenuation of infiltrating pollutants. In the unsaturated zone, the thin soil profiles overlying the bedrock are not expected to result in significant bacterial attenuation of the infiltrating nitrate. However, the long infiltration profile through the consolidated rock profile is expected to result the dilution and dispersion of contaminated recharge, whilst percolation through the Globigerina formation is also expected to contribute to attenuation.

Furthermore, once the percolating water reaches the saturated zone, the high groundwater storage capacity of the MSLA compared to the mean annual recharge also leads to the potential dilution of contaminated recharge with unpolluted uncontaminated resident groundwater, as the recharging water flows through the saturated zone.

Finally, at the abstraction point, consideration needs also to be given to intruding sea-water or saline waters from the freshwater-saltwater transition zone which is generally low in nitrate and hence leads to the further dilute of the nitrate content of the abstracted groundwater, albeit at the expense of an increase in its chloride content.

9.4 Combined analysis of transport and attenuating processes in the pilot area

Studies in the Maltese islands have to date primarily focused on the identification of nitrate sources, and less on transport and attenuation processes. A specific assessment was undertaken during the investigations undertaken by BGS (2008) which looked at transport rates in the unsaturated zone and concluded that primary porosity is by far more important than secondary (fracture) flow in the case of the MSLA. Hence, physical processes in the unsaturated zone are deemed to play an important role in the attenuation of inflowing contamination.

This lack of information is being addressed, as mentioned under section 9.1, through the recent launch of a new project which will use flexible time-domain reflectometry (FTDR) probes to assess groundwater recharge in the first 20 meters of the unsaturated zone (giving water contents of this unsaturated zone profile) and which is expected to provide invaluable information about the attenuation processes occurring in this important segment of the infiltration profile.

9.5 Testing approaches to harmonized, processed data for supraregional evaluations

The next steps in the assessment of monitoring data in Malta are focused on:





- (i) the determination of the nitrate content of the mean annual recharge in the first horizons of the unsaturated zone, so as to enable the projection of the impact of this water on the status of the aquifer systems, and
- (ii) the assessment of the diluting contribution of intruding saline-waters in groundwater abstraction wells, though a comprehensive assessment of infiltration mechanisms.

This information will enable the more comprehensive assessment of the status of the MSLA groundwater body and the development of corrected trends outlining the potential of the aquifer system to reach the good status conditions of the EU's Water Framework Directive.

9.6 References

BRGM (1991) Study of the fresh-water resources of Malta. Bureau de Recherche Geologique et Miniere, France

- WSC (1999) Impact Assessment of the Implementation of the EU Nitrates Directive (internal report)
- BGS (2008) A preliminary study on the identification of the sources of nitrate contamination in groundwater in Malta.
- Malta Resources Authority, (2011) First Water Catchment Management Plan for the Maltese Islands, Malta
- Energy and Water Agency (2016) Second Water Catchment Management Plan for the Maltese Islands, Malta

Government of Malta, 2011. SL 549.66 Nitrates Action Programme Regulations. Government of Malta Bakalowicz, M. and Mangion, J., 2003. The limestone aquifers of Malta; their recharge conditions from

isotope and chemical surveys, Hydrology of the Mediterranean and Semiarid Regions. Proceedings of an International Symposium. IAHS, Montpelier, pp. 49-54.





10 CASE STUDY CYPRUS

10.1 Description of Monitoring network

One of the most pressing issues in Cyprus, as in many countries around the globe, is groundwater nitrogen pollution induced by agriculture and stock-farming activities. For the period 2012-2015, six Cyprus aquifers have been identified as Nitrate Vulnerable Zones (NVZ) and action plans are being implemented since (http://www.moa.gov.cy/moa/gsd/gsd). In 2017, the Pentaschinos alluvial aquifer, was also designated as an NVZ. Moreover, for the purpose of the implementation of the Water Framework Directive 2000/60/EC, one river basin district was identified for the whole Cyprus. Furthermore, 20 groundwater bodies have been delineated (Republic of Cyprus, March 2005). This network consists of 95 monitoring stations (92 wells and 3 springs) and threshold values have been assigned for all groundwater bodies. For the scope of this project, however, the groundwater bodies of Cyprus have been classified in five aquifer types, referred to hereafter.

Cyprus Geological Survey Department (GSD), is actively involved in the implementation of Directive 1991/676/EEC on nitrate pollution of agricultural origin. Towards this end, the Department operates a groundwater monitoring network consisting of 221 boreholes, which are sampled twice a year for nitrate (NO₃). Borehole depth ranges from a few meters in depth up to 382 m with an average depth of 150m. Monitoring point distribution (on conceptual flow models) is outlined below and depicted in Fig. 11.1.

Hard rock/Fractures flow model.

Hard rock/fractured flow model aquifer develops in the ophiolite rocks of Troodos Massif and Limassol forest and occupies a total area of 2.404 Km². Groundwater flow is primarily controlled by secondary porosity caused by tectonic fracturing and uplifting. Borehole records indicate that favorable aquifer conditions decrease rapidly at 150 to 200 mbs (Afrodidis, 1991) leading to a fast draining system with high turnover rates, especially in gabbro, at the higher part of the aquifer (Udluft at. el., 2003a). The aquifer discharges through short-lived springs (Water Development Department, 2002) whereas deeper, regional flow recharges sedimentary aquifers in the lowlands. A total of 85 station are maintained in this aquifer.

Multi-layer aquifer

Multi-layer model aquifers include the Mesaoria, Kokkinochoria, Kiti-Tremithos, Germasogeia, Lemesos, Akrotiri, Paramali – Avdimou, Pafos and Chrysochou – Gialia aquifers, occupying a total area of 1894 Km². These aquifers commonly include an unconfined saturated layer, consisting primarily of gravels and deeper confined alternating layers of sand – sandstone and marl (Kitching et. al., 1980, United Nations Development Programme, 1970). A total of 108 monitoring stations are maintained in this aquifer type and the network is denser within the NVZs.

Confined carbonate

Confined Carbonate aquifers are dual porosity aquifers in which secondary porosity play a major role in groundwater percolation. In Cyprus, the Lefkara-Pakna aquifer is such an aquifer and it occupies an area of 1273 km2. A total of 14 monitoring stations are maintained in this aquifer.

Karst

Karst aquifer type covers an area of 541 km². A total of 14 monitoring stations are maintained. Gravel aquifer





Gravel aquifer types, as defined in this project, only develops in one case to the northwest. It is a very small aquifer and it only covers an area of 2 km2. The Department does not maintain monitoring station at the area.





10.2 Information about travel times in the saturated and unsaturated zones

No systematic groundwater dating studies have been carried out in Cyprus. Groundwater was, however, modelled to be from actively recharged up to 10 years old, in upper and most dynamic part of the Troodos fractured aquifer (Fig. 11.2). This was also confirmed through ³H and CFC age dating from which groundwater and spring water in the upper part of Troodos fractured aquifer was found to be very young (Boronina et. al., 2005, Jacovides, J., 1979, Udluft and Külls, 2003).







Figure 10.2 Modelled particle flowlines in the Upper Troodos for a time period of 10 and 100 years; upper and lower cross section, respectively. After Udluft et. all., 2003.

Groundwater age increases downstream of the ophiolites and was also modelled to be up to 100 years old, in the most extreme cases of regional flow from the intrusives in the higher elevations of Troodos, through the extrusives and to the sedimentary aquifers, in the lowlands (Fig. 11.2). Groundwater age was dated (through ³H) to be over 50 years north and south of Troodos, thus partially confirming the model (Udluft and Külls, 2003). Similar results were found by Boronina et al. (2005) who found groundwater to be over 48 years old in consolidated sedimentary rocks to the south.

Furthermore, intermediate groundwater ages of 10-40 years old have been dated in clastic, multilayer aquifers to the north of Troodos, where river recharge is active and to the carbonate dual porosity aquifer, to the south (Udluft and Külls, 2003).





10.3 Information about attenuating processes in the subsurface

Nitrogen source and denitrification processes can be discerned by examining the ¹⁴N and ¹⁵N ratios of the nitrogen molecule. More specifically, δ^{15} N in nitrate (and δ^{18} O) can be used to trace nitrogen source (modified from Hoefs 1997 and Clark and Fritz 1997 with data from Amberger and Schmidt 1987, Bottcher et. Al., 1990, Letolle, 1980). Furthermore, the combination of the isotopic composition of δ^{18} O and δ^{15} N can be used not only in distinguishing nitrate sources more reliably but most importantly, is to recognize the potential of denitrification (Amberger and Schmidt 1987, Bottcher et al. 1990, Durka et al. 1994).

In trying to identify the source(s) of the nitrate as well as to evaluate the denitrification potential of aquifers in Cyprus, GSD ran a project with total 100 groundwater samples, in September 2009, were analysed for ${}^{15}N/{}^{14}N$ and ${}^{18}O/{}^{16}O$ (Christophi and Constantinou, 2011). Upon sampling, pH, conductivity, dissolved oxygen and water level were measured and recorded. One liter of sample was collected in the cases of nitrate concentration equal or above 20 mg/l, whereas in lower concentrations, up to five liters were collected. Polyethylene bottles were used, and ten drops of chloroform were added upon collecting the samples. Samples were shipped for analysis to the lab Hydroisotop, in Germany.

The majority of the samples, 71% show nitrate isotopic composition that indicates mineral fertilizer as the primary source of nitrate, as 14% and 2% of the samples show manure and soil/manure as the primary source of nitrate respectively (Table 11.1). It is also clear that 20% of the samples show significant denitrification potential. Most of the denitrification samples tend to have lower nitrate concentrations than those with insignificant denitrification thus supporting the scenario of denitrification (Fig. 11.3 and Fig. 11.4).

In Germasogia and Akrotiri aquifers, two multi-layered aquifers as classified in the current project, all samples showed some trend in terms of denitrification. The former, showed significant denitrification potential whereas the latter showed no denitrification potential. However, in no other aquifer a definite trend was discerned. The low denitrification potential that is seen in Akrotiri aquifer might be attributed to the low clay content. Furthermore, there isn't any strong correlation between denitrification potential with water level, aquifer type (confined/unconfined) or the primary source of nitrate (Fig. 11.3 and Fig. 11.4).

Table 10.1 Tabulated the denitrification potential and primary nitrate source per aquifer type.

		Confined carbonates	Hard rock / fracture flow	Quaternary sands and gravels	Karst	Multi – layered aquifer
Samples per models		2	7	0	4	87
Significant denitrification		1	0	0	0	19
ce of	Fertilizer	1	5	0	4	71
ary sour nitrate	Manure	0	2	0	0	14
Prima	Soil/manure	1	0	0	0	2

Samples per aquifer type (conceptual model)







Figure 10.3 (a) depicting spatial of primary nitrate source and denitrification potential from 100 groundwater samples (after Christophi and Constantinou, 2011). (b) Germasogia aquifer and (c) Akrotiri aquifer.







Figure 10.4 shows the isotopic composition of NO₃ in 100 groundwater samples from Cyprus (after Christophi and Constantinou, 2011).

10.4 Combined analysis of transport and attenuating processes in the pilot area

No data on transport and attenuating processes exist for Cyprus, as no systematic groundwater dating studies have been carried out. All relevant data are chapter 11.2. and 11.3.

10.5 References

- Afrodidis, S., 1991. Groundwater Exploration of the Igneous Rocks of the Troodos Ophiolite Complex. Cyprus Assosiation of Geologist and Mining Engineers - Bulleting 6, Nicosia, pp. 46–60.
- Boronina, A., Renard, P., Balderer, W., & Stichler, W., 2005. Application of tritium in precipitation and in groundwater of the Kouris catchment (Cyprus) for description of the regional groundwater flow. Applied Geochemistry APPL GEOCHEM. 20. 10.1016/j.apgeochem.2005.03.007.
- Amberger A., Schmidt H.-L., Natürliche Isotopengehalte von Nitrat als Indikatoren für dessen Herkunft, Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, Volume 51, Issue 10, 1987, Pages 2699-2705, ISSN 0016-7037, https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-7037(87)90150-5.
- Bottcher J., Strebel O., Voerkelius S., Schmidt HL. 1990. Using Isotope Fractionation of nitrate- nitrogen and nitrate-oxygen for evaluation of microbial denitrification in a sandy aquifer. J.Hydrol. 114, 413-424.
- Christophi C., Constantinou C. (2011) Nitrogen sources and denitrification potential of Cyprus aquifers, through isotopic investigation on nitrates. In: Lambrakis N., Stournaras G., Katsanou K. (eds) Advances in the Research of Aquatic Environment. Environmental Earth Sciences. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg
- Clark I., Fritz P., 1997. Environmental Isotopes in Hydrogeology New York.





Durka W. Schulze E-D., Gebauer G., Voerkelius S (1994) Effects of forest decline on uptake and leaching of deposited nitrate determined from 15N and 18O measurements. Nature 372: 765-767.

Hoefs J., 1997, Stable isotope geochemistry. Berlin and New York.

- Jacovides, J., 1979. Environmental isotope survey (Cyprus). Final report on I.A.E.A., research contract No: 1039/RB, Technical Report, Ministry of Agriculture and Natural Resources, Department of Water Development, Nicosia, Cyprus.
- Kitching, R., Edmunds, W.M., Shearer, T.R., Walton, N.R.G. and Jacovides, J. (1980) Assessment of recharge to aquifers / Evaluation de recharge d'aquifères. Hydrological Sciences Bulletin 25(3), 217-235.
- Letolle R., 1980. Nitrogen-15 in the natural environment. In: Handbook of Environmental Isotope Geochemistry Vol.1. FRITZ P. FONTES J C (eds.) Elsevier, Amsterdam
- Water Development Department, 2002. TCP/CYP/8921, assessment of groundwater resources of Cyprus.
- Report from the commission to the council and the European parliament. On the implementation of Council Directive 91/676/EEC concerning the protection of waters against pollution caused by nitrates from agricultural sources based on Member State reports for the period 2012– 2015. Brussels, 4.5.2018 COM(2018) 257 final.

Republic of Cyprus, (2005). EU-summary report Articles 5 & 6, Water Framework Directive 2000/60/EC.

- Udluft, Peter; Dünkeloh, G. Armin; Mederer, J.; Külls, C., 2003a. Re-evaluation of Groundwater Resources of Cyprus for the Republic of Cyprus. Task 6 + 7: Water balances for catchments and for the whole island. Ministry of Agriculture, Natural Resources and Environment Geological Survey Department. Nicosia. Nicosia, Cyprus.
- Udluft, P., Külls, C., 2003. Re-evaluation of Groundwater Resources of Cyprus for the Republic of Cyprus. Task4: New Investigations. Ministry of Agriculture, Natural Resources and Environment Geological Survey Department Nicosia





11 CASE STUDY LATVIA

11.1 Description of Monitoring network

Regular surveys of groundwater quality in Latvia have been conducted since 1959. The groundwater quality monitoring network was set up between 1970 and 1980, initially to assess the groundwater water quality and changes in confined aquifers, as these aquifers began to be used intensively for centralized extraction and supply of drinking water during this period not only in urban areas but also in rural areas. From 2004, the groundwater monitoring network includes also springs. This is an important improvement in the monitoring network, as springs with high water flow mostly represent water quality in much larger catchment areas than wells and are an important indicator of diffuse pollution (Ziņojums, 2016).

In Latvia, groundwater monitoring simultaneously fulfills the requirements of the Nitrates Directive and the Water Framework Directive (WFD, 2000/60/EC). The primary objective of nitrate monitoring in Latvia is to detect any nitrate contamination to ensure good drinking water quality throughout the country, as well as to reduce the impact of nitrate pollution on small and large rivers whose waters flow into the Baltic Sea. In the Nitrates Directive reporting period 2012-2015, 68% of all monitoring observation points represent confined aquifers, but in Latvian hydrogeological conditions (i.e., Quaternary sediments in Latvia consist mainly of glacial and its melting water sediments, which are variable in terms of composition and thickness), the monitoring of the deepest captive groundwater within the Nitrates Directive is not primary in Latvia (Ziņojums, 2016).

The groundwater monitoring program in Latvia is being adapted to the requirements of the two directives (Nitrates Directives and WFD), which are not equivalent. The WFD requires the identification of the background level of natural chemical composition and trends in the aquifers used in the main water supply of groundwater bodies, which in the case of Latvia are deeper confined water. However, it should be concluded that the current groundwater monitoring program is more adapted to fulfill the requirements of the WFD (Ziņojums, 2016).

Groundwater monitoring provides data on the status of the groundwater body. It is the main and strategic goal of monitoring in any year of the monitoring program period. Achieving good groundwater status in all groundwater bodies and assessing the risk of failing to achieve this goal is the main objective of groundwater resource management. Groundwater monitoring is primarily done at groundwater body level, while integrating river basin management into a common strategy for achieving environmental quality objectives (Ziņojums, 2016).

Groundwater status within the monitoring network is observed in 311 wells at 61 stations and 30 springs. Of these, quality (chemical composition) observations are provided at 53 stations in 218 wells and 30 springs (Figure 11.1), while in quantitative (water levels) observations at 60 stations in 305 wells. The frequency of monitoring observations during the six-year cycle of monitoring of river basin districts includes a detailed breakdown of monitoring stations by groundwater bodies and types of monitoring. Monitoring points that are monitored each year and observable parameters for groundwater quality can vary according to the annual monitoring plans developed. The frequency of groundwater monitoring is variable: the frequency of quantitative observations - two times a day (automatic level measurements) up to four times a year, and the frequency of groundwater chemical observations is four times a year, up to once a year (over a six-year period, it changes from one time in six years to one time each year) (Ziņojums, 2016).





Groundwater quality monitoring parameters traditionally are field measurements, key ions, nitrogen compounds and their ionic forms, heavy metals, chemical pollutants, and pesticides (atrazine, simazine, bentazone, MCPA, promethrin, propazine, 2,4-D, MCPB, isoproturon, aclonifene, bifenox, aldrin, dieldrin, heptachlor, heptachlor epoxide, dimethoate, cypermethrin, alpha-cypermethrin, trifluralin). Chemical pollutants are monitored only in urban areas, artificially replenishing groundwater resources, as well as in the areas of water extraction and associated potential cones of depression. Pesticides are monitored in agricultural areas, including monitoring stations that coincide with nitrate vulnerable zone. Primary pesticides are analyzed in the first sensitive and unprotected lower-lying aquifer, and in the case of pesticide detection, the deepest aquifers are sampled. Other observable parameters are observed at all monitoring points (both wells and springs) (Zinojums, 2016). The frequency of monitoring observations and its determination in the following years may change, taking into account the new monitoring data obtained, experience gained, developed scientific projects in connection with the implementation of the WFD, and new requirements of EU and Republic of Latvia regulatory enactments. This will be assessed by developing a monitoring plan for each specific year (Zinojums, 2016).



Figure 11.1. Groundwater quality observation network in Latvia

11.1.1 Nitrate monitoring in Latvia

The primary goal of nitrate monitoring in Latvia is to detect any nitrate pollution to ensure good drinking water quality throughout the country, as well as to reduce the impact of nitrate pollution on small and large rivers whose waters flow into the Baltic Sea. The national monitoring data were analyzed according to the breakdown of depths (0-5 m, 5-15 m, 15-30 m, >30 m depth and pressurized water) given in the guidance for Member States reporting. Taking into account the geological conditions of Latvia, the quality or natural protection of groundwater is influenced not only by depth of deposits, but mainly by lithological composition and subsequent water permeability of the rock layers. Quaternary sediments in Latvia consist mainly of glacial and its melting water sediments, which are variable in terms of composition and thickness. In the last reporting period (2012-2015), 68% of all monitoring observation points were representing captive groundwater. It should be noted that the





number of monitoring points has also increased directly in captive groundwater compared to the previous reporting period (2008-2011) (Ziņojums, 2016).

Observations of NO_3^- during the period 2012-2015 were made in 81 monitoring stations and 199 monitoring springs, of which 169 are wells and 30 are springs (Table 11.1.). 72 monitoring points or 36% of all monitoring points for nitrate monitoring are located inside of nitrate vulnerable zone, of which 62 are monitoring wells and 10 are monitoring springs. Compared to the previous reporting period (2008-2011), the number of observation points for nitrate monitoring has increased by 25 (14% overall), while the number of observation points in the particularly sensitive area has increased by 16 (29% overall). Most of all observation points (83%) are common to both the current and previous reporting period. This allows objective evaluation of the changes in nitrate content over time and the evaluation of possible trends in the monitoring points. The average sampling frequency is twice a year (Ziņojums, 2016).

Table 11.1 Distribution of Nitrate Observation Points in reporting periods 2008-2011and 2012-2015(Ziņojums, 2016)

Groundwater type	Number of monitoring p	Common		
(depth of aquifer)	Previous reporting period (2008- 2011)	Current reporting period (2012- 2015)	monitoring points	
0-5m	29	27	24	
Phreatic groundwater (shallow)	22 wells; 7 springs	19 wells; 8 springs	=•	
5-15m	27	30	26	
Phreatic groundwater (deep)	14 wells; 13 springs	16 wells; 14 springs		
15-30m	5	5	E	
Phreatic groundwater (deep)	3 wells; 2 springs	3 wells; 2 springs		
30m	3	2	2	
Phreatic groundwater (deep)	3 wells	2 wells		
Canting groundwater	110	110 135		
Cuplive groundwaler	103 wells; 7 springs	129 wells; 6 springs	109	
Tatalı	174	199	166	
l otai:	145 wells; 29 springs	169 wells; 30 springs		

11.1.2 Nitrate monitoring results

In Latvia during the period 2012-2015 average concentrations of NO₃⁻ above the Nitrate Directive limit value (50 mg/l) have been observed only in groundwater within depth of up to 5 m. Compared to the reporting period of 2008-2011, the average nitrate concentration in layer up to 5 m depth has increased: the number of monitoring points with average nitrate concentration below 25 mg/l has decreased by 9%; but the number of monitoring points where the nitrate content exceeds the 50 mg/l nitrate limit has increased by 13% (Table 11.2.). Mean nitrate concentrations above 50 mg/l were observed at 4 monitoring points: 2 monitoring springs and 2 monitoring wells (Ziņojums, 2016).





Table 11.2 Distribution of observation points by average nitrate concentration classes by depth ofsurface deposition of aquifer (2012-2015) (Ziņojums, 2016)

Groundwater type	Amount (%) of monitoring points (NO ₃ ⁻ , mg/l)					
(depth of aquifer)	<25	25-39,99	40-50	>50		
0-5m Phreatic groundwater (shallow)	81	4	-	15		
5-15m Phreatic groundwater (deep)	90	7	3	-		
15-30m Phreatic groundwater (deep)	100	-	-	-		
30m Phreatic groundwater (deep)	100	-	-	-		
Captive groundwater	100	-	-	-		

In deeper groundwater, there is a general decrease in average nitrate concentrations: at depths of 5 to 15 meters, there has been a 9% increase in monitoring points with mean nitrate concentrations below 25 mg/l and no monitoring point with nitrate concentration above 50 mg/l. In groundwater deeper than 15 meters, as well as in captive waters, contamination with nitrate has not yet been observed and the average concentration does not exceed 25 mg/l.



Figure 11.2 Trends in average nitrate concentrations of groundwater between the monitoring periods 2008-2011 and 2012-2015 (Ziņojums, 2016)

Trends in changes in the average NO_3^- content over the period 2012-2015 indicate that the most significant changes appear in groundwater at depths of up to 5 meters (Table 11.3.). Here, the number of monitoring points showing a rapid (<-5 mg/l) decrease in NO_3^- content compared to the period 2008 -2011 has increased by 15%. At the same time, there was a 12% increase in the number of monitoring





points showing a slight upward trend (+1 to +5 mg/l) and a 12% increase in the number of monitoring points showing a rapid upward trend in NO_3^- concentrations (>+5 mg/l). Monitoring results confirm that shallow groundwater (up to 5 m depth) is the most exposed to agricultural pollution and therefore the NO_3^- content may change significantly over time depending on the intensity of economic activity. In general, there is a tendency for NO_3^- content to increase directly in shallow groundwater. In deeper groundwaters the number of monitoring points has increased significantly, and there has been a rapid decline in NO_3^- content. In pressurized waters the average NO_3^- content has changed from -1 to +1 mg/l compared to the previous reporting period.

Groundwater type	Amount (%) of monitoring point (NO₃⁻, mg/l)					
(depth of aquifer)	<-5	-5 to -1	-1 to +1	+1 to +5	>+5	
0-5m Phreatic groundwater (shallow)	15	4	51	12	18	
5-15m Phreatic groundwater (deep)	18	25	46	4	7	
15-30m Phreatic groundwater (deep)	-	-	100	-	-	
30m Phreatic groundwater (deep)	-	-	100	-	-	
Captive groundwater	-	-	99	-	1	

Table 11.3 Trends in changes in nitrate concentration based on average a comparison of reportingperiods 2008-2011 and 2012-2015 (Ziņojums, 2016)

11.2 Information about travel times in the saturated and unsaturated zones

In Latvia, the travel time of groundwater has been studied rarely. In 2002-2006 the travel time of the new groundwater after CFC method was determined during the joint study by the Denmark and Greenland Geological Survey (GEUS) and the Latvian National Geological Service (VGD) on the impact of agriculture on groundwater quality in Latvia. However, data amount did not allow to do conclusions on the travel time of groundwater (Gosk et al., 2006). The latest studies were done from 2009 to 2012 during the project "Establishing a group of inter-branch scientists and a system of models for underground water research". Groundwater travel time studies with CFC and ³H methods were carried out and provided new knowledge of the age of groundwater in the territory of Latvia. During this project the CFC concentration were analyzed in 39 samples – 19 samples in year 2010 and 20 samples in 2011. All samples were collected at depths of 5 m to 130 meters and one sample was taken from surface water (Baltezers basin). The results of the project (2009-2012) show that the values of $^{18}\delta$ are decreasing both towards larger sampling depth and closer to the groundwater discharge sites (such as within the shallower groundwater horizons near Riga). At relatively high depths, even reaching 70 meters, water replenishment takes place quite rapidly and the CFCs' stated lifetime in some cases does not exceed 40 years. The relatively small CFC dataset does not allow for the determination of direct legal relationships between the age of water residence and the signal of isotopes in them (Babre et al. 2012). Wide scattering of CFC-113 related ratio dating as well as remaining CFC ratios shows that some of CFC almost in all cases are affected after recharge (Bikše et al. 2011).

The information about travel times in the saturated and unsaturated zones will be updated in the near future based on the new monitoring (national delegated tasks) and ongoing project results.





11.3 Information about attenuating processes in the subsurface

Latvian groundwater is naturally free of elevated nitrate levels and is relatively well protected from surface pollution (Zinojums, 2016). Monitoring of shallower aquifers (mainly within the Quaternary waters in the case of Latvia) allows to identify relatively recent anthropogenic impacts and to adjust eligible programs of measures (measures to improve the status of waters necessary for achieving good water quality) (LVĢMC, 2015).

A recent study by the University of Latvia and the LEGMC (Retike et al. 2016b) found that elevated nitrate concentrations in Quaternary groundwater were found primarily within the Lielupe River basin and adjacent areas of predominant agricultural activity (concluded after 2012 Corine Land Cover data). The excess of the threshold value of 50 mg/l was mainly observed in groundwater at less than 5 m depth and in this depth range the largest trends of both negative and positive changes have been observed (Ziņojums, 2016).

This confirms once again that in Latvia, pressurized water is relatively well protected from surface pollution. Also, in the current reporting period, Latvian groundwater is generally characterized by little time-varying nitrate concentration. The content of nitrate has increased in shallow groundwater but decreased sharply in deeper groundwater. Trends in nitrate elevation in shallow groundwater up to a depth of 5 m could also lead to higher concentrations of nitrate in deeper groundwater in the period 2016-2019 (will be analyzed during 2020), as the pressure on groundwater appears with a lag (Ziņojums, 2016).

From 2017 to 2018 the University of Latvia implemented the project "New data on nitrate loads on groundwater in standard sediments in Latvia", funded by the Latvian Environmental Protection Fund. The aim of the project was to obtain new data on the pollution of groundwater and associated surface water caused by agricultural activity in particularly sensitive areas and beyond, and to assess the impact of denitrification on the natural reduction of nitrate loads. In the framework of the project 147 water samples were collected, both groundwater and river and spring water from seven monitoring stations installed within the project (five monitoring stations were installed in a particularly sensitive area of nitrate and two stations outside to allow for an assessment of the differences in nitrate loads in the types of typical sediments). A project study has produced a large amount of data on surface water, groundwater and spring water on the basis of which conclusions have been drawn and recommendations have been made (Bikše et al. 2018a). The conclusions (Bikše et al. 2018a) were made, that the largest changes in nitrate values were observed in rivers during the year and the sampling time (season) is of great importance. In groundwater samples, nitrate is uncommon: only 1/3 of all 147 groundwater samples showed measurable values of nitrate (MDL=0.02 mg/l). The increased concentrations of nitrate in groundwater only correlate directly with the level of groundwater associated with other processes, denitrification and possibly changes in water flows, on a case-by-case basis. Groundwater levels are not directly applicable to the prediction of nitrate content (Bikše et al. 2018a).

The information about attenuating processes in the subsurface will be updated in the near future based on the new monitoring (national delegated tasks) and ongoing project results.

11.4 Testing approaches to harmonized, processed data for supraregional evaluations

Following the results of the state monitoring and optimization of monitoring network LEGMC ha updated and compiled the action plan for further monitoring of groundwater quality of Latvia. It is recommended to maintain pre-existing requirements for full analysis of the chemical composition of





water four times a year (seasonally) in all wells of the Quaternary (Q) located in the nitrate vulnerable zone and groundwater body Q. It is also recommended that full chemical tests should be carried out at least once a year in wells of the Quaternary (Q) outside nitrate vulnerable zone, which has a good water supply (LVĢMC, 2018). The results of nitrate monitoring demonstrate that regular observations must be made in groundwater with a depth of not more than 15 m, but priority shall be given to groundwater which lies to a depth of 5 meters. (Ziņojums, 2016).

From the project carried out in 2018, it was concluded that the springs are generally more suitable for the assessment of diffuse pollution than shallow wells, but it is necessary to assess the water catchment area for each spring. If possible, groundwater should be monitored to a depth of 5 meters be extended to a larger number of drills outside a particularly sensitive area of nitrate, as the study does not justify the validity of the limits of an existing particularly sensitive area. Also, it was recommended to develop an effective protection map for groundwater by improving the current natural protection map, which takes into account the geological structure, the composition of the sediment blanket and the characteristics of filtration, terrain and, in particular, the type of land use (Bikše et al. 2018b).

The information approaches to harmonized, processed data for superregional evaluations will be updated in the near future based on the new monitoring (national delegated tasks) and ongoing project results.

11.5 References

- Babre, A., Dēliņa, A., 2012. Ūdens infiltrēšanās apstākļu noteikšana aktīvās ūdens apmaiņas zonai Latvijā, izmantojot skābekļa izotopu sastāva analīzi. Latvijas Universitāte, Latvija. Pieejams: <u>https://dukonference.lv/files/proceedings_of_conf/53konf/Zemes_zinatnes/Babre_Delina.pdf</u>
- Bikše, J., Dēliņa, A., Babre, A., 2011. Additional data on the CFC concentration and corresponding groundwater age in the fresh groundwater of Latvia. Latvijas Universitāte, Rīga. Pieejams: https://www.puma.lu.lv/fileadmin/user_upload/lu_portal/projekti/puma/LU70BAB/LU70Posteris_Bikshe_CFC.pdf
- Bikše, J., Retiķe, I., Dēliņa, A., 2018a. Ziņojums par projekta gaitu un iegūtajiem rezultātiem. LVAF finansētais projekts "Jauni dati par nitrātu slodzēm uz gruntsūdeņiem tipveida nogulumos Latvijā (NITRA)", Reģ Nr. 1 – 08/136/2017. Latvijas Universitāte, Rīga.
- Bikše, J., Retiķe, I., Dēliņa, A., 2018b. Ziņojums rekomendācijas Latvijas pazemes ūdeņu monitoringa tīkla optimizācijai. LVAF finansētais projekts "Jauni dati par nitrātu slodzēm uz gruntsūdeņiem tipveida nogulumos Latvijā (NITRA)", Reģ Nr. 1-08/136/2017. Latvijas Universitāte, Rīga.
- Gosk, E., Levins, I., Jorgensen, L.F. 2006. Agricultural Influence on Groundwater in Latvia. Danmarks og Grønlands geologiske undersøgelse rapport 2006/85. Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland, Copenhagen, 95 p.
- LVĢMC, 2015. Lielupes upju baseinu apgabala apsaimniekošanas plāns 2016.-2021.gadam.
- LVĢMC, 2018. Stratēģijas un rīcības programmas izstrāde pazemes ūdeņu monitoringa tīkla optimizācijai atbilstoši pārskatītajām pazemes ūdensobjektu robežām. VSIA "Latvijas Vides, ģeoloģijas un meteoroloģijas centrs", Rīga
- Raidla, V., Kirsimäe, K., Vaikmäe, R., Jõeleht, A., Karro, E., 2008. Geochemical evolution of groundwater in the Cambrian–Vendian aquifer system of the Baltic Basin. Chemical Geology 258 219–231
- Retike, I., Delina, A., Bikse, J., Kalvans, A, Popovs, K., Pipira, D., 2016b. Quaternary groundwater vulnerability assessment in Latvia using multivariate statistical analysis. 22nd Annual International





Scientific Conference "Research for Rural Development 2016". Paper in conference proceedings. In Print.

- Retike, I., Kalvans, A., Popovs, K., Bikse, J., Babre, A., & Delina, A., 2016a. Geochemical classification of groundwater using multivariate statistical analysis in Latvia. Hydrology Research. In Print. DOI: 10.2166/nh.2016.020.
- Ziņojums, 2016. Padomes Direktīvas 91/676/EEK attiecībā uz ūdeņu aizsardzību pret piesārņojumu, ko rada lauksaimnieciskas izcelsmes nitrāti. Ziņojums Eiropas Komisijai par 2012.-2015.gadu, Latvija. Pieejams:

http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/lv/eu/nid/envwir7mw/LV Final Nitrate Report 161216.pdf





12 AGGREGATION AND OUTLOOK

12.1 Introduction

This D5.2 deliverable works towards the compilation of data that describe the transport of nitrate and pesticides in a harmonized way, integrating data that were collected within the pilot areas. In the chapters 3 to 10, we described the monitoring networks and data sets that are available for the pilot areas, evaluating different approaches and methods that are used to assess travel times and attenuation processes in these pilot areas. This chapter aggregates this information and presents the first ideas for a common, harmonized way forward that can be elaborated in D5.3 and D5.4. We believe that the overview of the different approaches followed over Europe for the estimation of transfer times and attenuation patterns is a crucial first step that achieves mutual understanding, and helps to identify similarities and differences that are inherently present given the varied hydrogeological settings present in Europe. The main results of the HOVER work on transfer times and attenuation of transport, D5.4 that covers attenuating processes in the pilot areas and D5.5 that produces overview maps.

The following case studies were presented in the subsequent chapters of this deliverable:

Case Study	Region	Nitrate	Pesticides
Netherlands	Noord-Brabant and Limburg age dated waters and gas compositions	Х	Х
Slovenia/Croatia	Transboundary Drava aquifer, unsaturated zone 18O/2H/3H recharge estimates and lysimeter data	Х	
Slovenia	Lysimeter data	Х	
Denmark	National denitrification map, groundwater age dating and pesticide permission monitoring including both the variably-saturated zone and the groundwater zone	Х	X
UK	Unsaturated zone profiles, national scale denitrification mapping	Х	
France	National scale transfer times nitrate, denitrification mapping		
Ireland	National assessment of unsaturated and saturated zone data	Х	
Malta	Nitrate time series at water supply wells	Х	
Cyprus	National scale nitrate and denitrification potential	Х	
Latvia	National scale nitrate monitoring	Х	

Table 12.1 Overview of pilot studies in HOVER WP5

12.2 Definitions and applications of transfer times and time lags

The pilot areas present quite varying concepts of describing transfer times and time lags which is logical because of the diverse hydrogeological settings encountered over Europe. The UK, Ireland and France unveil long transit times through thick unsaturated zones that are present in many of their hydrogeological settings, including chalk and sandstone aquifers. As unsaturated zone flow is predominantly vertical and much controlled by the recharge rates and porosities, there is a significant delay between leaching of N and pesticides from the base of the soil zone and the first breakthrough in the groundwater itself. The French pilot clearly shows that these delays may be larger than the actual time groundwater flows in the aquifers towards receptors such as brooks, rivers and pumped wells. Therefore, much of the effort in France and the UK was put in acquiring estimates of vertical transit times in the unsaturated zone using repeated vertical profiling of porewaters.

In the Dutch, Danish, Latvian and Slovenian cases, however, unsaturated zones are much thinner and, generally, the delay in the unsaturated zone is short relative to the transfer times through the saturated zone towards monitoring screens and ultimately receptors such as springs or pumped wells.




Most of the efforts in these two first-mentioned countries therefore focused on age dating of the upper first 30 m of groundwater in order to obtain age-depth profiles and to relate concentrations of nitrate and eventually other solutes, such as pesticides and antibiotics, to the infiltration year of the groundwater ("infiltration year" approach; e.g. Visser et al. 2007, Hansen et al. 2010, Kivits et al. 2018). Using this infiltration year concept derived from the saturated zone travel times towards the monitoring screens, the leaching history of nitrate and pesticides could be related to the application history of nitrogen at farmlands. In principle, the same methodology is useful to study the transport of pesticides and emerging contaminants (see e.g. Kivits et al 2018, chapter 3 of this report), but care should be taken because of the pesticides being applied much more variable in space and time relative to nitrate, which promotes mixing and dispersion more than for nitrate. Moreover, the largely varying transport properties of pesticides and new substances (degradation rates, redox sensitivity op degradation, sorption behavior) asks for a dedicated, compound-specific analysis of the transport analysis including information on persistence and mobility of the specific solute, the climate and hydrogeological and biochemical settings.

A third concept of transit times relates to the transit time distribution of groundwater outflow to brooks, rivers or pumped wells. As groundwater mixes at these outflow points, the transit time cannot be described by a singular age or unsaturated zone delay, but conceptually needs to be described by a distribution (Maloziewski & Zuber, 1982; Juergens et al., 2010; Eberts et al., 2012). In order to assess these kinds of distributions one either needs a set of age tracers with complementary properties representing different age ranges (Visser et al., 2013; Massoudieh et al., 2014; Kolbe et al. 2018; Leray et al., 2012) or groundwater flow models that describe age or transport (Troldborg et al., 2008; Velde et al., 2010; Kaandorp et al., 2019/2020). Travel time distributions as a measure for transfer time have not been applied at the regional scale that was assessed in the pilot areas being described in this report, but local examples and conceptualization will be addressed under the D5.3 deliverable, for the Dutch and French cases.



Figure 12.1 Concepts of transit times used in this report. The approach to the right has been followed in Denmark and the Netherlands, applying the "infiltration year" approach. The approach to the left is followed in the UK and in France using unsaturated zone profiling.





In summary, three main concepts of transfer time for nitrate can be distinguished (Figure 12.1):

- 1. Transit times of water that recharges the aquifer through the unsaturated zone
 - 2. Transit times of water between the point of recharge (typically the water table) and the monitoring screen
 - 3. Transit time distributions of water discharging at a well, spring or brooks and rivers.

Conceptually, one may argue that even the discrete age at a short monitoring screen may be regarded as an 'age distribution' (Weissmann et al., 2002) but for practical approaches this is often ignored without a loss of significant information (Visser et al., 2007; Hansen et al., 2010; Bohlke, 2002). However, once the monitoring screen has a substantial length and is pumped, the concept under type 3 is valid and the transit time should be regarded as a distribution of mixed water over the length of the monitoring screen, which conceptually is similar to the travel time distribution at a spring or groundwater discharge area (e.g. Juergens et al., 2008). This is actually what is done in section 7.2.2 and Figures 7.8 and 7.9, where the BRGM applied an exponential travel time distribution for interpreting their tracer data in pumped, long-screened wells.

A summary of the applied concepts is given in *Table 12.2* for the pilot areas that are part of the current deliverable. It shows that UK and French efforts were mainly targeted at regional and/or national scale assessments of transit times through the unsaturated zone, whereas Danish, Latvian and Dutch efforts were mainly targeted to regional and/or national assessments of travel times towards monitoring screens.

	Transit time unsaturated	Travel time towards	Travel time distribution at
	zone	monitoring screen	the receptor
Netherlands		R	L
Croatia	L		
Slovenia	L		
Denmark		L, R	R
UK	R		
France	R	L	L, R
Ireland			
Malta	L		
Cyprus			R
Latvia		L	

Table 12.2 Transit time concepts used in the pilot areas of this deliverable

R = Regional to National scale assessment, L = Local assessments for catchments or individual groundwater bodies, E = experimental scale of specific fields, lysimeters etc.





In all three types of transit time concepts, also the *concept of time lags* is incorporated, however with slightly or widely different meanings. In general, the concept of time lags is related to the time that passes between a certain impact in the recharging water and the moment that this is observed in groundwater.



Figure 12.2 Concept for time lags as used in the pilot areas of this report. Time lags describe time that passes between a certain impact in the recharging water and the moment that this is observed in groundwater at the chosen observation point

For the three types of transit type concepts this would mean:

- 1. The time lag between leaching from the soil towards the breakthrough in the uppermost groundwater
- 2. The time lag between leaching from the soil / entering the water table and the actual observation of this water in the monitoring screen
- 3. The time lag between a specific part of the leached water from the soil and the entrance in the mixed water at the discharge point,

Note that types 1 and 2 differ considerably as for the first case the uppermost groundwater has a pathway towards any further monitoring screen for which the travel time is not yet accounted for (See Figure 12.1). Typically, in the Dutch and Danish concepts the first unsaturated zone time lag is considered negligible or very short and the depth and completion of the monitoring wells is well known as these where designed during the setup of the monitoring networks. The UK, Irish and French approach focused on the time lags in the unsaturated zone but do generally not specify the saturated zone travel time at the regional scale, as often the precise depths and confinement of the monitoring screens are not known, partly because the use of existing pumped wells for their assessment.

The third type of time lag is most difficult to define, as there is no discrete time that passed between recharge in the soil and the outflow, because several flow paths with a range of travel times are mixed at the point of outflow (Figure 12.2). For these cases, one could define the time lag as the time between the peak in nitrogen application and the observed peak in the pumped well, spring or river. Conceptually, this is a really different time lag as it is the result of convolution of the input signal and





the travel time distribution (e.g. Malosziewski & Zuber, 1982). Typically, the time lag observed in the breakthrough in a river, spring or pumped well is very different from the lag time of nitrate rich water entering the groundwater (type 1), or the lag time towards a specific monitoring screen (type 2), as the breakthrough integrates travel times over a large depth range of the aquifer, which may contain nitrate concentration in the top layers, and old uncontaminated water in deeper layers (e.g. Broers & van Geer 2006, Visser et al., 2013; Juergens et al., 2008; Eberts et al., 2012).

Good studies that integrate these concepts for short screened monitoring screens, unsaturated zone delays and convolutions towards pumped wells, springs or rivers, are few, and all are applicable to local scales only (Baran et al, 2007). A good example using age tracers for integrating type 2 and 3 transit time assessments is Visser et al. (2013) and conceptually Broers & van Geer (2009), whereas examples using groundwater flow and transport modelling to integrate 1, 2 and 3 types are Velde (2010), Zhang et al. (2013), Kaandorp (2020) and Kolbe (2018).

Type of monitoring	nitrate	pesticides	³ Н	³ H/ ³ He	CFC's	Noble gases
Unsaturated zone						
Unsaturated zone profiling	UK, F		UK, F			
Saturated zone						
Multi-level wells and short	NL, DK, LV	NL, DK, LV	LV	NL, DK	DK,LV	
observation screens						
Long screened observation wells	UK		UK/F/SL/CY/LV	CR	CR,LV	CR
Long screened pumped wells	F/CY/CR/UK	F	UK/F		F	
Monitoring of groundwater outflow	F/IR/CY, LV					
at receptor, such as springs or						
streams						

Table 12.3 Types of monitoring applied in the pilot areas

In line with the different concepts used and the hydrogeological settings encountered, the monitoring for nitrate and pesticides transport and chemical status of groundwater is divers for the pilot areas (Table 12.3). For GeoERA HOVER, it is important to find a common language once addressing transit times and time lags, and to find common ways to present our data, acknowledging that the monitoring design and concepts differ between countries in Europe.

Interestingly, the vertical transport velocities, that are assessed in the deep unsaturated zones of France and UK, averaging 1 m yr⁻¹ for many settings, do not really differ from vertical saturated zone velocities in the upper parts of unconsolidated aquifers in Denmark and Netherlands, as can be derived from age-depth profiles, such as depicted in Figure 3.2. Dashed lines in Figure 3.2 represent age-depth relations based on a recharge rate of 250 and 350 m yr⁻¹ respectively, and porosities of 0.35, yielding average transport rates of approximately 1 m yr⁻¹ for the Dutch case as well (e.g. Broers 2004, Broers & van der Grift, 2004). As such, concentration-depth profiles in the saturated zones in Denmark and Netherlands resemble unsaturated zone concentration-depth profiles in France and UK (e.g. Broers & van der Grift 2004). Possibly, this is related by the fact that we are studying flux driven systems, for which the groundwater recharge rate is a key parameter, together with the effective porosity of the rocks. Once the ratio between recharge rate N and porosity ε is similar and the aquifer has considerable thickness, comparable vertical velocities may be anticipated for the systems studied. The observed correspondence may possibly be used to find overarching approaches to describe vertical transport in and towards groundwater in the next deliverables of HOVER.





12.3 Definitions and characterization of attenuation and denitrification

The diverse monitoring set-ups also reflect in the procedures to characterization of attenuating processes such as denitrification. In the Dutch and Danish, and probably Latvian and Slovenian, setups, the depth of complete denitrification is accessible because depth profiles of nitrate concentrations and transformation products, such as N_2 , Fe and SO_4 , can be obtained (e.g. Fig 3.4) and/or a redox classification tree can be applied (Figures 5.10-5.14). Once the age - depth patterns is known, the transformation processes can be distinguished clearly from the advective flow component. If water without nitrate is encountered in water that is in the age range where nitrate leaching was known to occur from historical records, and estimates of leaching are available, even a quantification of lost nitrate through denitrification is possible. Moreover, adding evidence from measuring profiles of nitrate and reaction products and complementary age dating allows also to estimate the depth range of ongoing denitrification.

For monitoring networks that partly exist of pumped wells or long-screened wells this is obviously not a feasible approach. Instead, characterization of redox using classification trees and semi-quantitative scoring methodologies are used in France and UK to evaluate the wells and wells of aquifers that are probably affected by denitrification. Assessments of N- and O-isotopes (¹⁵N/¹⁴N and ¹⁸O/¹⁶O) also gave indications for denitrification in Cyprus. Denitrification in these countries is concentrated in specific hydrogeological situations and lithologies. The classification tree approach, preferable incorporating gas measurements when feasible, is applicable in all types of monitoring systems and might be an applicable tool for common work in HOVER for mapping at a European scale. Table 12.4 gives an overview of the approaches followed to characterize denitrification in the HOVER pilot areas.

Type of monitoring	Redox classification	Application of (N2, CH4,	Depth of complete	Depth range of ongoing	Linking time lags and
		H2S) or N-	denitrification	denitrification	denitrification
		isotopes			
Unsaturated zone					
Unsaturated zone profiling	UK	UK			UK, F
Saturated zone					
Multi-level wells and short observation	NL, DK	NL	NL, DK	NL, DK	NL, DK
screens					
Long screened observation wells,	UK, F, SL	F, CR	F		
Long screened pumped wells	UK, F, DK	F, CY	F		
Monitoring of groundwater outflow at					
receptor, such as springs of streams					

Table 12.4 Characterization of attenuation and denitrification

Alternatively, an approach that considers aquifer reactivity could help identifying zones of enhanced denitrification. Nice examples that describes the relation between groundwater travel times, nitrate lag times and denitrification are Kolbe et al. (2018) and Zhang et al. (2013). The studies use conceptual and modelling approaches to assess the lag times in relation to denitrification depths in weathered crystalline aquifers and pyrite containing sediments, respectively, using a convolution and/or travel time distribution modelling approach as described in section 12.2. The random forest machine learning approach that was applied for the Danish National map of the depth of the uppermost redox interface (Figure 5.9) is a nice, advanced example of such an approach at the national scale. The general finding of these studies is that the depth of the reaction zone is controlling the concentrations of nitrate in the mixed discharge at the stream, with deeper reaction zones leading to higher nitrate concentrations and lower overall denitrification. Whether is it feasible to identify the depth of reactive layers as a





proxy for characterization denitrification depth or denitrification potential at a regional or national scale will be further assessed under D5.4 of HOVER.

12.4 Outlook

The idea is to use the age and chemical concentrations measured in the monitoring networks to come up with indicators about transformation processes and depths that can be mapped for the pilot areas of HOVER. This includes incorporating the approach of the UK unsaturated zone mapping at a European scale in the EGDI. Additionally, for the pilot areas, we now propose a number of indicators that are relatively simple to obtain at a supra-regional scale and which summarize important aspects for nitrate and pesticides transport. Mapping would typically involve plotting of monitoring locations with symbols denoting classes of the indicators that we could commonly define. The dataset that we foresee to be compiled under the further work in HOVER could contain the following processed info for each monitoring well:

- Approximate GPS coordinates
- Age-depth gradient (years per meter depth) with an indication whether this is about unsaturated zone or saturated zone flow
- Applying a classification tree based on redox-sensitive indicators for monitoring points, e.g. based on oxygen, nitrate, ammonium, iron, manganese and sulfate, differentiating between the different types and depths of observation wells. This may lead to a number of possible outcomes, such as
 - The depth range with high probability of no denitrification below the soil zone
 - The depth range of ongoing denitrification (m surface level. E.g. based on analysis as under Figures 5.10-5.14 and Fig. 3.4
 - The depth at which complete denitrification certainly is reached (m -surface level). This could be:
 - The depth at no nitrate is found, but the redox status or the measurement of reaction products (gases, N₂, iron, sulphate etc.) indicates complete denitrification
 - The depth at which the estimated age indicates young water, but no nitrate is observed
 - The depth of a known layer with high reactivity (weathered zone in crystalline rocks, pyrite containing layers, organic matter rich deposits)

The further mapping of these locations will be reported on in D5.4. During the next WP5 workshop in Madrid (scheduled for March 2020) the consortium will evaluate a number of possible scenario's for setting up a harmonized approach, that could incorporate the ideas mentioned above.

For the pilot studies were pesticides are studied, the work under D5.4 may include a combined analysis of redox conditions and groundwater age data, in order to find out if certain pesticides show clear signs of transformation processes in the subsurface (e.g. Kivits et al., 2018). For the Dutch data, it is foreseen to test an approach of jitter-jitter plots describing how both redox status and groundwater age are related, thus giving a framework for evaluating pesticides concentrations within that framework. Ultimately, this would yield information about the depth at which transformation of a pesticide is taking place in groundwater, and under which redox conditions this transformation may be completed.

In general, the feasibility of different approaches to come to such harmonized indicators will be tested in the pilot areas and be reported in deliverables D5.3 and D5.4. The current deliverable forms an intermediate step, conceptualizing the ideas and visualisation, towards such an approach and eventual map.





12.5 References

- Baran N., Richert J., Mouvet C. (2007). Field data and modelling of water and nitrate movement through deep unsaturated loess. Journal of Hydrology, 2007, 345, pp. 27-47.
- Böhlke J-K (2002) Groundwater recharge and agricultural contamination. Hydrogeol J 10:153–179.
- Böhlke JK, Wanty R, Tuttle M, Delin G, Landon M (2002) Denitrification in the recharge area and discharge area of a transient agricultural nitrate plume in a glacial outwash sand aquifer, Minnesota. Water Resour Res 38:10-1–10-26.
- Broers, H.P. & B. van der Grift (2004) Regional monitoring of temporal changes in groundwater quality. Journal of Hydrology 296:192-220
- Broers, H.P. (2004) The spatial distribution of groundwater age for different geohydrological situations in The Netherlands: implications for groundwater quality monitoring at the regional scale. Journal of Hydrology 299: 84-
- Broers, H.P. & F.C. van Geer (2005) Evaluating monitoring strategies at phreatic well fields. Groundwater 43 (6) p. 850-862.
- Eberts, S. M., Böhlke, J. K., Kauffman, L. J., & Jurgens, B. C. (2012). Comparison of particle-tracking and lumped-parameter age-distribution models for evaluating vulnerability of production wells to contamination. Hydrogeology Journal, 20(2), 263-282.
- Hansen, B., Thorling, L., Dalgaard, T., & Erlandsen, M. (2010). Trend reversal of nitrate in Danish groundwater-A reflection of agricultural practices and nitrogen surpluses since 1950. Environmental science & technology, 45(1), 228-234.
- Jurgens BC, Böhlke JK, KauffmanLJ, Belitz K, Esser BK (2016) A partial exponential lumped parameter model to evaluate groundwater age distributions and nitrate trends in long-screened wells. J Hydrol (Amst) 543:109–126.
- Kaandorp V.P., Hans Peter Broers, and Perry G. B. de Louw (2020). Aged streams: Time lags of nitrate, chloride and tritium assessed by Dynamic Groundwater Flow Tracking. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. Discuss., https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-2019-552, 2019 (in review)
- Kaandorp, V.P., de Louw, P.G.B., van der Velde, Y., Broers, H.P. (2019). Transient Groundwater Travel Time Distributions and Age-Ranked Storage-Discharge Relationships of Three Lowland Catchments. Water Resources Research, 54 (7), pp. 4519-
- Kivits, T., Broers, H.P., Beeltje, H., van Vliet, M., Griffioen, J. (2018) Presence and fate of veterinary antibiotics in age-dated groundwater in areas with intensive livestock farming. Environmental Pollution, 241: 988-998.
- Kolbe, T., De Dreuzy, J. R., Abbott, B. W., Aquilina, L., Babey, T., Green, C. T., ... & Peiffer, S. (2019). Stratification of reactivity determines nitrate removal in groundwater. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 116(7), 2494-2499.
- Leray, S., De Dreuzy, J. R., Bour, O., Labasque, T., & Aquilina, L. (2012). Contribution of age data to the characterization of complex aquifers. Journal of Hydrology, 464, 54-68.
- Małoszewski P, Zuber A (1982) Determining the turnover time of groundwater systems with the aid of environmental tracers. J Hydrol (Amst) 57:207–231.
- McMahon PB, et al. (2008) Source and transport controls on the movement of nitrate to public supply wells in selected principal aquifers of the United States. Water Resour Res 44:1–17.
- Suckow, A., 2014. The age of groundwater-definitions, models, and why we do not need this term. Appl. Geochem. 50: 222–230.
- Troldborg, L., Jensen, K. H., Engesgaard, P., Refsgaard, J. C., & Hinsby, K. (2008). Using environmental tracers in modeling flow in a complex shallow aquifer system. Journal of Hydrologic Engineering, 13(11), 1037-1048.





- Velde Y. van der, G.H. de Rooij, J.C. Rozemeijer, F.C. van Geer and H.P. Broers (2010) Nitrate response of a lowland catchment: on the relation between stream concentration and travel time distribution dynamics. Water Resources Research (46)11: W11534
- Visser A., H.P. Broers, R. Purtschert, J. Sültenfuss and M.de Jonge (2013). Groundwater travel time distributions at a public drinking water supply well field derived from multiple age tracers (85Kr, 3H, noble gases and 39Ar). Water Resources Research 49(11):7778-7796
- Visser, A. H.P. Broers, R. Heerdink and M.F.P. Bierkens (2009) Trends in pollutant concentrations in relation to time of recharge and reactive transport at the groundwater body scale. Journal of Hydrology, 369:427-439.
- Visser, A., H.P. Broers, & M.F.P. Bierkens (2007) Demonstrating trend reversal in groundwater quality in relation to time of recharge determined by 3H/3He dating. Environmental Pollution 148(3): 797-807Massoudieh, A., Visser A., Sharifi S. and H.P. Broers (2014) A Bayesian modeling approach for estimation of a shape-free groundwater age distribution using multiple tracers. Accepted for publication Applied Geochemistry 50:252-264.
- Weissmann, G. S., Zhang, Y., LaBolle, E. M., & Fogg, G. E. (2002). Dispersion of groundwater age in an alluvial aquifer system. Water resources research, 38(10), 16-1.
- Zhang, Y.C., Prommer, H., Slomp, C.P., H.P. Broers, B. van der Grift, Passier, H.F., Greskowiak J., Boettcher M.E. and van Cappellen, Ph. (2013). Model based analysis of the biogeochemical and isotope dynamics in a nitrate-polluted pyritic aquifer. Environmental Science and Technology 47:10415-10422.
- Zhang Y, et al. (2012) Isotopic and microbiological signatures of pyrite-driven denitrification in a sandy aquifer. Chem Geol 301:123–132.
- Zhang Y, Slomp CP, Broers HP, Passier HF, Van Cappellen P (2009) Denitrification coupled to pyrite oxidation and changes in groundwater quality in a shallow sandy aquifer. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 73:6716–6726.